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Cautionary Statement

This Financial Annual Report contains statements relating to future results of the Corporation that are considered “forward-
looking statements.” These statements, which may be expressed in a variety of ways, including the use of future or present tense
language, relate 1o, among other things: plans for joint ventures; reduction of positions and related expense savings; expected
revenue enhancements and expense savings related to the Corporation's LEAP program (Lifting Earnings and Performance); the
impact on investment management fees of changes in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index; the potential impact on revenue of the
Corporation’s stated intention to reduce credit availability to the corporate and institutional marketplace; potential future venture
capital losses and possible changes in the value of the portfolio; expected increases in health care and other benefits expense and
insurance expense; lower assumptions for the expected return on pension plan assets and the discount rate on plan liabilities and
rate of compensation increase and sensitivities to changes in those rates; levels of and expected significant reductions in pension
credits; the impact of expensing stock options and intentions as to future grants; usage of accrued expenses; effective tax rates;
intentions as to capital ratios of the Corporation and its banking subsidiaries and maintaining a minimum rangible shareholders’
equity to assets ratio; levels of common stock repurchases, uses of internal capital generation; the Corporation’s liquidity
management objective and results of liquidity simulations, maturities of debt and derivative instruments; simulation of changes in
interest rates; reclassification of items to interest expense; the value-at-risk for trading activities; credit exposure reserve
appropriateness; the effects of recent accounting changes; possible consolidation of Three Rivers Funding Corp, amounts of
contingent consideration payable for acquisitions; expected amortization expense; values of retained interests in securitizations
and expected losses on securitized loans; 401(k) Plan contribution rates; and litigation results. These forward-looking statements,
and other forward-looking statements contained in other public disclosures of the Corporation which make reference to the
cautionary factors contained in this Report, are based on assumptions that involve risks and uncertainties and that are subject to
change based on various important factors (some of which are beyond the Corporation’s control). Actual results may differ
materially from those expressed or implied as a result of these risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the ability to
achieve, and the value of, the revenue enhancements and expense savings anticipated by management; levels of tax free income;
changes in political and economic conditions; competitive product and pricing pressures within the Corporation’s markets; equity
and fixed-income market fluctuations; the effects of the adoption of new accounting standards; personal and corporate customers’
bankruprcies; inflation; acquisitions and integrations of acquired businesses; technological change; changes in law; changes in
fiscal, monetary, regulatory, trade and tax policies and laws; monetary fluctuations; success in gaining regulatory approvals when
required; success in the timely development of new products and services; interest rate fluctuations; consumer spending and saving
habits; the uncertainties inherent in the litigation process; the effects of recent and any further terrorist acts and the results of the
war on terrorism,; as well as other risks and uncertainties detailed elsewhere in this Financial Annual Report. Such forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are made, and the Corporation undertakes no obligation to
update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.




Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY (dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts or unless otherwise nored)

2002 2001 {a) 2000 {a) 1999 {a) 1998 (a)
Year ended Dec. 31
Total fee and other revenue $ 3,622 § 2,747 $ 2902 $ 2864 $ 2,716
Net gain from divestitures - - - 127 -
Gains on sales of sccuritics 59 - - - )|
Net interest revenue 610 574 550 579 642
Provision for credit losses 172 (4 8 20 51
Total operating expense 3,126 2,650 2,261 2,377 2,363
Provision for income taxes 326 239 427 431 335
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change $ 667 $ 436 $ 756 $ 742 $ 610
Cumulative effect of accounting change - - - (26) -
Income from continuing operations $ 667 3 436 $ 756 $ 716 $ 610
Income from discontinued operations (net of tax) 15 882 251 247 260
Net income $ 682 $ 1,318 $ 1,007 $ 963 $ 870
Per common share - difuted:
Continuing operations $ 152 $ 91 $ 152 $ 137 $  LI3 (b)
Discontinued operations .03 1.85 St 48 .49
Net income $ 155 $ 276 $ 203 $ (.85 $  1.62 (b)
Selected key data - continuing operations
Return on common shareholders’ equity (¢) 19.9% 11.7% 19.4% 16.6% 14.4%
Return on assets (¢) 2.00% 1.33% 2.49% 2.22% 1.95%
Fee revenue as a percentage of fee and net interest revenue (FTE) (d) 85% 83% 84% 83% 81%
Trust and investment fee revenue as a percentage
of fee and net interest revenue (FTE) (d) 70% 76% 65% 59% 52%
Efficiency ratio (e) 73% 79% 65% 68% 70%
Assets under management at year end (in billions) $ 581 $ 592 3 530 3 488 $ 425
Assets under administration or custody at year end (in billions) $ 2276 $ 2082 $ 2267 $ 2,198 $ 1,903
S&P 500 Index at period end 880 7,148 1,320 1,469 1,229
Dividends paid per common share (f} $ 49 3 .82 $ .86 $ 78 $ 705
Dividends paid on common stock $ 2i3 $ 388 $ 421 $ 403 $ 365
Closing common stock price per share at year end $ 2611 $ 37.62 5 49.19 $ 34.06 $ 3438
Market capitalization at vear end $ 11,248 $ 16,798 $ 23,941 $ 17,052 $ 18,007

Average common shares and equivalents
outstanding - diluted (in thousands) 439,189 477,712 496,825 521,986 530414

Capital ratics at year end
Common shareholders’ equity to assets:

Reported 9.37% 9.79% 8.24% 8.38% 8.90%

Tangible (g) 4.87 5.84 6.25 6.18 6.64
Tier I capital (k) 7.87 8.81 7.23 6.60 6.53
Total (Tier I plus Tier II) capital (4} 12.48 13.65 11.74 10.76 10.80
Leverage capital (/1) 6.55 6.31 7.11 6.72 6.73
Average balances
Loans $ 9,445 $ 9,843 $ 10,693 $ 13,672 $ 15,191
Interest-earning assets 22,931 23,529 21,741 23,400 22,581
Total assets 33,695 45,475 46,744 49,184 48,071
Deposits 19,010 17,560 {6,469 16,778 16,677
Notes and debentures 4,238 3,751 3,478 3,424 2,992
Trust-preferred securities 987 974 991 991 991
Common shareholders’ equity 3,356 3,735 3,904 4,309 4,165
Total shareholders’ equity 3,356 3,735 3,904 4,309 4,190

(a) InJanuary 2002, the Corporation began 1o record customer expense reimbursements as revenue in accordance with a FASB staff
announcement. The Corporation had historically reported expense reimbursements as a reduction of expenses. Also, in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, the Corporation began to disclose gross assets and liabilities of discontinued operations instead of the net amount
previously reported. Prior period amounits have been reclassified.

(b)  Calculated after deducting preferred stock dividends of $9 million in 1998.

(¢} Return on common shareholders’ equity on a net income basis for the vears 2002 - 1998 was 20.3%, 35.3%, 25.8%, 22.4%, and 20.7%
respectively. Return on assets on a net income basis for the years 2002 - 1998 way 2.03%, 2.90%, 2.15%, 1.96% and 1.81%, respectively.
Ratios for prior periods include the amortization of goodwill.

(d) See page 6 for the definition of fee revenue.

(e} See page 16 for the definition of this ratio.

(f)  See page 3 for a discussion of the fourth quarter 2002 dividend increase.

(g) See page 35 for the definition of thiy ratio.

(h)  Includes discontinued operations.

Note: Throughout this report, all calculations are based on unrounded numbers. FTE denotes presentation on a fully taxable

equivalent basis.




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL EVENTS

Discontinued operations

As a result of the dispositions of all lines of business serving the retail consumer and small business/middle
market classes of customers, discussed further in Note 4 of the Notes to Financial Statements (Notes), the
Corporation is reporting its financial results using the discontinued operations method of accounting. In
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), earnings, assets and liabilities of the
discontinued businesses are shown separately in the income statement and balance sheet, respectively, for all
periods presented, where applicable. Following the dispositions, the Corporation’s remaining lines of business
serve two defined major classes of customers - high net worth individuals/families and large institutional
customers.

The Corporation completed the conversion of customer deposit accounts and loans to Citizens Financial Group,
Inc. (Citizens) during the third quarter of 2002. The Corporation had been administering these accounts under a
transitional service agreement until Citizens was able to convert these accounts to its systems. This was the final
step of a transition process that began following the completion of the sale in December 2001. As a result, at
Dec. 31, 2002, there were no remaining assets or liabilities in discontinued operations. All information in this
Financial Annual Report, including all supplemental information, reflects continuing operations unless otherwise
noted.

Common dividend increase

In October 2002, the Corporation increased its quarterly cash dividend on the Corporation’s common stock by
8% 10 $.13 per common share.

Repurchase of common stock

The Corporation repurchased 20.4 million common shares during 2002 at an average price of $34.27 per share.
At Dec. 31, 2002, an additional 2.0 million shares were available for repurchase under a 25 million share
repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in November 2001. In October 2002, the Board of
Directors authorized an additional repurchase program of up to 25 million shares of common stock. At Dec. 31,
2002, the Corporation’s common shares and equivalents totaled 432.9 million shares. See the “Capital” section
beginning on page 35 for a discussion of the Corporation’s capital management practices.

Acquisition of Unifi Network, a subsidiary of PricewaterhouseCoopers

In January 2002, the Corporation acquired the Unifi Network, a subsidiary of PricewaterhouseCoopers,
significantly increasing the capabilities of the Corporation’s human resource outsourcing and consulting
businesses. Unifi’s human resource outsourcing business, comprised of about 2,100 employees, is part of Mellon
HR Solutions, and its approximate 400-member human resource consulting business is part of Buck Consultants.
Unifi, which generated $351 million in revenue for its fiscal year ended June 2001, was acquired in an all-cash
transaction totaling approximately $285 million. Goodwill totaling $165 million was recorded in conjunction
with this acquisition. Based in Fort Lee, N.J., Unifi also maintains offices in the New York Metropolitan area, as
well as in Atlanta; Boston; Chicago; Cary, N.C.; Dallas; Los Angeles; Minneapolis; San Francisco; and
Westport, Conn. The results for Unifi are included in the Human Resources Services sector.



SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL EVENTS (continued)

Acquisition of HBV Capital Management

In July 2002, the Corporation acquired HBV Capital Management LLC, a New York- and London-based
investment management company specializing in single-manager hedge funds. This acquisition added
approximately $530 million to the Corporation’s assets under management. The transaction was an all cash deal,
with initial consideration due at closing and further consideration contingent on HBV’s future performance.
Upon closing, HBV was renamed Mellon HBV Alternative Strategies and operates as a Mellon Institutional
Asset Management firm.

Acquisition of Henderson Global Investors’ private clients and charities asset management business

In August 2002, the Corporation acquired Henderson Global Investors’ private client and charities asset
management business, which is branded Henderson Private Asset Management (HPAM). This acquisition added
approximately $1.4 billion to the Corporation’s assets under management on behalf of high net worth individuals,
private trusts and charities. The staff of HPAM transferred to Newton Investment Management Limited, the
primary UK asset management subsidiary of the Corporation. Terms of the agreement were not disclosed.
HPAM operates as part of the Corporation’s Institutional Asset Management sector.

Formation of joint venture with ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

On Dec. 31, 2002. the Corporation finalized an agreement with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. creating a 50/50 joint
venture that formalized their marketing strategic alliance for global custody services that has been in existence
since November 1998. The Corporation and ABN AMRO created a new, separately capitalized financial services
company which will provide global custody and related services to clients worldwide, excluding North America,
Japan and Australia. Domiciled in The Netherlands with a branch in London, the new company will employ
approximately 300 people in The Netherlands and the United Kingdom and was named ABN AMRO Melion
Global Securities Services B.V. The joint venture will utilize the Corporation as its global custodian. The results
of the joint venture operations will be recorded as part of the Corporation’s Asset Servicing sector using the
equity method of accounting. A portion of the Corporation’s global custody operations will now be part of this
joint venture. The impact on the Corporation’s revenue and expense, based on the fourth quarter 2002
annualized amounts, would be to reduce both reported revenne and expense by approximately $48 million each.
Under the equity method of accounting, the Corporation’s share of net results of the venture will be reported as
trust and investment revenue. Mellon contributed €55 million, or $56 million of capital, to the joint venture.

In conjunction with entering into the joint venture, Mellon Bank, N.A. issued a “403 statement”. A

403 statement is a statutory guarantee under Dutch law providing that each parent company declares itself to be
jointly and severally liable for the contractual obligations of the joint venture. Mellon Bank, N.A. and

ABN AMRO have both issued a 403 statement; therefore they will each be jointly and severally liable together
with the joint venture for contractual debt or damage claims against ABN AMRO Mellon Global Securities
Services B.V.

Pending formation of joint venture with Shinsei Bank, Limited

In August 2002, the Corporation announced an agreement with Shinsei Bank, Limited to form a 50/50 joint
venture investment advisory and trust company, subject to regulatory approval. The joint venture will focus on
offering global and international asset management for Japanese pension funds. The joint venture will be located
in Tokyo and is expected to begin operations in the second quarter of 2003. The results of the joint venture will
be recorded as part of the Corporation’s Institutional Asset Management sector using the equity method of
accounting.



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary of financial results

2002 compared with 2001

Consolidated net income for 2002 totaled $682 million, or $1.55 per share, including income from discontinued
operations of $15 million, or $.03 per share, compared with $1.318 billion, or $2.76 per share, in 2001, which
included income from discontinued operations of $882 million or $1.85 per share.

Income from continuing operations totaled $667 million, or $1.52 per share, in 2002, compared with

$436 million, or $.91 per share in 2001. Continuing operations return on equity totaled 19.9% for 2002
compared with 11.7% for 2001. Core business sectors, as defined on page 20, had net income for 2002 of
$729 million compared with $727 million in 2001. All results presented for 2001 include the amortization of
goodwill. See Note 3 for comparative results excluding the amortization of goodwill in 2001.

Results for 2002 reflect continued weakness in the equity markets and the economy, which hindered the
Corporation’s ability to generate revenue growth. Equity market levels at Dec. 31, 2002, as measured by the
Standard and Poor’s 500 Index, were 23.4% lower than at Dec. 31, 2001. In addition, in the second quarter of
2002, a $160 million provision for credit losses was recorded, in large part, for credit exposure related to
customers that have been associated with allegations of accounting irregularities. Due to the continued weakness
in the economy, the Corporation identified additional cost savings opportunities that will result in a reduction of
approximately 650 positions and, in 2003, savings of approximately $30 million. Severance expense of

$18 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002. This compares to a $30 million charge for severance
expense recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001 associated primarily with Project LEAP (Lifting Earnings and
Performance). The Corporation began implementation of its LEAP program in the third quarter of 2001, and it is
expected to be fully implemented by the second quarter of 2003. The program is expected to result in

$300 million pre-tax of revenue enhancements and expense savings.

2001 compared with 2000

Consolidated net income totaled $1.318 billion, or $2.76 per share, in 2001, which included income from
discontinued operations of $882 million, or $1.85 per share, compared with $1.007 billion, or $2.03 per share, in
2000 which included income from discontinued operations of $251 million, or $.51 per share.

Income from continuing operations for 2001 totaled $436 million, or $.91 per share, compared with $756 million,
or $1.52 per share in 2000. Continuing operations return on equity was 11.7% in 2001 compared with 19.4% for
2000. All results presented for 2001 and 2000 include the amortization of goodwill. See Note 3 for comparative
results excluding the amortization of goodwill.

Results for 2001, which were impacted by weakness in the equity markets and the economy, included losses of
$385 million for fair value adjustments of the venture capital investment portfolio and a $57 million loss on the
disposition of loans, in addition to the $30 million severance expense discussed previously.

Discontinued operations - 2002, 2001 and 2000

See Note 4 for information on discontinued operations.




Critical accounting policies

Note I includes a summary of the Corporation’s significant accounting policies. Certain of these policies are
considered to be critical to the presentation of the Corporation’s financial condition, since they require
management to make numerous complex and subjective estimates and assumptions relating to amounts which are
inherently uncertain. These policies, which were discussed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors,
include accounting policies related to establishing the reserve for credit exposure, accounting for and valuing

venture capital investments and accounting for pensions. For a discussion of the Corporation’s accounting
policies relating to accounting for and valuing venture capital investments, see pages 33 and 34. For a discussion
of the Corporation’s accounting policies relating to the reserve for credit exposure, see pages 54 and 55. For a
discussion of the net periodic benefit credit for pensions and its sensitivity to changes in assumptions, see

page 17. For a discussion of the Corporation’s accounting policies relating to pensions, see pages 99 and 100.

Noninterest revenue

(dollar amounts in millions, unless otherwise noted) 2002 2001 (a) 2000 (a)
Trust and investment fee revenue:
Investment management $1,414 $1,375 $1.298
Human resources services (b) 1,820 691 436
Institutional trust and custody 479 392 442
Securities lending revenue 75 97 85
Total trust and investment fee revenue 2,988 2,555 2,261
Cash management revenue 285 239 202
Foreign exchange revenue 146 171 162
Securities trading revenue 37 23 16
Financing-related revenue 147 97 150
Equity investment revenue (28) (380) 78
Other 47 42 33
Total fee and other revenue $3,622 $2.,747 $2.902
Gains on the sales of securities 59 - -
Total noninterest revenue $3,681 $2.,747 $2.902
Fee revenue as a percentage of fee and net interest revenue (FTE) 85% 83% 84%
Trust and investment fee revenue as a percentage of fee and net
interest revenue (FTE) T0% 76% 65%
Market value of assets under management at year end (in billions) $ 581 $ 5»2 $ 530
Market value of assets under administration or custody at year
end (in billions) $2,276 $2.082 $2.267
S&P 500 Index at year end 880 1,148 1,320

(a) In January 2002, the Corporation began to record customer expense reimbursements as revenue in accordance with a
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) staff announcement. The Corporation had historically reported expense
reimbursements as a reduction of expenses. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.

{b) Amounts do not necessarily agree with those presented in Business Sectors on pages 19 and 28, which include revenue
transferred between sectors under revenue transfer agreements. Additionally, sector amounts are reported on a fully
taxable equivalent basis.

Note: For analytical purposes, the term “fee revenue,” as utilized throughout this Financial Annual Report, is defined as

total noninterest revenue less gains on the sales of securities.




Noninterest revenue (continued)

Fee revenue

Reflecting the predominantly fee based nature of the Corporation’s lines of businesses, fee revenue totaled 85%
of fee and net interest revenue. on a fully taxable equivalent basis, in 2002, compared with 83% in 2001. The
major component of fee revenue, trust and investment fee revenue, totaled 70% of fee and net interest revenue,
on a fully taxable equivalent basis, in 2002, compared with 76% in 2001. The 2001 percentages were impacted
by the $385 million loss on venture capital investments and the $57 million loss on the disposition of loans,
discussed further in the “equity investment revenue”™ and the “financing-related revenue” fee categories on
pages 10 through 12.

Fee revenue increased to $3.622 billion in 2002 from $2.747 billion in 2001 due to acquisitions, lower equity
investment losses and higher financing-related, cash management and securities trading revenue, partially offset
by lower foreign exchange revenue. Acquisitions impacting the year over year increase included the July 2001
acquisition of Standish Mellon Asset Management, the November 2001 acquisition of Eagle Investment Systems
and the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network. Fee revenue in 2001 was impacted by the loss on venture
capital investments and by the loss on disposition of loans, both noted above. Trust and investment fee revenue
increased to $2.988 billion from $2.555 billion primarily due to the acquisitions noted above. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions, trust and investment fee revenue decreased approximately 2% as discussed further in the
applicable fee categories below.

Investment management fee revenue

As shown in the following table, investment management fee revenue of $1.414 million increased $39 million, or
3%, in 2002 compared with 2001 due to the impact of acquisitions including the full-year impact of the Standish
acquisition. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, investment management fee revenue decreased approximately
1% in 2002 compared with 2001, due to a lower level of institutional and private client assets under management
which offset the impact of a higher level of proprietary mutual funds, as shown in the table on page 8. Declining
equity markets were the principal factor as the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index decreased 23.4% compared to

Dec. 31, 2001, while a key bond market benchmark, the Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index, increased
10.3%. The Corporation estimates that a sustained (one year) 100 point change in the Standard & Poor's 500
Index, when applied to the Corporation’s mix of assets under management, would result in a change of
approximately $45 million to $60 million in investment management fees.

The largest category of investment management fees are fees from managed mutual funds, which are based upon
the daily average net assets of each fund. As shown in the following table, managed mutual fund fees increased
$34 million in 2002 compared with 2001 as a higher level of average proprietary money market mutual fund
assets generated sufficiently higher fees to more than offset the decline in fees from equity mutual funds. The
average net assets of proprietary mutual funds managed in 2002 were $197 billion, up $31 billion, or 18% from
$166 billion in 2001 resulting from a $37 billion increase in average proprietary money market fund assets.
Proprietary equity funds averaged $41 billion in 2002, a decrease of $8 biltion, or 15%, compared with

$49 billion in 2001. In 2002, total proprietary managed mutual funds generated 36 basis points on total average
proprietary managed mutual funds, compared with 41 basis points in 2001, reflecting the shift in the mix from
equities to money market funds in 2002. For 2002 and 2001, the Corporation generated 61 and 60 basis points on
average equity mutual funds; 24 and 27 basis points on average proprietary money market funds; and 35 and

54 basis points on average proprietary bond and fixed income funds, respectively.




Noninterest revenue {(continued)

Investment management fee revenue
(in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Managed mutual funds (a):
Equity funds $ 252 $ 292 $ 331
Money market funds 310 249 179
Bond and fixed-income funds 143 134 121
Nonproprietary 39 35 37
Total managed mutual funds 744 710 0668
Institutional 353 353 318
Private clients 317 312 312
Total investment management fee revenue $1,414 $1,375 $1,298
(a) Ner of mutual fund fees waived and fund expense reimbursements of $40 million, 327 million and $33 million for
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Institutional investment management fees of $353 million in 2002 were unchanged from 2001 as acquisitions,
primarily the full-year impact of Standish, offset the impact of market depreciation. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, institutional fees decreased 10% as market depreciation in assets under management more than
offset net inflows.

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, private client fees were essentially flat as the revenue impact of net inflows
from new business was offset by market depreciation.

The following tables show the composition of assets under management for each period as well as the factors
impacting the changes in 2002 from 2001. As of Dec. 31, 2002, the market value of assets under management
was $581 billion, an $11 billion, or 2%, decrease from $592 billion at Dec. 31, 2001. The $581 billion of assets
managed were comprised as follows: 31% equities; 21% fixed income; 33% money market; 8% overlay and
global fixed-income products; and 7% securities lending cash collateral. The decrease in 2002 compared with
2001 was primarily due to the declining equity markets, as net money market inflows of $16 billion and long-
term inflows of $8 billion, were offset by market depreciation of $39 biilion.

Market value of assets under management at year end

(in billions) 2002 2001 2000
Mutual funds managed:
Equity funds $ 36 $ 47 $ 54
Money market funds 1286 11t 68
Bond and fixed-income funds 27 26 21
Nonproprietary 18 (a) 24 3]
Total mutual funds managed 207 208 174
Institutional (b) 326 (a) 334 302
Private clients 48 50 54
Total market value of assets under management $581 $ 592 $ 530
S&P 500 Index at year end 880 1,148 1,320

(a) At Dec. 31, 2002, the combined market values of $18 billion of nonproprietary mutual funds and $326 billion of
institutional assets managed, by asset type, were as follows: $90 billion equities, 324 billion balanced, $76 billion fixed
income, $105 billion money market (which includes securities lending assets of $46 billion), and $49 billion in overlay
and global fixed-income products for a total of $344 billion.

(b) Includes assets managed at Pareto Partners of $32 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, $33 billion at Dec. 31, 2001, and
8329 bitllion at Dec. 31, 2000. The Corporation has a 30% equity interest in Pareto Partners, which is accounted for
under the equity method of accounting.




Noninterest revenue (continued)

Changes in market value of assets under management for 2002 - by Business Sector

Institutional Private
Asset Mutual " Wealth Asset

(in billions) Management Funds Management Servicing (a) Total
Market value of assets under

management at Dec. 31, 2001 $332 $174 $45 $41 $592

Net inflows:

Long-term 5 2 1 - 8

Money market 1 _ 15 - - _ 16

Total net inflows 6 17 1 - 24

Net market depreciation (22) (10 (0) - (39)

Acquisitions 1 2 - 4

Market value of assets under
management at Dec. 31,2002 $317 $181 $42 41 3581

fa) Represents securities lending assets. Revenue earned on these assets is reported in Securities lending revenue on the
income statement. '

Institutional trust and custody

Institutional trust and custody fees are dependent on a number of factors including the level of assets
administered and under custody, the volume of transactions in the accounts, and the types and frequency of
ancillary services provided to the customers such as performance analytics. Institutional trust and custody fee
revenue of 3479 million in 2002, increased $87 million compared with 2001 due to acquisitions, including
the Eagle acquisition, and net new business. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, institutional trust and
custody fees increased 3% in 2002 compared with 2001 primarily due to the impact of net new business.
New customers conversions during 2002 totaled $148 billion. As shown in the following table, assets under
administration or custody totaled $2.3 trillion at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with $2.1 trillion at Dec. 31, 2001.
Excluding the impact of assets under administration at Unifi Network, the increase primarily resulted from net
new custody business, which more than offset the impact of market depreciation.

Market value of assets under administration or custody at year end

(in billions) 2002 2001 2000
Market value of assets under administration or custody (a)(b) $2,276 $2,082 $2,267
S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320

(a) Includes $322 billion of assets at Dec. 31, 2002; $289 billion of assets at Dec. 31,2001; and $323 billion of assets at
Dec. 31, 2000, administered by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services, a joint venture between the Corporation and
the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce. The marker rate at the close of business was $.6339, $.6278 and $.6669 ai
Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, for one Canadian dollar.

(b) Assets administered by the Corporation under ABN AMRO Mellon Global Securities Services B.V., a joint venture of the
Corporation and ABN AMRO, included in the table above, were 3221 billion at Dec. 31, 2002. Assets administered by
the Corporation under ABN AMRO Mellon, a previous strategic alliance of the Corporation and ABN AMRO, included
in the table above were $130 billion at Dec. 31, 2001, and $95 billion at Dec. 31, 2000. The market rate at the close of
business was $1.0462, $.8879 and $.9391 at Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, for €1.

Securities lending revenue

Securities lending revenue totaled $75 million in 2002 compared with $97 million in 2001 as the effect of
net new business in 2002 was offset by narrower margins due to fewer reductions in the federal funds rate in
2002. The average level of securities on loan totaled $57 billion in 2002 compared with $55 billion in 2001.




Noninterest revenue (continued)

Human resources services fee revenue

Human resources services fee revenue reflects revenue generated primarily by Buck Consultants, Mellon HR
Solutions and Mellon Investor Services and totaled $1.020 billion in 2002, an increase of $329 million, from
$691 million in 2001. The increase reflects the impact of the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, human resources services fee revenue declined approximately 4%.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, Buck Consultants and Mellon HR Solutions fee revenue declined
approximately 7% and 19%, respectively. The decline in Buck Consultants fee revenue reflected lower benefits
consulting revenue, due principally to a slowdown in discretionary spending by large corporate and institutional
customers in the second half of 2002. The decline in legacy Mellon HR Solutions fee revenue reflected lower
benefit plan administration fees as a result of lower volumes due to fewer clients and plan participants. Mellon
Investor Services fee revenue increased approximately 5% in 2002 due to increased volumes across a number of
product lines including the core transfer agent business.

Cash management revenue

Cash management fee revenue of $285 million increased $46 million, or 19%, compared with 2001. This
increase primarily resulted from higher volumes of electronic and corporate lockbox services and merchant card
activity. Fee revenue also increased due to the declining interest rate environment which resulted in lower
compensating balance earnings for those customers maintaining deposit balances in lieu of paying fees. Cash
management fee revenue does not include revenue from customers holding compensating balances on deposits in
lieu of paying cash fees. The earnings on these compensating deposit balances are recognized in net interest
revenue.

Foreign exchange revenue

Foreign exchange revenue totaled $146 million in 2002, a $25 million or 14% decrease compared with 2001.
This decrease was primarily due to lower levels of market volatility in major currencies and lower client
volumes.

Securities trading revenue

Securities trading revenue totaled $37 million in 2002, a $14 million, or 59%, increase compared with 2001
primarily due to higher volumes.

Financing-related revenue

Financing-related revenue, which primarily includes loan commitment fees; letters of credit and acceptance fees;
gains or losses on loan sales; and gains or losses on lease residuals totaled $147 million in 2002 compared with
$97 million in 2001. Revenue in 2001 included a $57 million loss on the disposition of large corporate loans
with relationships where there was littie or no fee-based revenue or which were identified as part of the
Corporation’s loan portfolio exits strategy. As also discussed in Net interest revenue on page 13, noninterest
revenue could potentially be negatively impacted in 2003 by the Corporation’s stated intention to reduce credit
availability to the corporate and institutional marketplace. In addition, noninterest revenue could potentially be
negatively impacted if customers transfer business to other providers. However, it is not possible to quantify the
impact at this time.

Equiry investment revenue
Equity investment revenue includes realized and unrealized gains and losses on venture capital and non-venture

capital investments. For a discussion of the Corporation’s accounting policies relating to venture capital
investments see pages 33 and 34. Revenue from non-venture capital investments includes equity income from
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Noninterest revenue (continued)

certain investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting and gains (losses) from other equity
investments. The following table shows the components of equity investment revenue for 2002 and 2001.

Equity investment revenue - gain (loss)

(in millions) 2002 2001
Venture capital activity - realized and unrealized gain (loss):
Private and publicly held direct investments $(55) $(309)
Third party indirect funds - (76)
Total venture capital activity (55) (385)
Equity income and gains on the sale of other equity investments 27 5
Total equity investment revenue $(28) $(380)

The $55 million loss in 2002 and $385 million loss in 2001 from venture capital activity reflects the effect of the
weak economic environment and deterioration in the equity markets. The majority of the Corporation’s venture
capital investments are in companies that sell products or services to other companies, and as such have been
significantly impacted by the slowdown in discretionary corporate spending, as well as from the general lack of
venture capital funding. While factors vary from investment to investment, the prevalent factors applicable to the
deterioration in the portfolio are revenues well below expectations, negative cash flows and, in many cases, cash
positions, which without additional financing may not be sufficient to sustain the companies to a cash break-even
position. Although the valuation adjustments result from a company by company review of the portfolio,
continued deterioration in the external environment was also a contributing factor. Bankruptcies have been high
relative to historical rates and industry-wide while investment volume in 2002 was near 2001 levels which were
down by approximately two-thirds compared to 2000.

The $55 million loss in 2002 primarily resulted from valuation adjustments of companies in the technology and
telecommunications sectors that the Corporation has risk rated in the “below expectations” and “declining”
categories (see page 33 for a description of categories), as well as from negative valuation adjustments to reflect
prices being realized in mergers and acquisitions of technology and telecommunications companies. In addition,
a significant valuation adjustment was recorded on a publicly held printing software company in the second
quarter of 2002. The $385 million loss in 2001 resulted from a $140 million loss in the second quarter, a

$28 million loss in the third quarter and a $222 million loss in the fourth quarter. The loss in the second quarter
of 2001 reflected the effects of a weakening economy and a general lack of venture capital funding. Losses were
recorded on six private direct investments that, as a result of declining revenues and weak cash positions, were
nearing bankruptcy. These companies were in the steel, chemical, information technology and temporary staffing
sectors. Additional negative valuations were recorded against investments in companies in the technology and
telecommunications sectors that were risk rated as “below expectations” and “declining.” The loss recorded in
the third quarter of 2001 resulted from the continued economic decline that was exacerbated by the events of
September 11. Valuation adjustments were recorded against investments in the technology and
telecommunications sectors that were risk rated as “below expectations” and “declining.” The fourth quarter
2001 loss resulted from valuation adjustments in both the direct and indirect portfolios, particularly in the
technology and telecommunications sectors. Revenues were well below expectations and the overall
repercussions of the events of September 11 on the U.S. economy, while uncertain at the end of the third quarter,
were clearly negative by year end 2001.

At Dec. 31, 2002, approximately 50% of the direct investment portfolio was risk rated as “superior” or “meets
expectations”, the two best risk ratings, compared with approximately 30% at Dec. 31, 2001. However,
continued weakness in the economy and further deterioration in the equity markets could result in additional
losses in the future. See the table on page 34 for the 2002 year-to-date and life-to-date activity of the
Corporation’s venture capital investments portfolio.
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Noninterest revenue (continued)

Equity income and gains/(losses) on the sale of other equity investments totaled $27 million in 2002 compared
with $5 million in 2001. The increase primarily resulted from higher gains on the sale of other equity
investments and an increase in equity income.

Other revenue

Other revenue totaled $47 million in 2002, compared with $42 million 2001. The increase was due in part to a
$23 million gain resulting from the resolution of indemnification issues and sales of remaining residential loans
related to the 1999 sale of the Corporation’s mortgage business, partially offset by several factors including lower

gains from asset sales.

Gains on sales of securities

The $59 million of gains on the sales of securities in 2002 resulted from the sale of $1.343 billion mortgage-
backed investment securities in the Corporation’s securities available for sale portfolio. Given the decline in
interest rates associated with the weak economy, these sales represent a repositioning of the Corporation’s
mortgage-backed securities portfolio to protect against accelerated prepayments associated with lower rates. At
Dec. 31, 2002, net unrealized gains remaining in the Corporation’s available for sale portfolio were $189 million,
up from $133 million at Dec. 31, 2001.

Gross joint venture fee revenue (supplemental information)

The Corporation accounts for its interests in joint ventures under the equity method of accounting, with its share
of the net results of $18 million, $17 million and $25 million, for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, recorded
primarily as trust and investment fee revenue. Gross joint venture fee revenue and expense are not included in
the Corporation’s reported fee revenue and operating expense. The following table presents the components of
gross joint venture fee revenue for informational purposes.

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Trust and investment gross joint venture fee revenue $287 $278 $490
Foreign exchange gross joint venture fee revenue 18 22 25

Total gross joint venture fee revenue (a) $305 $300 $515

(a) This table does not include any results of the joint venture with ABN AMRO, which was formed on Dec. 31, 2002 and
which will be accounted for under the equity method of accounting in 2003.

The decrease in trust and investment gross joint venture fee revenue in 2001 compared with 2000 resulted from
the December 2000 purchase of the remaining 50% of Mellon Investor Services, formerly a 50-50 joint venture
with The Chase Manhattan Corporation.

2001 compared with 2000

Fee revenue decreased to $2.747 billion in 2001 from $2.902 billion in 2000, primarily due to lower equity
investment revenue and the loss on sale of loans, partially offset by the impact of acquisitions and revenue
growth in most businesses. Acquisitions impacting the year-over-year comparison included the December 2000
acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in Mellon Investor Services and the July 2001 acquisition of Standish
Mellon Asset Management. Fee revenue in 2001 was impacted by the loss on venture capital investments and by
the loss on disposition of loans discussed previously. Fee revenue in 2000 included $37 million of revenue from
a Jong-term mutual fund administration contract which expired in May 2000. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions and the long-term mutual fund administration contract, trust and investment fee revenue was up




Noninterest revenue {continued)

approximately 2%. The equity markets at Dec. 31, 2001, as measured by the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index,
decreased [3% compared with Dec. 31, 2000, while a key bond market benchmark, the Lehman Brothers
Aggregate Bond Index, increased 8.4% compared with Dec. 31, 2000.

Net interest revenue

Net interest revenue includes the interest spread on interest-earning assets, loan fees, cash receipts and interest
reversals on nonperforming loans, and revenue or expense on derivative instruments used for interest rate risk
management purposes. Net interest revenue on a fully taxable equivalent basis totaled $622 million in 2002, up
$40 million, or 7%, compared with $582 million in 2001. The net interest margin was 2.74% in 2002, up

26 basis points compared with 2.48% in 2001.

The increase in net interest revenue in 2002, compared with the prior year, primarily resulted from a higher net
interest margin which more than offset a lower level of average interest-earning assets. Approximately

$1.4 billion of low yielding money market investments were partially replaced by an approximate $700 million
increase in higher yielding securities. See the following two pages for an analysis of the changes in volumes and
rates affecting net interest revenue.

As a result of the Corporation’s stated intention to reduce credit availability to the corporate and institutional
marketplace, it is expected that net interest revenue could be negatively impacted in 2003. In addition,
noninterest revenue could potentially be negatively impacted if customers transfer business to other providers. It
is not possible to quantify the impact on either net interest revenue or noninterest revenue at this time.

2001 compared with 2000

Net interest revenue on a fully taxable equivalent basis totaled $582 million in 2001, an increase of $27 million,
or 5%, from $555 million in 2000, while the net interest margin decreased by 5 basis points to 2.48%. The
increase in net interest revenue in 2001, compared with the prior year, primarily resulted from a higher level of
interest-earning assets partially offset by a lower yielding asset mix. Average interest-earning assets increased
$1.8 billion in 2001 compared with 2000, as a $3.1 billion increase in average securities and a $1.7 billion
increase in average money market investments were partially offset by a $2.3 billion decrease in funds allocated
to discontinued operations and an $850 million decrease in average loans. The decrease in funds allocated to
discontinued operations reflects the sale of the leasing and asset-backed lending businesses, the Citizens
transaction, the disposition of loans to middle market customers not included in the Citizens transaction, and the
sale and securitization of jJumbo mortgages.

13



Net interest revenue {continued)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET -- AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST YIELDS/RATES

2002
Average
Average yields/
(dollar amounts in millions) balance Interest rates
Assets Interest-earning assets:
Interest-bearing deposits with hanks (primarily foreign) $ 1,870 $ 62 3.33%
Federal funds sold and securities under resale agreements 462 8 1.80
Other money market investments iié6 3 2.16
Trading account securitics 744 8 1.11
Securities:
U.S. Treasury and agency securities (a) 7,715 387 5.02
Obligations of states and political subdivisions (a) 400 28 6.87
Other (a) 1,814 120 6.63
Loans, net of unearned discount (a) 9,445 448 4.75
Funds allocated to discontinued operations 184 4 2.01
Total interest-earning assets 22,750 $1,068 4.70
Cash and due from banks 2,857
Premises and cquipment 721
Customers’ acceptance liability 2
Net acquired property 2
Other assets of discontinued operations 206
Other assels {a) 7,131
Reserve for credit losses (148)
Total assets $33,529
Liabilities and Interest-bearing labilities:
shareholders’ Deposits in domestic offices:
equity Demand $ 142 $ 4 2.61%
Money market and other savings accounts 6,471 83 1.29
Savings certificates 244 7 3.00
Other time deposits 770 15 1.95
Deposits in foreign offices 3,408 63 1.85
Total interest-bearing deposits 11,035 172 1.56
Federal funds purchased and securities under
repurchase agreements 1,985 30 1.51
U.S. Treasury tax and loan demand notes 264 4 1.49
Term federal funds purchased 324 5 1.74
Commercial paper 41 1 1.58
Other funds borrowed 615 20 3.19
Notes and debentures (with original maturities over one year) 4,238 135 3.1%
Trust-preferred securities 987 79 8.00
Funds allocated from discontinued operations - - -
Total interest-bearing liabilities 19,489 $ 446 2.29
Total noninterest-bearing deposits 7,975 (b)
Acceptances outstanding 2
Other liabilities of discontinued operations 206
Other liabilities (a) 2,609
Total liabilities 30,281
Shareholders’ equity (a) 3,248
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $33,529
Rates Yield on total interest-earning assets 4.70%
Cost of funds supporting interest-earning assets 1.96
Net interest income/margin:
Taxable equivalent basis $ 622 2.74%
Without taxable equivalent increments 610 2.68
Foreign and Foreign interest-earning assets $ 2,797 $ 27 95%
domestic components Domestic interest-earning assets $19.953 $ 595 2.99
Consolidated interest-earning assets $22,750 $ 622 2.74%

(a) Amounts and yields exclude adjustments to fair value and the related deferred tax effect required by

SFAS No. 115.

(b) Noninterest-bearing deposits include $7.946 billion and 37.217 billion of domestic deposits, and $29 million

and $23 million of foreign deposits in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Note: Interest and average yields/rates were calculated on a raxable equivalent basis, at tax rates approximating
35%, using dollar amounts in thousands and actual number of days in the years, and are before the effect of
reserve requirements. Loan fees, ay well as nonaccrual loans and their relared income effect, have been included
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2001 2000 1999 1998
Average Average Average Average
Average yields/ Average yiclds/ Avcrage yields/ Average yields/
balance  Intercst rates balance  Interest rates balance  Interest rates balance  Interest rates
$ 2,493 $ 9 3.85% $ 1054 § 60 5.68% $ 803 $ 39 4.81% $ 646 § 33 S %
1,179 46 3.90 964 62 6.42 753 41 5.44 683 37 542
166 8 4.81 86 S 5.81 60 3 5.00 109 0 5.35
436 16 3.67 310 19 6.01 370 19 5.29 251 16 6.24
8,002 488 6.10 6,273 411 6.53 6,361 408 641 5473 365 6.67
265 18 6.79 149 9 6.27 117 7 6.24 54 4 7.31
1,032 8 7.56 87 7 8.36 90 7 775 120 8 6.89
9,843 655 6.65 10,693 834 7.80 13,671 948 6.93 15,179 l,164 7.66
- - - 2,304 128 5.56 1,296 43 3.32 - - -
23416 31405 6.00 21,920  $1,535 7.01 23,521 $1,515 6.44 22,515 $1.633 7.24
2,773 2,680 2,634 2,780
615 448 400 390
[l 75 113 115
5 6 18 45
12,683 16,408 16,922 16,881
6,054 5,649 5,952 5,632
(194) 270) (324) (357)
$45,363 346,916 $49,236 $48,001
$ 169 % 5 2.96% $ 200 $ 7 3.50% $ 212 $ 5 2.36% $ 168 $ 4 2.38%
5,547 142 2.56 5,634 241 4.28 5,115 184 3.60 4236 164 3.87
212 8 3.77 210 10 4.76 194 12 6.19 164 13 7.93
924 39 4.22 1,099 61 5.55 1,254 64 5.10 2,101 117 5.57
3,468 122 3.52 3014 149 4.93 3,052 133 4.35 2,760 136 4.93
10,320 316 3.06 10,157 468 4.61 9,827 398 4.05 9,429 434 4.60
1,652 65 4.00 1,696 104 6.13 2,121 102 479 2,198 123 5.60
204 9 4.41 363 22 5.98 S50t 24 4.74 604 31 5.15
61 2 3.28 131 3 6.09 427 22 524 365 21 5.69
489 I8 3.68 127 8 6.34 128 7 5.39 234 13 S.44
423 29 6.62 837 54 6.45 1,191 75 6.30 629 47 7.47
3,751 191 5.09 3,478 237 6.83 3,424 225 6.59 2,992 204 6.84
974 79 8.11 991 79 7.93 991 79 7.93 991 79 7.93
1,595 114 7.45 - - - - - - 254 36 14.17
19,469 § 823 4.23 17,780 § 980 5.51 18,620 § 932 5.01 17,696 $ 988 5.58
7,240 (D) 6,312 6,951 7,248
11 75 113 115
12,683 16,408 16,922 16,881
2,299 2,325 2,287 1,916
41,702 42,900 44,893 43,856
3,661 4,016 4,343 4,145
$45,363 $46,916 $49,236 348,001
6.00% 7.01% 6.44% 7.24%
3.52 4.48 3.96 4.38
$ 582 2.48% $ 555 2.53% $ 585 2.48% $ 645 2.86%
574 2.45 550 2.51 579 2.46 642 2.85
$ 3658 § 29 79%
$19,758 3§ 553 2.80
$23416 $ 582 2.48%

in the calculation of average yields/rates. Also, in January 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Corporation began 1o disclose gross
assets and liabilities of discontinued operations instead of the ner amount previously reported. Prior periods have been reclassified.
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Operating expense

(dollar amounts in millions) 20602 2001 (a) 2000 (a)
Staff expense:
Compensation $1,319 $1,109 $ 949
Employee benefits (b) 149 75 57
Incentive 397 357 341
Total staff expense (b) $1,865 $1.541 $1.,347
Professional, legal and other purchased services 389 347 253
Net occupancy expense 246 219 185
Equipment expense 222 157 134
Business development 131 117 129
Communications expense 118 95 64
Amortization of goodwill - 73 67
Amortization of other intangible assets 15 7 7
Other expense 148 94 75
Total operating expense $3,126 $2,650 $2,261

Efficiency ratio (¢) 73% 79% 65%

Average full-time equivalent staff (d) 24,100 21,300 20,900

(a) In January 2002 the Corporation began to record customer expense reimbursements as revenue in accordance with a
FASB staff announcement. The Corporation had historically reported expense reimbursements as a reduction of
expenses. Prior year amounts have been reclassified.

(b) Includes a pension credit of 397 million, $120 million and $101 million, respectively.

{c} Operating expense, as a percentage of fee and net interest revenue, computed on a raxable equivalent basis, excluding
gains on the sales of securities.

(d) The increase in average full-time equivalent staff in 2002 compared with 2001 primarily resulted from the Unifi
acquisition. Headcount totaled 22,500; 20,500; and 20,100 at Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Headcount
amounts do not include the equivalent staff impact of temporaries, contractors, or overtime, which is included in
average full-time equivalent staff.

Operating expense in 2002 increased to $3.126 billion from $2.650 billion in 2001, primarily due to acquisitions,
higher health care and other benefits expense, a lower pension credit and higher insurance expense, partially
offset by the required elimination of goodwill amortization in 2002 and lower severance expense. Excluding the
effect of acquisitions and amortization of goodwill for 2001, operating expense increased approximately 4% in
2002 compared with 2001 due to the same factors discussed previously.

Due to the continued weakness in the economy, in the fourth quarter of 2002 the Corporation identified
additional cost savings opportunities that will result in a reduction of approximately 650 positions and, in 2003,
savings of approximately $30 million. These cost saving opportunities are in addition to those identified as part
of Project LEAP (Lifting Earnings and Performance). Severance expense of $18 million pre-tax, or $12 million
after-tax, was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Corporation recorded
$30 million of severance expense associated primarily with Project LEAP. The Corporation began
implementation of its LEAP program in the third quarter of 2001, and it is expected to be fully implemented by
the second quarter of 2003. The program is expected to result in $300 million pre-tax of revenue enhancements
and expense savings. Of the $300 million, approximately 40% will be revenue enhancements and approximately
60% will be expense savings. In 2002, the Corporation achieved approximately $200 miilion of revenue
enhancements and expense savings, of which approximately $65 million was achieved in the fourth quarter.

The Corporation currently expects that health care and other benefits expense and insurance expense will
continue to increase while the pension credit will decrease in 2003 and beyond. The Corporation’s defined
benefit pension plans are overfunded and have generated significant pension credits for the past several years.
Realized and unrealized losses on plan assets in 2002 and 2001 combined with lower projected future returns will
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Operating expense (continued)

result in a significantly reduced pension credit in 2003, and perhaps beyond as discussed below. See the
discussion on pages 98 through {00 for a further discussion of the factors that affect pension expense.

The Corporation follows SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” to calculate and record its net
periodic benefit cost (credit) for pensions. The net periodic benefit cost (credit) is based primarily on three
assumptions: the discount rate for plan liabilities; the expected return on plan assets; and the rate of
compensation increase. Net credits of $97 million pre-tax in 2002, $120 million pre-tax in 2001 and $101 million
pre-tax in 2000 were recorded for all funded and unfunded pension plans.

Reflecting decreases in the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets and the assumed rate of
compensation increase and the decline in asset values of the Corporation's plans from Dec. 31, 2001, to Dec. 31,
2002, the net periodic benefit credit is expected to decrease to approximately $30 million pre-tax for the year
2003, assuming no other changes in assumptions for the funded and unfunded plans. The assumptions used to
calculate the estimated net periodic benefit credit for 2003 and its estimated sensitivities to a 50 bp change in
assumptions are as follows:

Net periedic benefit credit Estimated sensitivities to a 50 bp
increase or decrease in assumed rates
(dollar amounts in millions) Rates for 2003 Increase (a) Decrease (a)
Discount rate 6.75% $(12) 312
Expected return on assets 8.50% IR $9
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% $ 5 3(5)

(a) Bracketed amounts indicate an increase in the pension credit.

2001 compared with 2000

Operating expense for 2001 totaled $2.650 billion, a $389 million, or 17%, increase compared with

$2.261 billion in 2000. This increase was primarily due to acquisitions, the streamlining and other expenses
discussed below, as well as expenses incurred in support of new business, higher transaction volumes and
investments in technology.

Stock option expense

In the third quarter of 2002, the Corporation announced that beginning Jan. 1, 2003, the Corporation will expense
the estimated fair value of stock options using the prospective method under transitional guidance provided in
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an amendment.” Based
on the number of options awarded in 2002, and on current market prices for the Corporation’s common stock and
the current average shares and equivalents outstandings, expensing stock options is expected to reduce 2003
results by approximately $.02 per share and as permitted by the transitional guidance, gradually become larger as
new awards are granted each year until the new treatment is fully reflected in 2006 in an amount of
approximately $.00 per share. As a result of the decision to expense stock options beginning in 2003, it is
possible that the number of options granted, as well as the terms and conditions of options granted in the future
could be different from those granted previously.
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Operating expense (continued)

Streamlining and other charges

As discussed previously, the Corporation initiated Project LEAP in 2001, a process that reviewed all aspects of
the Corporation’s operations with the objective of improving productivity and redeploying investments to areas
that held the best opportunities for future growth. A $62 million charge was recorded in the fourth quarter of
2001 associated in large part with improving productivity and consolidating operations, as well as for other
expenses, as shown in the following table. Approximately $30 million of the charge was for planned severance
actions recorded in staff expense, $16 million was for consultants used to help develop and administer the
productivity initiatives and for conversion costs recorded in professional, legal and other purchased services. Of
the remaining $16 million, the most significant component was for the settlement of a contractual dispute,
recorded in other expenses. The reserve for the settlement of the contractual dispute was utilized for this matter

in the fourth quarter of 2002. The following table shows the subsequent usage of these accruals and the expected
time period when remaining accrued expenses will be used in the future.

Streamiining and other charges Expenditures and Expected
Total accrued at adjustments through expenditures in
(in millions) Dec. 31,2001 Dec. 31,2002 2003

Benefit and severance programs $30 $26 $4
Professional, legal and other

purchased services 16 16
Other expenses 16 16

Total streamlining and other expenses $58

Income taxes

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations totaled $326 million in 2002, compared with

$239 million in 2001 and $427 million in 2000. The Corporation’s effective tax rate on income from continuing
operations for 2002 was 32.8% compared with 35.4% in 2001 and 36.1% in 2000. Excluding the impact of the
amortization of non-tax deductible goodwill, the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations was
32.6% for 2001 and 34.6% for 2000. It is currently anticipated that the effective tax rate will be approximately
33.5% in 2003.
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Business sectors

Institutional Private Total
Asset Wealth Assct
(dellar amounts in nillions, averages in Management Mutual Funds Management Management
hillions; presented on an FTE basis) {u) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 200t 2000 2002 2001 2000
Revenue:
Fee and other revenue $575  $546 %517 $544 3541 $562 $320  $327 3324 $1.439 S1414 $1.403
Net interest revenue (expensc) 29 (13) 3 7 1 ®) 208 165 125 186 153 114
Total revenue 546 533 514 551 542 554 528 492 449 1,625 1.567 1517
Credit quality expense - - - - - - - 1 I - | 1
Operating expense:
Amortization of goodwill - i1 11 - B 10 - 16 15 - 38 36
Other expense 474 386 343 339 328 326 277 254 233 1,090 908 902
Total operating expense 474 397 354 339 339 336 277 270 248 1,090 1,006 938
Income from continuing operations before
taxes (benefits) 72 136 160 212 203 218 251 221 200 535 560 578
Income taxes (benefits) 27 53 62 85 82 89 89 82 76 201 217 227
Income (loss) from continuing operations 45 83 98 127 121 129 162 139 124 334 343 351
Income from discontinued operations
after-tax (h) - - - - - - - - - -
Net income (loss) $45 383 3598 $127  $121 $129 $162  S139  S$124 $ 334 S 343 S 351
Average loans $8 - 5 - $ - $ - & - $27 $23 §$23 $ 27 S 23 3% 23
Average assets (¢) $1.2 S09 $08 $0.7 $07 §07 $5.0 S48 S46 $ 69 S 64 5 6.1
Average deposits $8 - 5 - 5 - $ - $ - S - $44 $42 541 $ 44 S 42 % 41
Average common equity $02 302 so02 $04 3504 $03 $02 $02 3503 $ 08 % 08 s 08
Average Tier | preferred equity $ $ - 5 - $ $ - S - $ - § - S - % -8 - % -
Return on common equity (d) 20% 37% 32% 31% 34% 40% 77% 61% S54% 40% 3%  47%
Pre-tax operating margin (¢/) 13%  26% 3% 38% 8% 39% 48%  45%  45% 3%  36% 38%
Total Corporate
Asset Human Resources Treasury & Institutional
(dollar amaounts in miltions, averages in Servicing Services Services Services
billions, presented on an FTE busis) (a) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001} 2000 2002 2001 2000
Revenue:
Fee and other revenue $634  $398 $538 $1,087 $733  S472 $370 S$336 $300 $2,091 $1.687 $1.316
Net interest revenue {expense) 96 125 108 26) (12) 7y 471 394 369 541 507 470
Total revenue 730 723 646 1,061 721 465 841 750 675 2,632 2,194 1,786
Credit quality expense - - - - - 6 2 9 6 2 9
Operating expense:
Amortization of goodwill - 6 6 - 11 8 - 13 12 - 30 26
Other expense 538 451 395 1,004 069 440 475 441 402 2,017 1,501 1237
Total operating expense 338 457 401 1,004 680 448 475 434 414 2,017 1591 1,263
Income from continuing operations before
taxes (benefits) 192 2606 245 57 41 17 360 294 252 609 601 514
Income taxes (benefits) 68 95 89 19 16 127 106 93 214 217 190
Income (loss) from continuing operations 124 17 156 38 25 9 233 188 159 395 384 324
Income from discontinued operations
after-tax (b) - - - - - - - - - - - -
Net income (loss) $124  $171 $156 $ 38 $25 § 9 $233 3188 $159 $ 395 § 384 § 324
Average loans $ - 3 - s - 3 -5 - % - $53 8§56 $606 $ 83 % 56 3% 06
Average assets (¢) $44 547 S46 % 19 $10 S$07 $11.5 S10.1  s10.0 $17.8 $ 158 $ 154
Average deposits $34 537 $35 % 01 300 $01 $98 $86 $73 $ 133 5124 %109
Average commeon equity $05 S05 $04 $ 03 302 $01 $1.0 $08 $09 $ 18 & 155 14
Average Tier | preferred equity $ - $ - s - 3 - % - 5 - $02 S02 sS03 $ 02 % 0285 03
Return on common equity (¢} 27% 37% 37% 14% 15% 10% 23% 22% 17% 22% 20% 23%
Pre-tax operating margin (d) 26% 3%  38% 5% 6% 4% 43%  39% 3% 23% 2%  29%%

{a)  Results for 2001 und 2000 include the after-rax impaet of the amortization of goodwill from purchase deguisitions.
(b)  Income from discontinued operations has not been allocated 1o any of the Corporation’s reportable sectors.
(c)  Where average deposity are in excess of uverage loans, average assets include an allocation of investment securities equal 1o such excess.

(d)  Ona continuing operations basis.

- continued -
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Business sectors (continued)

Total Core Consolidated
(dollar amounts inmillions, averages in Sectors Other Activity Results
hillions; presented on an FTE basis) («) 2002 2001 2001 2000 2002 2001

Revenue:
Fee and other revenue () $3,530 $3.101 S(31d $217 $3,724 $2,787
Net interest revenue (expense) (¢) 727 600 (78) (29) 622 582

Total revenue 4,257 31,761 (392) 188 4,346 3.369
Credit quality expense 6 3 (7 2y 172 4)
Operating expense:

Amortization of goodwill 68 - 5 - 73
Qther expense 2,529 19 35 3,126

Total operating expense 2,597 19 60 3,126

Income from continuing operations before
taxes (benefits) 1,161 (96) (438) 1,048
Income taxes (benefits) (d) 434 [€)) (147 49 381

Income (loss) from continuing operations 727 62) 291) 81 667
Income from discontinued operations
after-tax {e) - - - - - 15

Net income (loss) $ 729 675 $ (62) $(291) $ 81 $ 682

&1
-~
-2
~J

Average loans $ 8.0 8.9 $14 $1.9 $1.8 $ 94
Average assets (f) $ 247 21.5 $ 8.6 £10.6 $65 $ 33.7
Average deposits $ 17.7 15.0 $ 1.3 $1.0 $14 $ 19.0
Average common equity $ 2.6 22 $ 08 $ 14 $17 $ 34
Average Tier | preferred equity $ 0.2 0.3 $ 0.8 $ 08 $0.7 $ 1.0

[T
— D
N

9w & oo

o 1o

31% NM N/M N/M 20%
33% N/M N/M N/M 24%

Return on common equity {g) 28%
Pre-tax operating margin (g) 27%

(SR
_—J
2a

(¢} Results for 2001 and 2000 include the after-tax impact of the amortization of goodwill from purchase acquisitions.

(b)  Consolidated results include FTE impact of 343 million, $40 million and $34 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

(¢} Consolidated results include FTE impact of 312 million, $8 million and 35 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respeciively.

(d)  Consoliduted results include FTE impact of 355 million, $48 million and $39 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

(e) Income from discontinued operations has not been allocared 10 any of the Corpuration’s reportable sectors.

() Where average deposits are in excess of uverage {oans, average assets include an allocation of investment securities equal 1o such excess. Consolidated
averuge assets include average assets of discontinued operations of $.4 bitlion, $12.7 biltion and $18.7 billion for 2002, 2001 und 2000 respectively.

(¢)  Onucontinuing operations basis.

N/M -- Not meaningful

The Corporation’s business sectors reflect its management structure, the characteristics of its products and
services, and the classes of customers to which those products and services are delivered. The Corporation’s
lines of business serve two major classes of customers - high net worth individuals/families and large institutional
customers. Lines of business that offer similar or related products and services to common or similar customer
decision makers have been combined into six core business sectors. In addition, Other Activity, as discussed
further on pages 31 through 34, consists of all activities not reported in the Corporation’s core business sectors.
The results of the Corporation’s core business sectors are presented and analyzed on an internal management
reporting basis. There is no intercompany profit or loss on intersector activity. The accounting policies of the
business sectors are the same as those described in Note 1 on pages 69 through 77 except: fee and other revenue,
net interest revenue and income taxes differ from the amounts shown in the Consolidated Income Statement
because amounts presented in Business Sectors are on a taxable equivalent basis (FTE); and credit quality
expense (revenue) for the core sectors is presented on a net charge-off basis. Capital is allocated to the business
sectors to reflect management’s assessment of credit risk, market risk and operating risk using internal risk
assessments and factors and, where appropriate, regulatory guidelines. While external benchmarks are
considered in the allocation process, the capital allocations may not be representative of the capital levels that
would be required if these sectors were nonaffiliated business units.

As a result of repositioning actions taken to sharpen its strategic focus in 2001 and the January 2002 acquisition
of Unifi Network, the Corporation redefined its core business sectors into two overall reportable groups -- Asset
Management and Corporate & Institutional Services. The Asset Management group is comprised of the
Institutional Asset Management, Mutual Funds and Private Wealth Management sectors. The Corporate &
Institutional Services group is comprised of the Asset Servicing, Human Resources Services and Treasury
Services sectors. Prior period results have been reclassified to reflect these repositioning actions. In addition,
Business Sector information is reported on a continuing operations basis for all periods presented. See Note 4 for
a discussion of discontinued operations.
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Business sectors (continued)

Core Business Sectors - Summary

(dollar amounts in millions, Total Revenue Income Before Taxes (a) Return on Equity (a)
presented on an FTE basis) 2002 2001 2000 2602 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Asset Management Group  $1,625 $1,567 $1,517 $ 335 $ 560 3 578 40% 43% 47%
Corporate & Institutional

Services Group 2,632 2,194 1,786 609 601 514 22% 26% 23%
Total Core Business Sectors  $4,257 $3,761 $3,303 $1,144 $1,161 $1,092 28% 32% 3%

(a) Results for 2001 and 2000 include the impact of the amortization of goodwill from purchase acquisitions.

% of Core
% ot Core Sector Income Pre-tax Operating
Sector Revenue Before Taxes Margin (a)

2002 2000 2000 2002 2001 2000 20062 2001 2000

Asset Management Group 8% 2%  46% 47 % 48%  53% 33% 36%  38%
Corporate & Institutional Services

Group 62 % 58% 54% 53% 52% 47% 23% 27% 29%

Total Core Business Sectors 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 27% 31% 33%

(a) Margins for 2001 and 2000 include amortization of goodwill. Excluding amortization ofgoodwfll, ratios would have
been 38%, 29% and 33%, respectively, for 2001 and 40%, 30% and 35%, respectively, for 2000.

Following is a discussion of the Corporation’s six core business sectors and Other Activity. In the tables that
follow, the income statement amounts are presented in millions and are on an FTE basis, and the assets under
management, administration or custody are period-end market values and are presented in billions. Where
applicable, revenue and expense growth rates are reported excluding the estimated impact of acquisitions to
improve period to period comparability. The operations of acquired businesses are integrated with the existing
business sectors soon after acquisitions are completed. As a result of the integration of staff support functions,
management of customer relationships and operating processes and the financial impact of funding the
acquisitions, the impact of acquisitions on income before taxes cannot be accurately determined and therefore 1s
not reported.

Asset Management Group

The Corporation’s Asset Management Group consists of those lines of business which offer investment
management and wealth management services to large corporations, institutional customers and high net worth
individuals aggregated into three business sectors -- Institutional Asset Management, Mutual Funds-and Private

Wealth Management.

Asset Management Group - Summary

2002 vs. 2001 Total Revenue Operating Expense Income Before
Growth (a) Growth (a)(b) Taxes Growth (b)
Institutional Asset Management (10Y% 3% (5DH%
Mutual Funds 2% 3% (1Y%
Private Wealth Management 6% 6% 6%
Total Asset Management Group (% 4% (1%

(a) Excludes the impact of acquisitions.
(b) Excludes the amortization of goodwill in 2001.
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Business sectors (continued)

Asset Management Group - Suimmary

2001 vs. 2000 Total Revenue Operating Expense Income Before
Growth (a) Growth (a)(b) Taxes Growth (b)

Institutional Asset Management (3)% 1% (D%

Mutual Funds (2)% 1% 6)%

Private Wealth Management 9% 8% 11%

Total Asset Management Group 1% 3% (3)%

(a} Excludes the impact of acquisitions.
(b) Excludes the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

Results for the Asset Management Group in 2002 compared with 2001 were impacted by acquisitions, primarily
the July 2001 acquisition of Standish Mellon Asset Management, the December 2001 acquisition of NSP Buck
and the July 2002 acquisition of HBV Capital Management, all of which are included in the Institutional Asset
Management sector, and the Cctober 2001 acquisition of Van Deventer and Hoch and the August 2002
acquisition of Weber Fulton & Felman, both of which are included in the Private Wealth Management sector.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill in 2001, results for 2002 compared with
2001 reflect a 1% decline in revenue and a 4% increase in expenses. The decrease in revenue is due to the
impact of market depreciation in assets managed and lower performance fees in the Institutional Asset
Management sector. This decrease was partially offset by higher asset management fees in the Mutual Fund
sector and higher net interest and other revenue in the Private Wealth Management sector. The expense increase
primarily resulted from a higher level of operational errors in I[nstitutional Asset Management, higher purchased
services and insurance expense in the Mutual Fund sector and expense incurred to develop Pennsylvania-based
wealth offices in Private Wealth Management following the Citizens transaction. Income before taxes decreased
11% compared with 2001, excluding the amortization of goodwill.

2001 compared with 2000

Results for the Asset Management Group in 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the July 2001
acquisition of Standish Mellon Asset Management, which is included in the Institutional Asset Management
sector, as well as the October 2001 acquisition of Van Deventer and Hoch, which is included in the Private
Wealth Management sector. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, revenue and expenses increased 1% and 3%,
respectively. The increase in revenue primarily resulted from higher net interest revenue in the Private Wealth
Management sector and higher performance fees from the Institutional Asset Management sector partially offset
by the impact of the equity market conditions in 2001 on the Institutional Asset Management and Mutual Funds
sectors. Equity market levels at Dec. 31, 2001 decreased 13% compared with Dec. 31, 2000. The increase in
expense primarily resulted from higher staff and occupancy expense to support business growth. Income before
taxes for the Asset Management Group overall decreased 3% compared with 2000, excluding the amortization of
goodwill.




Business sectors (continued)

Institutional Asset Management

{income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (a)
asset dollar amounts in billions) 2002 2001
vs. vs.

2002 2001 2000 2001 2000
Trust and investment fee revenue $561 $537 $510 5% 5%
Other fee revenue 14 9 7 46% 21%
Net interest revenue _(29) _(13) ) N/M N/M
Total revenue 546 533 514 2% 4%
Total operating expense _474 397 354 23% 13%
Income before taxes 72 136 160 1% (14)%
Amortization of goodwill - 1l 11
Adjusted income before taxes $ 72 $147 $171
Return on common equity (b) 20% 37% 52%
Pre-tax operating margin (b) 13% 26% 31%
Assets under management:
Total assets under management $317 $332 $305 5% 9%
Plus: subadvised for other Mellon sectors _15 _17 17

332 349 322 (5)% 8%

Assets under administration or custody $ 13 $ o $ - N/M N/M
S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23)% (13)%

(a) Growth rates exclude amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
(b) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
N/M - - Not meaningful.

Institutional Asset Management is comprised of Mellon Institutional Asset Management, which consists of

15 individual asset management companies and joint ventures offering a broad range of equity, fixed income and
liquidity management products; and Mellon Global Investments, which distributes investment management
products internationally. The results of the Institutional Asset Management sector are primarily driven by the
period end levels of assets managed as well as the mix of those assets, as shown in the tables on pages 8 and 9.
Managed equity assets generate higher percentage fees than money market and bond assets. In addition,
performance fees may be generated by the performance of the managed funds exceeding peer or equity markets
benchmarks. Expenses associated with the Institutional Asset Management Sector are predominately driven by
staffing costs and incentives. Incentives are directly associated with the performance of the individual asset
management companies and new business generation.

The results for this sector in 2002 compared with 2001 were impacted by the July 2001 acquisition of Standish
Mellon Asset Management, the December 2001 acquisition of NSP Buck and the July 2002 acquisition of HBV
Capital Management. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill in 2001, revenue
decreased 10% and expenses increased 3% in 2002 over 2001. The decrease in revenue was due to the impact of
market depreciation in assets managed, lower performance fees and lower net interest revenue. The 3% increase
in expenses was influenced by a higher level of operational errors. Income before taxes decreased 51%,
excluding the amortization of goodwill. Assets under management for this sector were $332 billion at Dec. 31,
2002, a 5% decrease compared with $349 billion at Dec. 31, 2001, reflecting the weakness in the equity markets
which offset net inflows of $6 billion.
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Business sectors {continued)

2001 compared with 2000

The results of the Institutional Asset Management sector for 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the July
2001 acquisition of Standish Mellon Asset Management. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the

amortization of goodwill, revenue for this sector in 2001 decreased 3% compared with 2000 and operating
expenses over the same period increased 1%. Income before taxes decreased 14%, excluding the amortization of
goodwill. The decrease in revenue reflected the impact of the equity market conditions in 2001. Assets under
management at Dec. 31, 2001 were up 8% from Dec. 31, 2000, primarily due to the Standish Mellon acquisitions
and net new business, which offset the effect of market depreciation.

Mutual Funds

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (a)

asset dollar amounts in billions) 2002 2001

VS, VS.

2002 2001 2000 2001 2000

Trust and investment fee revenue $549 $538 $538 2% -%

Other fee revenue %) 3 24 N/M N/M

Net interest revenue _ 17 1 (& N/M N/M

Total revenue 551 542 554 2% (2)%

Total operating expense _33% _339 _336 3% 1%

Income before taxes 212 203 218 (D% (6)%
Amortization of goodwill - 1 _ 10
Adjusted income before taxes $212 $214 $228
Return on common equity (b) 31% 34% 40%
Pre-tax operating margin (b) 38% 38% 39%

Assets under management $181 $174 $135 4% 29%
Less: subadvised by other Mellon sectors _D _ (22 (23

164 152 112 8% 36%

S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23)% (13)%

(a) Growth rates exciude amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
(b) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
N/M - - Not meaningful.

Mutual Funds consists of all the activities associated with the Dreyfus/Founders complex of mutual funds. The
results of the Mutual Fund sector are driven by average asset levels and the mix of assets managed. Generally,
actively managed equity funds generate higher fees than fixed income funds, index funds and money market
funds. In addition, results are impacted by sales of fee-based products such as fixed and variable annuities.
Expenses are impacted by sales of long-term funds and fee-based products, asset levels of money market funds
and the cost of advertising and marketing new and existing products.

Revenue for this sector increased $9 million, or 2%, compared with 2001, as a result of higher asset management
fees from institutional money market funds and separately managed accounts, partially offset by lower revenue
from equity funds reflecting the weakness in the equity markets. Operating expenses increased 3% over 2001
excluding the amortization of goodwill, primarily due to higher purchased services and insurance expense,
partiaily offset by lower staff expense. Income before taxes decreased 1%, excluding the amortization of
goodwill. Assets under management for this sector were $164 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, up $12 billion, or 8%,
from $152 billion at Dec. 31, 2001 due to strong institutional money market flows which more than offset the
impact of lower equity fund assets.
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Business sectors (continued)

2001 compared with 2000

Revenue for this sector in 2001 compared with 2000 was down 2%, as fees from equity mutual funds declined
due to weakened equity market conditions. Operating expenses were well controlled, increasing only 1%,
excluding the amortization of goodwill. Income before taxes decreased 6%, excluding the amortization of
goodwill. Assets under management increased $40 billion to $152 billion at Dec. 31, 2001 from $112 billion at
Dec. 31, 2000, resulting from strong institutional money market flows which more than offset the impact of lower
equity markets.

Private Wealth Management

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (a)
asset dollar amounts in billions) 2002 2001
VS, Vs,
2002 2001 2000 2001 2000
Trust and investment fee revenue $305 $312 $313 (3% -%
Other fee revenue 15 15 11 3% 36%
Net interest revenue _208 _165 125 26% 32%
Total revenue 528 492 449 7% 10%
Credit quality expense - 1 1 N/M N/M
Total operating expense 277 270 _248 9% 9%
Income before taxes 251 221 200 6% 11%
Amortization of goodwill - _ 16 15
Adjusted income before taxes $251 $237 $215
Return on common equity (b) 77 % 61% 54%
Pre-tax operating margin (b} 48% 45% 45%
Total client assets at beginning of year $ 74 $ 93 $ 96
Assets under management net inflows 1 1 2
Assets under administration or
or custody net inflows (outflows) 1 ) n
Acquisitions 2 | 1
Market appreciation (depreciation) _(1% _ U2 _ 5
Total client assets at end of year $ 66 $ 74 $ 93 U 1)% (20)%
S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23)% (13)%

(a) Growth rates exclude amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
(b) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
N/M -- Not meaningfid.

Private Wealth Management consists of investment management, wealth management and private banking
services for high net worth individuals, including the activities of Mellon United National Bank in Florida. The
results of the Private Wealth Management sector are driven by the level of assets managed and custodied as well
as the mix of those assets and the level of activity in client accounts. Net interest revenue is determined by the
level and spread of loans and deposits. Expense of this sector is driven by the staffing of the sales and service
groups and related systems support groups.

The results for this sector compared with 2001 were impacted by the July 2001 acquisition of Standish Mellon,
the October 2001 acquisition of Van Deventer and Hoch and the August 2002 acquisition of Weber Fulton &
Felman. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, revenue increased 6%, reflecting higher net interest revenue and
other revenue, partially offset by lower trust fees reflecting weakness in the equity markets. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill in 2001, operating expense increased 6% primarily
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Business sectors (continued)

resulting from expense incurred to develop wealth offices. Income before taxes increased 6%, excluding the
amortization of goodwill. Client assets were $66 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, a decrease of 11% from Dec. 31, 2001,
as market depreciation was partially offset by net inflows and the impact of acquisitions.

2001 compared with 2000

The results of the Private Wealth Management sector for 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the July
2001 acquisition of Standish Mellon and the October 2001 acquisition of Van Deventer and Hoch. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill, revenue increased 9% over 2000 and expenses increased
8%. The increase in revenue resulted from higher net interest revenue, while the expense increase reflected
higher staff and occupancy expense in support of business growth. Income before taxes was up 11%, excluding
the amortization of goodwill. Client assets at Dec. 31, 2001 were down 20% from Dec. 31, 2000 due to market
depreciation and net outflows of assets under custody.

Corporate & Institutional Services Group

The Corporation’s Corporate & Institutional Services Group consists of those lines of business which offer trust
and custody and related services as well as services for investment managers; human resources consulting and
outsourcing services; and treasury-related services to large corporations, institutions and governments and other
not-for-profit entities. Those lines of business have been aggregated into three business sectors -- Asset
Servicing, Human Resources Services and Treasury Services.

Corporate & Institutional Services Group - Stunmary

2002 vs. 2001 Total Revenue Operating Expense Income Before
Growth (a) Growth (a)(b) Taxes Growth (b)
Asset Servicing (4% 7% 2N %
Human Resources Services -% 2% 9%
Treasury Services 12% 8% 17%
Total Corporate & Institutional Services Group 3% 5% (4%

(a) Excludes the impact of acquisitions.
(b) Excludes the amortization of goodwill in 2001,

Corporate & Institutional Services Group- Summary

2001 vs. 2000 Total Revenue Operating Expense Income Before
Growth (a) Growth (a)(b) Taxes Growth (&)
Asset Servicing 11% 13% 8%
Human Resources Services 3% 2% 116%
Treasury Services 11% 10% 16%
Total Corporate & Institutional Services Group 9% 8% 17%

(a) Excludes the impact of acquisitions.
(b) Excludes the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

Results for the Corporate & Institutional Services Group for 2002 compared with 2001 were impacted by the
January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network in the Human Resources Services sector and by the November 2001
acquisition of Eagle Investment Systems in the Asset Servicing sector. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and
the amortization of goodwill in 2001, results for 2002 compared with 2001 reflect a 3% increase in revenue and a
5% increase in expenses. These results reflect a 12% increase in revenue in the Treasury Services sector,
reflecting higher net interest revenue and cash management revenue. This increase was partially offset by a 4%
decline in revenue in the Asset Servicing sector, primarily resulting from lower foreign exchange revenue, lower
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Business sectors (continued)

securities lending revenue and lower net interest revenue, partially offset by higher institutional trust and custody
fees from net new business. The increase in expense primarily resulted from higher medical and other benefits
expense, higher insurance expense, a lower pension credit and other expenses to support business growth and
product development. Income before taxes decreased 4% compared with 2001, excluding the amortization of
goodwill.

2001 compared with 2000

Results for the Corporate and Institutional Services Group in 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the
November 2001 acquisition of Eagle Investment Systems in the Asset Servicing Sector and the December 2000
acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in Mellon Investor Services in the Human Resources sector. Excluding
the impact of acquisitions, revenue and expenses grew 9% and 8%, respectively. The increase in revenue
primarily resulted from net business growth and high volumes of activity from existing customers. Credit quality
expense decreased in 2001 compared with 2000 in the Treasury Services sector. The increase in expense
reflected expenses in support of business growth. Income before taxes for the Corporate & Institutional Services
Group overall increased 17% compared with 2000, excluding the amortization of goodwill.

Asset Servicing

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (a)
asset dollar amounts in billions) 2002 2001
Vs, Vs,

2002 2001 2000 2001 2000

Trust and investment fee revenue $ 507 $ 439 $ 393 15% 12%

Other fee revenue (b) 127 159 145 20)% 9%

Net interest revenue 96 125 108 23)% 16%

Total revenue 730 723 646 1% 12%

Total operating expense 538 457 401 19% 14%

Income before taxes 192 266 245 (29)% 8%

Amortization of goodwill - 6 6

Amortization of equity method goodwill (¢) - S 5

Adjusted income before taxes $ 192 $ 277 $ 256

Return on common equity (d) 27% 37% 37%

Pre-tax operating margin (d) 26% 37% 38%

Assets under management $ 41 $ 4l $ 40 -% 2%

Assets under administration or custody $2,129 $2,029 $2,202 5% (8)%

S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23)% (13)%

(a) Growth rates exclude the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

(b) Primarily consists of foreign exchange revenue.

(c) Relates to the goodwill on equity method investments and joint ventures. The income from these investments is recorded
in fee revenue.

(d) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

Asset Servicing includes institutional trust and custody, foreign exchange, securities lending, back office
outsourcing for investment managers, and substantially all of the Corporation’s joint ventures. The results of the
Asset Servicing Sector are driven by a number of factors which include the market value of assets under
administration and custody as well as the level of transaction activity and extent of services provided including
custody, accounting, administration, daily valuations, performance measurement, securities lending, foreign
exchange, investment manager backoffice outsourcing and net interest revenue. Market interest rates and
changes to them impact both securities lending revenue and the earnings and value of client cash balances.
Foreign exchange revenues are directly influenced by the volume of client transactions and the spread realized on
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such transactions, and indirectly influenced by factors including market volatility in major currencies, the level of
cross-border assets held in custody for clients, and the level and nature of underlying cross-border investment and
other transactions undertaken by corporate and institutional clients. Expenses are principally driven by staffing
levels and technology investments necessary to process transaction volumes. Fees paid to subcustodians are
driven by market values of global assets and related transaction volumes.

The results for this sector in 2002 compared with 2001 were impacted by the November 2001 acquisition of

Eagle Investment Systems. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, revenue decreased 4%, primarily resulting from
lower foreign exchange revenue, lower securities lending revenue and lower net interest revenue, partially offset
by higher institutional trust and custody fees from net new business. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and
the amortization of goodwill in 2001, operating expense increased 7% primarily resulting from higher staff
expense and other expenses to support growth in assets under custody and product development. Income before
taxes decreased 29%, excluding the amortization of goodwill. Assets under administration or custody for this
sector were $2.129 trillion at Dec. 31, 2002, an increase of $100 billion, or 5%, compared with Dec. 31, 2001.
The increase compared with Dec. 31, 2001, resulted from $148 billion of net new business conversions partially
offset by market depreciation.

2001 compared with 2000

The results of the Asset Servicing sector in 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the November 2001
acquisition of Eagle Investment Systems. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill,
revenue increased | 1%, while expenses increased 13%. The increase in revenue was primarily due to higher
institutional trust and custody revenue, higher net interest revenue, higher securities lending revenue and higher
foreign exchange revenue. The growth in institutional trust and custody revenue reflects the implementation of
an investment manager outsourcing contract during 2001 and net new business growth. The increase in operating
expenses was in support of business growth and product development. Income before taxes increased §%,
excluding the amortization of goodwill. Assets under administration or custody decreased 8% at Dec. 31, 2001
compared with Dec. 31, 2000, primarily due to market depreciation.

Human Resources Services (a)

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (b)
asser dollar amounts in billions) 2002 2001
Vs. Vs,
2002 2001 2000 2001 2000
Trust and investment fee revenue $1,059 $733 $470 44% 56%
Other fee revenue 28 - 2 N/M N/M
Net interest revenue (26) _ 2 _ N/M N/M
Total revenue 1,061 721 465 47% 55%
Total operating expense 1.004 _680 _448 50% 52%
Income before taxes 57 41 17 9% 116%
Amortization of goodwill - 1 __ 8
Adjusted income before taxes $ 57 $ 52 $ 25
Return on common equity (c) 14% 15% 10%
Pre-tax operating margin (c) 5% 6% 4%
Assets under administration or custody $ 116 $ 26 $ 32 N/M (19Y%
S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23)% (13)%

{a) Amounts do not agree with those presented in Noninterest Revenue on pages 6 and 10 because sector amounts include
revenue transferred between sectors under revenue transfer agreements and other fee revenue.

(b) Growth rates exclude the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

(c) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

N/M - - Not meaningful.
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The Human Resources (HR) Services sector includes three lines of business: Buck Consultants, Mellon HR
Solutions and Mellon Investor Services. The HR Services sector provides human resources consulting,
outsourcing and administrative services that leverage technology to support client HR administration and
employee benefit plan administration, as well as investor services such as shareholder and securities transfer
services. Buck Consultants fee revenue is driven by staff utilization and is dependent on large corporate and
institutional discretionary spending on actuarial, consulting and project work. Clients are generally billed on an
hourly basis at rates that vary based upon staff level and experience. Mellon HR Solutions provides
comprehensive human resources outsourcing and benefit plan administration services. Mellon HR Solutions fee
revenue is derived from the number of employees serviced, plan participant counts, volume of transactions
processed and market value of benefit plan assets under administration. Mellon Investor Services offers a diverse
array of products to shareholders and corporations including stock transfer and recordkeeping services,
investment plan services, demutualizations, corporate actions and unclaimed property services. Fees are
generally volume driven based on number of accounts and transactions processed as well as the value of property
maintained in the accounts. Sector expenses are driven by staff levels and equipment required to support the
services provided by the sector.

Results for this sector in 2002 compared with 2001 were impacted by the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi
Network. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill in 2001, revenue was flat and
operating expense increased 2% in 2002, compared with 2001. Mellon Investor Services revenue increased
approximately 12% due to increased volumes across a number of product lines including the core transfer agent
business. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, Buck Consultants revenue declined approximately 3% reflecting
lower benefits consulting revenue, due principally to a slowdown in discretionary spending by large corporate
and institutional customers in the second half of 2002. Excluding the impact of Unifi, legacy Mellon HR
Solutions revenue declined approximately 15% due to lower benefit plan administration fees as a result of lower
volumes due to fewer clients and plan participants. The increase in operating expense reflected higher staff and
equipment expense. MIS operating expense increased approximately 9% in support of revenue growth.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the amortization of goodwill in 2001, Buck Consultants and Mellon HR
Solutions operating expense declined approximately 1% and 7%, respectively. Income before taxes for the HR
Services sector increased 9%, excluding the amortization of goodwill in 2001.

2001 compared with 2000

The results of the HR Services sector for 2001 compared with 2000 were impacted by the December 2000
acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in Mellon Investor Services. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and
the amortization of goodwill, revenue increased 3% and expenses increased 2%. The increase in revenue was
primarily due to higher HR consulting revenue from both new client project activities and from existing clients.
Expenses increased in support of business growth. Income before taxes increased 116%, excluding the
amortization of goodwill.




Business sectors (continued)

Treasury Services

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, Growth rates (a)
asset dollar amownts in billions) 2002 2001
vs. Vs,
2002 2001 2001 2000
Trust and investment fee revenue $ 8 $ 7 26% 64%
Other fee revenue 362 349 4% 16%
Net interest revenue 471 394 _369 19% 7%
Total revenue 841 750 12% 11%
Credit quality expense 6 2
Total operating expense 475 _454 8% 10%
Income before taxes 360 294 17% 16%
Amortization of goodwill - _ 13
Adjusted income before taxes $360 $307
Return on common equity (b) 23% 22%
Pre-tax operating margin (b) 43% 39%

(a) Growth rates exclude the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
(b) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

Treasury Services includes global cash management, large corporate banking, insurance premium financing,
commercial real estate lending, corporate finance and derivative products, securities underwriting and trading,
and the activities of Mellon 1st Business Bank in California. Global cash management results are driven by
electronic cash management activity including, automated clearing house, wire transfer and telecash; remittance
processing services, primarily corporate and retail lockbox; and ancillary processing services for imaging and
storage activities. The other significant driver is the net interest revenue earned from the deposit balances
generated by activity across the business operations.

The results of the Treasury Services sector’s lending lines of business -- Large Corporate, AFCO, Real Estate
Finance, and st Business Bank -- are driven by the level of commitments and fees applicable to these
commitments and the level of outstanding loans and the spreads on these loans. The results are further impacted
by the risk profile that the Corporation will accept and, in the case of 1st Business Bank, its ability to gather
significant levels of deposits. Securities underwriting results are driven by the general volatility of the bond and
fixed income markets and the Corporation’s ability to generate new underwritings. In accordance with the
Corporation’s management accounting reporting practices, credit quality expense for the core sectors reflects net
credit losses, not the provision for credit losses. Therefore, a provision for credit losses is not included in the
Treasury Services sector results. As also discussed in Other Activity on page 32, when a determination is made
that a lending arrangement does not meet the Corporation’s relationship strategy criteria, it is moved to Other
Activity and managed under an exit strategy. Any subsequent credit quality expense (revenue) is reported in
Other Activity and not in the core sectors.

Revenue for this sector increased 12% in 2002 compared with 2001, reflecting higher net interest revenue from a
higher level of deposits and higher cash management revenue partially offset by lower loan related fee revenue
due to reduced lending activity. Excluding the amortization of goodwill in 2001, operating expense increased 8%
in 2002 compared with 2001, primarily resulting from higher administrative service fees paid for insurance
premium financing referrals, credit quality expense and other expense to support business growth. Income before
taxes increased 17% excluding the amortization of goodwill.
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Business sectors (continued)

2001 compared with 2000

Revenue for this sector in 200! compared with 2000 increased 11% reflecting higher cash management revenue
and net interest revenue. Excluding the amortization of goodwill, operating expense was up 10%, in line with
revenue growth. In addition, credit quality expense was lower in 2001 compared with 2000. Income before taxes

increased 16% in 2001, excluding the amortization of goodwill.

Core Business Sectors

Summary Growth rates (a)

(income statement dollar amounts in millions, 2002 2001

asset dollar amounts in billions) Vs. Vs,
2002 2001 2000 2001 2000

Trust and investment fee revenue $2,989 $2,566 $2,228 16% 15%

Other fee revenue 541 535 491 1% 9%

Net interest revenue 727 660 584 10% 14%

Total revenue 4,257 3,761 3,303 13% 13%

Credit quality expense 6 3 10

Total operating expense 3.107 2,597 2,201 23% 18%

Income before taxes 1,144 1,161 1,092 (MH% T%

Amortization of goodwill - 68 62

Adjusted income before taxes $1,144 $1,229 $1,154

Return on common equity (5) 28% 32% 31%

Pre-tax operating margin (b} 27% 3% 33%

Assets under management $ 581 $ 592 $ 530 (2)% 12%

Assets under administration or custody $2,276 $2,082 $2,267 9% ()%

S&P 500 Index at period end 880 1,148 1,320 (23}% (13)%

(a) Growth rates exclude the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.
(b) Ratios include the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000.

2002 vs. 2001 Total Revenue Operating Expense Income Before
Growth (a) Growth (a)(b) Taxes Growth (b)
Asset Management (% 4% (1%
Corporate & Institutional Services 3% 5% ()%
Total Core Business Sectors [% 5% (%

(a) Excludes the impact of acquisitions.
(b) Excludes the amortization of goodwill in 2001.

Other Activity

Other Activity includes results for large ticket leasing, which is in a runoff mode, and certain lending
relationships that are part of the Corporation’s business exits strategy; the results of Mellon Ventures, the

Corporation’s venture capital group; and business activities or utilities, including Corporate Treasury, that are not

separate lines of business or have not been fully allocated, for management reporting purposes, to the core
business sectors.
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Business sectors (continued)

Other Activity - income (loss) from continuing

operations before taxes (benefits)

(in millions) 2002 2001

Business exits activity $(72) $ (33)
Venture capital activity (94) (442)
Corporate activity/other 70 57

Total - Other Activity $(96) $(438)

Revenue in the Other Activity sector primarily reflects net interest revenue of business exits activity, earnings on
capital above that required for the core business sectors, gains from the sale of assets, the gains/losses and
carrying costs of Mellon Ventures activities. Operating expense includes various direct expenses for items not
attributable to the operations of a business sector, a net credit for the net corporate level (income) expense
amounts allocated from Other Activity to the core business sectors, and the expenses of Mellon Ventures. Assets
in Other Activity include assets of the activities discussed below that the Corporation intends to exit, the
investments of Mellon Ventures and assets of certain areas not identified with the core business sectors. This
sector also includes assets and liabilities recorded in Corporate Treasury and not allocated to a particular line of
business. Average common and Tier I preferred equity represents capital in excess of that required for the core
business sectors, as well as capital required for the investments of Mellon Ventures and business exits.

In accordance with the Corporation’s management accounting reporting practices, credit quality expense
(revenue) for the core business sectors is presented on a net charge-off basis and totaled $6 million in 2002.
Credit quality expense (revenue) in Other Activity represents the Corporation’s provision for credit losses in
excess of net charge-offs recorded in the core business sectors. When a determination is made that a lending
arrangement does not meet the Corporation’s relationship strategy criteria, it is moved to Other Activity and
managed under an exit strategy. Any subsequent credit quality expense (revenue) is reported in Other Activity
and not in the core sectors. The Corporation’s business exits strategy is a strategy to exit all credit relationships
for which a broad fee based relationship resulting from the cross-sale of the Corporation’s fee-based services
does not exist or for which the customer does not meet the Corporation’s credit quality criteria. The loans and
leases transferred to this classification include the Corporation’s large ticket lease portfolio, which was
principally transaction based, selected types of loans which were also transaction based (leveraged loans, project
financings) and loans to companies where a broad-fee based relationship does not exist or for which the customer
does not meet the Corporation’s credit quality criteria. The Corporation will not renew its credit relationship
with such companies when the respective contractual commitment periods end. The Corporation may consider
selling remaining commitments on a case-by-case basis as opportunities arise.

The Other Activity sector recorded a pre-tax loss of $96 million in 2002, compared with a pre-tax loss of

$438 million in 200} and pre-tax income of $130 million in 2000. Other Activity in 2002 includes realized and
unrealized losses resulting from venture capital investments. See pages 33 and 34 for a discussion of the venture
capital activity in 2002. Also included in other activity is $59 million of gains from the sale of mortgage-backed
investment securities, a $23 million gain resulting from the resolution of indemnification issues and sales of
remaining residential loans related to the 1999 sale of the mortgage business and the $18 million of severance
expense. As shown in the table above, business exits activity in 2002 reported a loss of $72 million, reflecting
credit quality expense of $166 million, partially offset by net interest and other revenue from business exits credit
relationships.

The results for 2001 include realized and unrealized losses from venture capital investments and a $57 million
loss on the disposition of large corporate loans. Expenses in 2001 includes the $62 million of expenses related to
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Project LEAP, consulting and for the settlement of a contractual dispute, discussed further in Operating expense
on page 18. The results for 2000 includes $30 million of gains from venture capital investments. Credit quality
revenue for 2000 primarily includes gains on the sales of other real estate owned.

Venture capital investments

The Corporation regards its accounting policies related to venture capital investments to be critical to the
presentation of the Corporation’s financial condition since they require management to make numerous complex
and subjective estimates and valuation assumptions relating to amounts which are inherently uncertain. These
policies are discussed below.

As shown in the table on page 34, the Corporation’s venture capital portfolio had a carrying value of

$574 million at Dec. 31, 2002, or 67% of the original cost basis of active investments. The $574 million was
comprised of $3 million of investments in public companies, $372 million of investments in privately owned
companies and $199 million of investments in private equity funds.

The Corporation’s venture capital investments include direct investments in both publicly traded and privately
held companies and indirect investments in private equity funds in which the Corporation holds a limited
partnership interest. The carrying value of all investments represents their current estimated fair value, with
changes in fair value recognized in equity investment revenue in noninterest revenue. Direct investments include
both equity and mezzanine investments. Direct mezzanine investments in the form of subordinated debt are
included in loans on the balance sheet, while equity investments are included in other assets. Indirect
investments in private equity funds are included in other assets.

Each quarter, a complete review of the fair value of each direct venture capital investment is performed and its
risk rating of “superior,” “‘meets expectations,” “below expectations,” “declining” or “new investment not yet
rateable,” is updated. The fair value of direct investments in public companies is estimated using a valuation
methodology based on the stocks’ publicly quoted prices. Due to the volatility of equity markets, volume of
trading compared to the Corporation’s holdings, economic and other factors, the amounts ultimately realized
from the liquidation of an investment may vary greatly. The fair value of direct investments in privately owned
companies is estimated by management by evaluating several factors and utilizing available information, which
includes market comparables, current and subsequent financings, willingness of co-investors or others to provide
financial support, sustainable economic performance and growth, product marketability, scalability, actual
performance versus business plans and the effectiveness of the portfolio company’s management team in
implementing its business plan and their ability to adapt to a changing marketplace. In addition, external factors
such as the overall economy, competitors and the sector in which the company operates are considered. The
analysis of these and any other relevant factors requires significant judgment on the part of management, and
certain of the information that would be useful in analysis may be limited.

General partners of private equity funds use fair value assessment practices that are similar to those used by the
Corporation as well as judgment in assessing the fair value of equity investments. As part of its quarterly review
of the fair values reported by the fund’s general partner, the Corporation’s management assesses the fund
manager’s ability to provide ongoing support and guidance to its portfolio companies as well as its ability to
perform an effective assessment of the fair value of its fund’s portfolio of investments. Since most of the
Corporation’s indirect investments in private equity funds represent only a small limited partnership percentage
ownership in the individual private equity funds, access to detailed information on individual fund portfolio
investments is limited. Valuation estimates provided by the fund managers are reviewed and analyzed with
available measurement data. Also, investments in private equity funds are regarded as long term investments that
are subject to substantial restrictions on transferability.
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All direct investment valuations are reviewed by the Mellon Ventures Board of Directors quarterly and indirect
investment valuations are reviewed semi-annually. Adjustments of the carrying values and the fair value
determination process are also audited by the Corporation’s Audit and Risk Review department and reviewed
quarterly with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

In summary, management’s quarterly estimates of fair values are based on several factors including: available
information about companies; current economic conditions; willingness of co-investors or others to provide
financial support; available market comparables; product marketability; scalability; legal restrictions;
effectiveness of the companies’ management teams; actual performance versus business plans; and other factors.
The fair value estimates could differ significantly among parties using different assumptions or judgments.
Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not necessarily represent amounts that will ultimately be realized.

Venture capital investment portfolio activity 2002 Life to
(in millions) Activity Date Activity
Direct investments:

Beginning carrying value $383 $ -
Investments - new investments 22 591
Investments - additional funding for existing investments 490 275
Realized - cost basis of exits (a) and write-offs (78) (258)
Net unrealized gains/(losses) 8 (233)
Ending carrying value (b) $375 $ 375

(a) Cash received on exits. $ 16 $195

(b) At Dec. 31, 2002, there were 87 actively managed investments with an average original cost basis of 37 million. The
Corporation was conunitted to provide additional funding of 32 million for direct investments at Dec. 31, 2002.
Commitments are discussed in Note 27.

Fund investments (indirect):

Beginning carrying value $172 S -
Draws against fund capital commitments 43 370
Realized - cost basis of exits (¢) and write-offs 43) (119)
Net unrealized gains/(losses) 27 (52)
Ending carrying value (d) $199 $ 199
(¢) Cash received on exits. $ 17 3 98

(d) The Corporation was committed to provide additional funding of $237 million for indirect fund investments at Dec. 31,
2002. No new commitments for indirect funds were made in 2002. Commitments are discussed in Note 27. At Dec. 31,
2002 the Corporation began to include miscellaneous other indirect equiry investments of $36 million in the carrying
value of venture capital investments. These investments totaled $31 million ar Dec. 31, 2001. Previously, these
investments were reported as Other Assets. The life to date activiry amounts have been restated to include these
investments. In addition, at Dec. 31, 2002, $39 million was included in commitments to provide additional funding
related to these investments.

Total investments:

Active investments cost basis $ 859
Unrealized gains/(losses) (285)
Ending carrying value $574 (e}

(e) Represents 67% of active investments cost basis.
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Capital

Selected capital data at year end
(dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts;

common shares in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Total shareholders’ equity $ 3,395 $ 3482 $ 4,152
Total shareholders’ equity to assets ratio 9.37% 9.79% 8.24%
Tangible shareholders™ equity $ 1,681 $ 1,986 $ 3,073
Tangible shareholders’ equity to assets ratio (a) 4.87 % 5.84% 6.25%
Tier I capital ratio (b) 7.87 % 8.81% 7.23%
Total (Tier I plus Tier II) capital ratio (D) 12.48% 13.65% 11.74%
Leverage capital ratio (b} 6.55% 6.31% 7.11%
" Book value per common share $ 7.88 $ 7.80 $ 833
Tangible book value per common share $ 3.90 $ 445 $ 0631
Closing common stock price per share $ 26.11 $ 37.62 $ 49.19
Market capitalization $11,248 $16,798 $23.941
Common shares outstanding 430,782 446,509 486,739

(a) Shareholders’ equity plus minority interest and less goodwill and intangible assets divided by total assets less goodwill
and intangible assets. Minority interest totaled $17 million, $52 million, and $89 million, respectively The amount of
goodwill and intangible assets subtracted from shareholders’ equity and total assets is net of the tax benefit. Tax
benefits related to tax deductible goodwill and intangible assets rotaled 3448 million, $299 million and $191 million,
respectively.

(b) Includes discontinued operations.

The Corporation’s capital ratios at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with Dec. 31, 2001 and Dec. 31, 2000, reflect the
effect of common stock repurchases and the effect of a higher level of goodwill and other intangibles resulting
from acquisitions.

The Corporation repurchased 20.4 million shares of common stock in 2002, at a purchase price of $698 million
for an average share price of $34.27. Common shares outstanding at Dec. 31, 2002, were 17.8% lower than at
Jan. 1, 1999, a 93.1 million share reduction, net of shares reissued primarily for employee benefit plan purposes.
This reduction was due to stock repurchases totaling approximately $4.5 billion, at an average share price of
$36.81. At Dec. 31, 2002, an additional 2.0 million common shares were available for repurchase under a

25 million share repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in November 2001. In October 2002,
the Board of Directors authorized an additional repurchase program of up to 25 million shares of common stock.
At Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation’s common shares and equivalents totaled 432.9 million shares. As discussed
on the following page, the Corporation is committed to maintaining its capital ratios above the regulatory
definition of “‘well capitalized.” In addition, it seeks to maintain a tangible shareholders’ equity to assets ratio (as
defined above) in a range of 5% to 6%. As such, the level of common stock repurchases in 2003 could be lower
than in prior years. The tangible shareholders’ equity to assets ratio at Dec. 31, 2002 of 4.87% was impacted by a
high liquidity level of institutional deposits at year-end.
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The Corporation considers the available uses for its tangible internal capital generation to be dividends to
shareholders, internal investments in support of growth, growth acquisitions and share repurchases. Following
the Citizens transaction and other divestitures in the latter half of 2001, the Corporation’s balance sheet was
significantly reduced and its resultant mix of businesses were such that the majority of internal expenditures
required for growth will be expensed when incurred. The Corporation also realigned its quarterly dividend to
shareholders in November 2001 from $.24/share to $.12/share (increased to $.13/share in October 2002) to
maintain its net internal capital generation following the sale to Citizens and its other divestitures. The
Corporation therefore expects the majority of its internal capital generation to be available for growth
acquisitions or, to the extent such acquisitions are not pending, for the repurchase of common stock, all subject to
maintaining its commitment to remain well capitalized. The Corporation follows the regulatory definition of
“well capitalized”, of a 6% Tier I ratio, a 10% Total Capital ratio (Tier I plus Tier II) and a 5% Leverage Capital
ratio, as discussed below.

Commeon shares outstanding

(in millions) 2002 2001
Beginning shares outstanding 446.5 486.7
Shares issued primarily for stock-based benefit plans and dividend reinvestment plan 4.7 10.8 (b)
Shares repurchased (a} (20.4) (51.0) (b)
Ending shares outstanding 430.8 446.5

(a) Purchase price of $698 million for an average share price of $34.27 in 2002, and a purchase price of $2.013 billion for
an average share price of $39.51 in 2001. The combined purchase price paid in both years was $2.711 billion for an
average share price of $38.01.

(b) Includes shares purchased and issued as part of the purchase price of Eagle Investment Systems.

Regulatory capital

The Corporation and its banking subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered
by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory--
and possibly additional discretionary--actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect
on the Corporation’s financial results. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for
prompt corrective action, the Corporation and its banking subsidiaries must meet specific capital guidelines that
involve quantitative measures of the Corporation’s and its banking subsidiaries’ assets, liabilities and certain off-
balance-sheet items, as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification
also are subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

For a banking institution to qualify as well capitalized, its Tier I, Total and Leverage capital ratios must be at
least 6%, 10% and 5%, respectively. All of the Corporation’s banking subsidiaries qualified as well capitalized
at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001. The Corporation intends to maintain the ratios of its banking subsidiaries above the
well-capitalized levels. By maintaining ratios above the regulatory well-capitalized guidelines, the Corporation’s
banking subsidiaries receive the benefit of lower FDIC deposit insurance assessments.

36




Capital (continued)

In April 2002, new regulatory capital requirements became effective for banks, bank holding companies and
financial holding companies holding equity investments in nonfinancial companies and/or holding equity
investments made under the new merchant banking authority granted by the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. In
general, the rules require that certain percentages, ranging from 8% to 25%, of an institution’s equity investments
be deducted from Tier I capital. The capital charges increase in steps as the level of an institution’s overall
exposure to equity investment activities in nonfinancial companies increases relative to the institution’s level of
Tier I capital. The Corporation’s regulatory capital ratios were not materially impacted by these regulatory
capital requirements.

Risk-based and leverage capital ratios at year end (a)

(dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001
Tier I capital:
Common shareholders’ equity (b) $ 3,281 $ 3,408
Trust-preferred securities 992 991
Minority interest 17 52
Goodwill and certain other intangibles (2,185) (1,864)
Other (53) (1)
Total Tier I capital 2,082 2,586
Tier II capital 1,220 1,420
Total qualifying capital $ 3,302 $ 4,006
Risk-adjusted assets:
On-balance-sheet $17,547 $18.246
Off-balance-sheet 8,913 11,101
Total risk-adjusted assets $26,460 $29,347
Average assets - leverage capital basis $31,771 $40,958
Tier I capital ratio (¢) 7.87 % 8.81%
Total capital ratio (¢) 12.48 13.65
Leverage capital ratio {c)(d) 6.55 6.31

(a) Includes discontinued operations.

(b) In accordance with regulatory guidelines, the 8114 million of net unrealized gains at Dec. 31, 2002, and $74 million of
net unrealized gains at Dec. 31, 2001, net of tax, on assets classified as available for sale, and cash flow hedges have
been excluded.

(c) The required minimum Tier I, Toral and Leverage capital ratios are 4%, 8% and 3%, respectively.

(d) Tier I capital to average total assets (as defined for regulatory purposes), net of the loan loss reserve, goodwill and
certain other intangibles.
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Risk-based and leverage capital ratios for largest banking subsidiaries at year end (¢)

Minimum Well- Mellon Boston Safe
capital capitalized Bank, N.A. Deposit and Trust
(dollar amounts in millions) ratios (b) ratios (b) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Amount:
Tier I capital $ 1,945 $ 2,115 $ 301 $ 340
Total qualifying capital 2,820 3,148 305 343
Risk-adjusted assets 20,547 23,731 1,721 1,972
Average assets-leverage
capital basis 24,696 34,507 4,930 5,682
Ratios:
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.47% 8.91% 17.50% 17.25%
Total capital ratio 13.73 13.27 17.73 17.40
Leverage capital ratio 7.88 6.13 6.11 5.99
{a) Includes discontinued operations.
{b) As defined by the Federal Reserve Board and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.

Acquisition-related intangibles

When computing Tier I capital, the Corporation deducts all goodwill and certain other identified intangibles
acquired subsequent to Feb. 19, 1992, except mortgage servicing assets.

Acguisition-related intangibles at year end

(in millions) 2802 2001 2000
Goodwill $2,065 $1,750 $1,335
Other identified intangibles ‘ 114 97 24

Total acquisition-related intangibles $2,179 (a) $1,847 $1,359

(a} At Dec. 31, 2002, $1.175 billion is tax deductible and 31.004 billion is non-tax deductible.

The $332 million increase in acquisition-related intangibles from Dec. 31, 2001, primarily resulted from goodwill
and intangible assets recognized from the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network, the May 2002 acquisition
of the remaining 5% interest in Newton Management Limited, and the recording of additional goodwill related to
contingent additional consideration relating to the Standish Mellon Asset Management acquisition. In
accordance with new accounting standards regarding business combinations and related accounting for goodwill
and intangible assets, goodwill is not being amortized subsequent to Dec. 31, 2001. See Note 3 for a further
discussion of the new accounting standards and additional disclosures related to intangibles.
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CORPORATE RISK

Risk overview

Risk identification and management are essential elements for the successful management of the Corporation.
The Corporation is involved with various financial instruments that potentially present risk. These instruments
are both on and off the balance sheet. On-balance-sheet instruments include securities, derivative instruments,
loans, deposits and borrowings. Off-balance-sheet instruments include loan commitments, standby letters of
credit, commercial letters of credit, securities lending arrangements, commitments to fund venture capital
investments and liquidity support provided to TRFCO. The primary risk exposures are liquidity risk; market risk,
which includes interest rate and currency risk; credit risk; fiduciary risk; and operational risk. Liquidity risk is
the possibility that the Corporation will not be able to fund present and future financial obligations. Market risk
is the possibility of lower fee revenue, net interest revenue or lower market values of assets and liabilities as
interest rates, exchange rates or equity markets fluctuate. Credit risk is the possibility of loss from a
counterparty’s failure to perform according to the terms of a transaction. Fiduciary risk is the possibility of loss
from actions taken on behalf of clients. Operational risk is the possibility of loss resulting from the failure of
processing or transactional activities due to human error, systems failures or inadequate procedures. The
Corporation controls and monitors these risks with policies, procedures and various levels of managerial
oversight. Because of the nature of its businesses, external factors beyond the Corporation’s control may, at
times, result in losses to the Corporation or its customers.

Liquidity and dividends

The Finance Committee of the Corporation is responsible for liquidity management pursuant to a Liquidity
Policy that covers all assets and liabilities, as well as off-balance-sheet items that are potential sources or uses of
liquidity. The Finance Committee is comprised of senior officers of the Corporation including officers from the
finance, lending, credit and risk review, and strategy and development departments. The policy is reviewed
annually with a committee of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.

The Corporation uses several key primary and secondary measures to assess the adequacy of the Corporation’s
liquidity position. The balance sheet is managed to ensure that these measures are maintained within approved
limits. Each of these measures is monitored on a periodic basis, giving consideration to the Corporation’s
expected requirements for funds and anticipated market conditions. Quarterly, the Finance Committee reviews a
liquidity stress simulation that evaluates how the liquidity position at that time might be impacted under adverse
funding conditions. The stress simulation is prepared under a gradual erosion scenario and under a crisis
scenario. All deposits and borrowed funds are categorized by their sensitivity to potential credit concerns. In
addition, the effect of other factors are considered including: prevailing credit market conditions; current debt
ratings and the ratings outlook; and commitments to extend credit. The simulation analysis has shown adequate
liquidity under both scenarios. The stress simulation is reviewed and updated to ensure current applicability with
changes in the Corporation’s balance sheet and changes in the marketplace.

The Corporation manages its liquidity position with the objective of maintaining the ability to fund balance sheet
commitments and to repay liabilities in accordance with their terms, even during periods of market or financial
stress. Assets and liabilities are managed in such a way to accommodate changes in funding requirements
without generating a material adverse impact on net income. Core demand and time deposits, gathered from the
Corporation’s private wealth management and corporate and institutional services businesses, are used in
conjunction with long term debt to provide stable sources of funding. Purchased funds, acquired from a variety
of sources and customers in worldwide financial markets, are used to supplement the core sources of funding.
Liquid assets, in the form of money market investments and portfolio securities held available for sale, are also
utilized to meet short-term requirements for cash. Liquidity is managed on both a consolidated basis and at
Mellon Financial Corporation, the Parent Corporation.
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Liquidity and dividends (continued)

The Parent Corporation has access to the following principal sources of liquidity: dividends and interest from its
subsidiaries, the commercial paper market. a revolving credit agreement with third party financial institutions and
access to the capital markets. The ability of national and state member bank subsidiaries to pay dividends to the
Parent Corporation is subject to certain regulatory limitations, as discussed in Note 25. Under the more
restrictive limitation, the Corporation’s national and state member bank subsidiaries can, without prior regulatory
approval, declare dividends subsequent to Dec. 31, 2002, of approximately $555 million, less any dividends
declared and plus or minus net profits or losses, as defined, earned between Jan. 1, 2003, and the date of any such
dividend declaration. To comply with regulatory guidelines, the Corporation and its subsidiary banks continually
evaluate the level of cash dividends in relation to their respective operating income, capital needs, asset quality
and overall financial condition.

At Dec. 31, 2002, the Parent Corporation held cash and marketable securities of $750 million. For 2002, the
Parent Corporation’s average commercial paper borrowings were $41 million compared with $489 million in
2001. Commercial paper outstanding at Dec. 31, 2002, totaled $9 million.

The Parent Corporation has a $300 million revolving credit agreement with financial institutions that expires in
June 2003. There were no borrowings under this facility at Dec. 31, 2002. The Parent Corporation also has the
ability to access the capital markets. As of Dec. 31, 2002, the Parent Corporation had an effective debt shelf
registration statement with $200 million of unused capacity. The Parent Corporation is expected to file a new
shelf registration statement in 2003. The revolving credit facility contains Tier I ratio and double leverage ratio
covenants, as discussed in Note 12, Access to the capital markets is partially dependent on the Corporation’s and
Mellon Bank, N.A.’s credit ratings which are shown in the following table.

The Corporation’s ability to access the capital markets was demonstrated in 2002 through the issuance of senior
and subordinated notes by the Parent Corporation. In June 2002, the Corporation issued $400 million of 4.875%
senior notes maturing in 2007. In November 2002, the Corporation issued $300 million of 5% subordinated
notes maturing in 2014.

During 2002, Mellon Bank, N.A. had a global note program that was subsequently terminated due to lack of
usage. At Dec. 31, 2002, the bank had $455 million of notes with original maturities greater than one year
outstanding under this program. There were no short-term notes outstanding under this program at Dec. 31, 2002
or 2001.

Contractual maturities of the Corporation’s long-term debt totaled $409 million in 2002, of which $400 million
was Parent Corporation term debt. Contractual maturities of long-term will total $616 million in 2003, of which
$461 million is Parent Corporation term debt. See Note 13 for additional information on the Corporation’s notes
and debentures.

Senior and subordinated debt

ratings at Dec. 31, 2002 Standard & Poor’s Moody’s Fitch
Mellon Financial Corporation:
Issuer rating - Al -
Senior debt A+ Al AA-
Subordinated debt A A2 A+
Mellon Bank, N A
Long-term deposits AA- Aa3 AA
Subordinated debt A+ Al A+

In the third quarter of 2002, the Corporation increased its annual common stock dividend to $.52 per share, an
increase of 8% from: the previous annual rate. The Corporation paid $213 million of common stock dividends in
2002, compared with $388 million in 2001. The common dividend payout ratio, on a net income basis, was 31%
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in 2002 on a dividend of $.49 per share compared with 29% in 2001 on a dividend of $.82 per share. Based upon
shares outstanding at Dec. 31, 2002, and the current quarterly common stock dividend rate of $.13 per share, the
annual dividend requirement in 2003 is expected to be approximately $225 million.

As shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and due from banks decreased by $449 million during
2002 to $2.728 billion at Dec. 31, 2002. The decrease resulted from $1.777 billion of net cash used in investing
activities and $73 million of net cash used in operating activities, partially offset by $1.389 billion of net cash
provided by financing activities. Net cash used in investing activities primarily resulted from net purchases of
securities available for sale and a higher level of federal funds sold, partially offset by a lower level of money
market investments. Net cash provided by financing activities primarily resulted from an increase in customer
deposits and the issuance of long-term debt partially offset by the repurchase of common stock and the dividends
paid on common stock. Net cash used in operating activities resulted from $531 million of net cash provided by
continuing operations offset by the net effect of discontinued operations of $604 million resulting from the
payment of income taxes on the net gain on the sale of discontinued operations.

Asset/liability management

(average balances in millions) 2002 2001
Assets:
Money market investments $ 2,448 $ 3,838
Trading account securities 744 436
Securities 10,116 9,412
Loans 9,445 9,843
Funds allocated to discontinued operations 184 -
Total interest-earning assets 22,931 23,529
Noninterest-earning assets {a) 10,698 9,457
Reserve for loan losses (140) (194)
Total assets $33,489 $32,792

Funds supporting total assets:

Core funds $28,866 $26,411
Purchased funds (a) ' 4,623 6,381
Funds supporting total assets $33,489 $32,792

(a) Excludes other assets and liabilities of discontinued operations.

The Corporation's average interest-earning assets decreased approximately $600 million in 2002, compared with
2001, as decreases in money market investments and loans were partially offset by increases in securities and
trading account securities.

Core funds, which are considered to be the most stable sources of funding, are defined principally as institutional
money market deposits and other deposit sweeps, individual money market and other savings deposits, savings
certificates, demand deposits, shareholders’ equity, notes and debentures with original maturities over one year,
trust-preferred securities, and other liabilities. Core funds primarily support core assets, which consist of loans,
net of the reserve, and noninterest-earning assets (excluding other assets of discontinued operations). Average
core assets increased $897 million in 2002 from the prior year, reflecting the higher level of noninterest earning
assets partially offset by a lower level of loans. Core funds averaged 144% of core assets in 2002 compared with
138% in 2001. The excess of core funds over core assets are typically invested in securities.

Purchased funds are defined as funds acquired in the wholesale money markets including deposits in foreign

offices (excluding cash management and sub-custodial sweep deposits), federal funds purchased and securities
sold under repurchase agreements, negotiable certificates of deposit, other time deposits, U.S. Treasury tax and
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loan demand notes, commercial paper, short-term bank notes, other funds borrowed, and funds allocated from
discontinued operations (excluding other liabilities of discontinued operations). Purchased funds decreased
$1.8 billion in 2002 from 2001, due to a decrease in funds allocated from discontinued operations and
commercial paper. Purchased funds as a percentage of total average assets totaled 14% in 2002 compared with
19% in 2001.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage the effects that interest rate fluctuations have on net
interest revenue and on the net present value of the Corporation’s assets, liabilities and derivative instruments.
Interest rate risk is measured using net interest margin simulation and asset/liability net present value sensitivity
analyses. Simulation tools serve as the primary means to gauge interest rate exposure. The net present value
sensitivity analysis is the means by which the Corporation’s long-term interest rate exposure is evaluated. These
analyses provide an understanding of the range of potential impacts on net interest revenue caused by interest rate
movements.

Computer modeling techniques are used to estimate the impact of changes in interest rates on the net interest
margin. The model uses the Dec. 31, 2002, consolidated balance sheet and derivative positions used for interest-
rate risk management adjusted for committed positions not settled as of that date. The simulation also
incorporates assumptions regarding the changes in the balance sheet composition, hedging strategies, and the
repricing of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing funds over the next 12 month period. These assumptions
have been developed utilizing both historical analyses and the anticipated pricing of future business activity.
Financial market conditions and management’s response to events may cause actual results to differ from
simulated results.

The Corporation has established the following guidelines for assuming interest rate risk:

Net interest margin simulation--Given a +/- 200 basis point change in short term interest rates and a +/- 165 basis
point change in long term rates over a six month period, the estimated one year total net interest margin may
not change by more than 10% from the rates unchanged results.

Portfolio equity simulation--Portfolio equity is the net present value of the Corporation’s existing assets,
liabilities and derivative instruments. Given a +/- 200 basis point immediate parallel shift in interest rates,
portfolio equity may not change by more than 20% of total shareholders’ equity.

The measurement of interest rate risk is meaningful only when all related on- and off-balance-sheet items are
aggregated and the net positions are identified. Financial instruments that the Corporation uses to manage
interest rate sensitivity include: money market assets; U.S. government and federal agency securities; municipal
securities; mortgage-backed securities; fixed-rate wholesale term funding; and interest rate swaps. The following
table illustrates the simulation analysis of the impact of a 50, 100 and 200 basis point shift upward or 50 and
100 basis point shift downward in interest rates on net interest revenue, earnings per share and return on equity.
Given the low interest rate environment that existed in 2002, the impact of a 200 basis point downward shift is
not shown in the table. This analysis was prepared using the levels of all interest-earning assets, supporting
funds and derivative instruments used for interest rate risk management at Dec. 31, 2002, assuming that the level
of loan fees remains unchanged and excluding the impact of interest receipts on nonperforming loans. The
impact of the rate movements was developed by simulating the effect of rates changing in a gradual fashion over
a six-month period from the Dec. 31, 2002, levels and remaining at those levels thereafter.
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Interest rate simulation sensitivity analysis
Movements in interest rates from Dec. 31, 2002 rates

Stmulated impact in the next 12 months Increase Decrease
compared with Dec. 31, 2002: +50 bp +100 bp +200 bp -50 bp__-100 bp
Net interest revenue (decrease) increase (0.6)% (L.6)% 4.7)% (0.4)Y% 3.1)%
Earnings per share (decrease) increase $(.01) $(.01) $(.04) 3- $(.03)
Return on equity (decrease) increase (6) bp (19) bp (56) bp 4y bp  (36) bp

The anticipated impact on net interest revenue under various scenarios did not exceed the Corporation’s
guidelines for assuming interest rate risk at both Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001. The simulation results reflect

the Corporation’s efforts to balance the repricing characteristics of its interest-earning assets and supporting
funds.

Managing interest rate risk with derivative instruments

The Corporation maintains an overall interest rate risk management strategy that incorporates the use of
derivative instruments to minimize significant unplanned fluctuations in earnings that are caused by interest rate
volatility. The Corporation’s goal is to manage interest rate sensitivity by modifying the repricing or maturity
characteristics of certain balance sheet assets and liabilities so that net interest revenue is not significantly
affected by movements in interest rates. As a result of interest rate fluctuations, fixed rate hedged assets and
liabilities will appreciate or depreciate in market value. The effect of this unrealized appreciation or depreciation
will generally be offset by income or loss on the derivative instruments that are designated as hedges of the
related assets and liabilities.

By policy, the Corporation will not enter into any new derivative contracts that, when aggregated into the total
corporate interest rate exposure, would cause the Corporation to exceed its established interest rate risk limits.
Interest rate swaps--including callable and basis swaps--caps and floors, financial futures and forwards and
financial options have been approved by the Board of Directors for managing the overall corporate interest rate
exposure. The use of financial futures, forwards and option contracts is permitted provided that: the transactions
occur in a market with a size that reasonably ensures sufficient liquidity; the contract is traded on an approved
exchange or, in the case of over-the-counter option contracts, is transacted with a credit-approved counterparty,
and the types of contracts have been authorized for use by the Finance Committee. These instruments provide
the Corporation flexibility in adjusting its interest rate risk position. Interest rate swaps generally involve the
exchange of fixed and variable rate interest payments between two parties, based on a common notional principal
amount and maturity date. Interest rate futures generally involve exchange traded contracts to buy or sell a
specified instrument in the future at specified prices. Interest rate options represent contracts that allow the
holder the right, but not the obligation to either purchase or sell a financial instrument at a specified price within
a specified period of time. Certain of these contracts also provide the Corporation with the right to enter into
interest rate swaps and cap and floor agreements with the writer of the option. By using derivative instruments to
manage interest rate risk, the desired effect is a smaller, more efficient balance sheet, with a lower wholesale
funding requirement and a higher net interest margin. Use of derivative instruments for speculative purposes is
not permitted outside of those areas designated as trading and is controlled with specific authorizations and
limits. The derivative instruments used to manage the Corporation’s interest rate risk are shown in the following
table. Additional information regarding these contracts is presented in Note 28.
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Maturities of derivative instruments used to manage interest rate risk Total at
Dec. 31,

(notional amounts in millions) 2003 2004 2005 2002

Receive fixed/pay floating
generic swaps (a):
Notional amount S $550 ; $2,150
Weighted average rate:
Recetve - 6.76% 5.92%
Pay 1.61% 1.46%

Receive fixed/pay floating
callable swaps (b):
Notional amount
Weighted average rate:
Receive
Pay

Pay fixed/receive floating
generic swaps (a):
Notional amount $1,980 $ 3 $1,989
Weighted average rate:
Receive 1.43% 2.79% 1.44%
Pay 2.75% 5.15% 2.76%

Total notional amount $1,980 56 $553 $300 $700 $1,100 $4,639
(a) Generic swaps’ notional amounts and lives are not based upon interest rate indices.
(b) These callable swaps are generic swaps with a call option at the option of the counterparty beginning Dec. 1, 2000.
Call options will be exercised or not exercised on the basis of market interest rates. Expected maturity dates, based
upon interest rates at Dec. 31, 2002, are shown in this table.

The following table presents the gross notional amounts of derivative instruments used to manage interest rate
risk, identified by the underlying interest rate-sensitive instruments. The gross notional amount of interest rate
swaps used to manage interest rate risk was $629 million lower at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with Dec. 31, 2001,
primarily due to maturities of instruments associated with deposits. The notional amounts shown in the tables
above and below should be viewed in the context of the Corporation’s overall interest rate risk management
activities to assess the impact on the net interest margin.

Interest rate swaps used to manage interest rate risk Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001

Instruments associated with long-term debt and trust-preferred securities $2,650 $2,800

Instruments associated with deposits 1,975 2,450

Instruments associated with loans 14 18
Total notional amount $4,639 $5,268

The interest received and interest paid are recorded on an accrual basis in the interest revenue and interest
expense accounts associated with the underlying liabilities and assets. The net differential resulted in interest
revenue of $94 million in 2002, compared with interest revenue of $44 million in 2001 and interest expense of
$13 million in 2000. The estimated unrealized fair value of the Corporation’s risk management derivative
instruments at Dec. 31, 2002, was a positive $277 million, compared with a positive $109 million at Dec. 31,
2001. The improvement primarily resulted from the decrease in interest rates in 2002. These values must be
viewed in the context of the overall financial structure of the Corporation, including the aggregate net position of
all on-and off-balance sheet financial instruments. As more fully discussed in Note 28, credit risk associated

44




Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

with risk management derivative instrument positions represents the aggregate replacement cost of contracts in a
gain position. At Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001, the amount of credit exposure associated with risk management
instruments was $262 million and $90 million, respectively.

Fair Value Hedges

The Corporation enters into interest rate swaps to convert portions of its fixed rate trust-preferred securities to
floating rate securities, its fixed rate long-term subordinated debt to floating rate debt and, to a lesser degree,
certain fixed rate loans to variable rate loans. The fixed rate liability instruments are changed to variable rate
instruments by entering into receive fixed/pay variable swaps and the fixed rate asset instruments are changed to
variable rate instruments by entering into pay fixed/receive variable swaps. No ineffectiveness was recorded for
the years ended Dec. 31, 2002 and Dec. 31, 2001.

Cash Flow Hedges

The Corporation uses interest rate swaps to convert money market deposits to fixed rate deposits and floating rate
long-term debt to fixed rate debt. The deposits and floating rate debt are changed to fixed rate by entering into

pay fixed/receive floating swaps. Ineffectiveness of less than $1 million was recorded for the years ended
Dec. 31, 2002 and Dec. 31, 2001.

Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments of the variable cash flows
associated with the Corporation’s deposits and floating rate long term debt are reported in comprehensive results.
These amounts are subsequently reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive results to interest expense in
the same period in which the related interest on the deposits and debt affects earnings.

During the next 12 months, approximately $5 million of losses, net of tax, on derivative instruments currently in
accumulated other comprehensive results related to the interest rate swaps are expected to be reclassified to
interest expense as a yield adjustment of the hedged obligation. The maximum term over which the Corporation
is hedging its exposure to variability of future cash flows is less than | year.

Hedges of Net Investment in Foreign Operations

The Corporation uses five year yen denominated debt to hedge its investment in a Japanese bank. The purpose of
this hedge is to protect against adverse movements in exchange rates.

Derivative instruments used for trading activities

The Corporation also enters into various foreign exchange and interest rate derivative contracts for trading
purposes. Trading activities primarily involve providing various derivative products to customers to assist them
in managing foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk and for managing the
Corporation’s risks in certain trading portfolios and as part of its proprietary trading activities. All of these
instruments are carried at market value with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in foreign
exchange revenue and securities trading revenue. Total credit risk of default on contracts used for trading
activities was $1.119 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, and $687 million at Dec. 31, 2001. The increase compared with
Dec. 31, 2001, primarily resulted from an increase in the value of foreign currency contracts and foreign currency
option contracts purchased. See Note 28 for a description and table of derivative instruments used for trading
activities.

The Corporation has established trading limits and related monitoring procedures to control trading risk. These
limits are approved by the Executive Management Group and reviewed by a committee of the Board of Directors.
All limits are monitored for compliance by departmental compliance staff and by the Corporation’s Audit and
Risk Review department. Exceptions to limits are reported to the Finance Committee.
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The financial risk associated with trading positions is managed by assigning position limits and stop-loss
guidance amounts to individual activities. The Corporation uses a value-at-risk methodology to estimate the
potential daily amount that could be lost from adverse market movements. Value-at-risk measures the potential
gain or loss in a portfolio of trading positions that is associated with a price movement of given probability over a
specified time frame. Position limits are assigned to each family of financtal instruments eligible for trading such
that the aggregate value-at-risk in these activities at any point in time will not exceed a specified limit given a
significant market movement. The extent of market movement deemed to be significant is based upon an
analysis of the historical volatility of individual instruments that would cover 95% of likely daily market
movements. The loss analysis includes the derivative instruments used for trading activities as well as the
financial assets and liabilities that are classified as trading positions on the balance sheet. Using the

Corporation’s methodology, which considers such factors as changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates,
spreads and related volatility, the aggregate value-at-risk for trading activities was approximately $5 million at
Dec. 31, 2002, compared with approximately $5 million at Dec. 31, 2001. The average daily value-at-risk for
trading activities in 2002 was approximately $5 million.

Trading activities are generally limited to products and markets in which liquidity s sufficient to allow positions
to be closed quickly and without adversely affecting market prices, which limits loss potential below that
assumed for a full-day adverse movement. Loss potential is further constrained in that it is highly unusual for all
trading areas to be exposed to maximum limits at the same time and extremely rare for significant adverse market
movements to occur in all markets simultaneously. Stop-loss guidance is used when a certain threshold of loss is
sustained. If stop-loss guidance amounts are approached, open positions may be liquidated to avoid further risk
to earnings. The use of stop-loss guidance in tandem with position limits reduces the likelihood that potential
trading losses would reach imprudent levels in relation to earnings capability.

Credit risk

Credit risk exists in financial instruments both on and off the balance sheet. Financial instruments such as loans
and leases are on the balance sheet. Off-balance-sheet credit exposures include commitments to extend credit,
standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees, commercial letters of credit, custodian securities lent
with indemnification against broker default of return of securities, commitments to fund venture capital
investments and liquidity support provided for Three Rivers Funding Corp. (TRFCO).

The objective of the credit risk management process is to reduce the risk of loss if a customer fails to perform
according to the terms of a transaction. Essential to this process are stringent underwriting of new loan
commitments, active monitoring of all loan portfolios and the early identification of potential problems and their
prompt resolution.

The Corporation establishes internal ownership, responsibility and accountability for all aspects of asset quality.
Notwithstanding this process, however, asset quality is dependent in large part upon local, national, international
and industry segment economic conditions that are beyond the Corporation’s control.

Management maintains a comprehensive centralized process through which the Corporation establishes exposure
limits, extends new loans, monitors credit quality, actively manages problem credits and disposes of
nonperforming assets. The Corporation’s Board of Directors is kept informed of credit activity through a series
of periodic reports. To help ensure adherence to the Corporation’s credit policies, department credit officers
report to both the Corporation’s chief risk officer and the head of each respective lending department. The
responsibilities of these credit officers include all aspects of the credit process except credit review, credit
recovery and aggregate portfolio management, which are centralized at the corporate level.

The Corporation manages both on- and off-balance-sheet credit risk by maintaining a well-diversified credit
portfolio and by adhering to its written credit policies, which specify general underwriting criteria as well as
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underwriting standards for specific industries and control credit exposure by borrower, counterparty, degree of
risk, industry and country. These measures are adopted by the Senior Credit Committee and are regularly
updated to reflect the committee’s evaluation of developments in economic, political and operating environments
that could affect lending risks. The Corporation may adjust credit exposure to individual industries or customers
through loan sales, syndications, participations and the use of master netting agreements when the Corporation
has more than one transaction outstanding with the same customer. In addition, credit risk to the large corporate
market is being managed by generally lending only to investment grade or equivalent customers that have
existing relationships with the Corporation’s non-credit fee-based businesses.

All credit extensions, except for certain extensions of traditional personal credit products, are approved jointly by
officers of the Risk Management department and officers of the lending departments. Loans not approved in this
manner are underwritten according to standards jointly approved by the Risk Management and the lending
departments. The number and level of officer approvals required are determined by the dollar amount and risk
characteristics of the credit extension. The amount of collateral, if any, obtained by the Corporation upon the
extension of credit is based on industry practice as well as the credit assessment of the customer. The type and
amount of collateral vary, but the form generally includes: accounts receivable; inventory; property, plant and
equipment; other assets; and/or income-producing commercial properties with appraised values that exceed the
contractual amount of the credit facilities by pre-approved ratios.

The Corporation continually assesses the risk of its credit facilities, and assigns a numerical risk rating to
substantially all extensions of credit in its commercial, real estate and international portfolios. Lending officers
have the primary responsibility for monitoring their portfolios, identifying emerging problem loans and
recommending changes in risk ratings. To anticipate or detect problems that may result from economic
downturns or deteriorating conditions in certain markets. lending units and credit management use processes
designed to identify potential credit problems, both for specific customers and for industries that could be
affected by adverse market or economic conditions. When signs of credit deterioration are detected, credit
recovery or other specialists become involved to minimize the Corporation’s exposure to potential future credit
losses. The Credit Review division of the Audit and Risk Review department provides an independent
assessment of credit ratings, credit quality and the credit management process. For a further discussion of the
credit risk associated with off-balance-sheet financial instruments and derivative instruments used for trading and
risk management purposes, see the discussions of the various financial instruments in Note 27 and Note 28.
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Composition of loan portfolic

The loan portfolio decreased $102 million at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with Dec. 31, 2001. primarily reflecting a
lower level of commercial real estate and lease finance assets partially offset by higher commercial and financial
and personal loans. At Dec. 31, 2002, the composition of the loan portfolio was 85% commercial and 15%
personal.

Composition of loan portfolio at year end
(in millions) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Domestic loans and leases:
Commercial and financial $3,807 $3,618 $ 4,994 $ 6,900 $ 7.590
Commercial real estate 2,227 2,536 2,178 1,795 1,554
Personal 1,290 1,124 1,401 1,802 4,193
Lease finance assets 556 637 644 796 876
Total domestic loans and leases 7,880 7915 9,217 11,293 14213
International loans and leases 558 625 1.009 1,176 1,554
Total loans and leases, net of unearned
discount $8,438 (a) $8,540 $10,226 $12.,469 $15,767
(a) At Dec. 31, 2002, amount includes $2.631 billion of loans to Private Wealth customers and 3972 million of loans to
Mellon st Business Bank customers.
Note: There were no concentrations of loans to borrowers engaged in similar activities, other than those shown in this table,
that exceeded 10% of toral loans at year end.

Commercial and finarcial

The domestic commercial and financial loan portfolio primarily consists of loans to corporate borrowers in
various industry sectors, as shown in the table on page 50. Numerous risk factors impact this portfolio, including
industry-specific risks such as the economy, new technology, labor rates and cyclicality, as well as customer-
specific factors such as cash flow, financial structure, operating controls and asset quality. The Corporation
diversifies risk within this portfolio by closely monitoring industry concentrations and portfolios to ensure that
they do not exceed established lending guidelines. Diversification is intended to limit the risk of loss from any
single unexpected economic event or trend. Credit risk is also managed by exiting credit relationships with
customers that do not also have a broad-based fee relationship with the Corporation.

Total domestic commercial and financial loans increased by $189 million, or 5%, at Dec. 31, 2002, compared to
Dec. 31, 2001, primarily resulting from no longer referring transactions to Sweetwater Capital Corp., as
discussed in Note 7. Sweetwater had no loans receivable at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with $1.1 billion at

Dec. 31, 2001. The impact of no longer referring loans to Sweetwater was substantially offset by actions taken to
reduce exposure to the corporate and institutional marketplace and from a securitization of insurance premiumn
financing loans. Domestic commercial and financial loans represented 45% of the total loan portfolio at Dec. 31,
2002, compared with 42% at Dec. 31, 2001.

Commercial real estate

The commercial real estate loan portfolio consists of commercial mortgages, which generally are secured by
nonresidential and multifamily residential properties, and commercial construction loans generally with
maturities of 60 months or less. Commercial real estate loans carry many of the same customer and industry risks
as the commercial and financial portfolio, as well as contractor/subcontractor performance risk in the case of
commercial construction loans and cash flow risk based on project economics. Domestic commercial real estate
loans decreased by $309 million, or 12%, at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with Dec. 31, 2001. Domestic commercial
real estate loans represented 26% of the total loan portfolio at Dec. 31, 2002, down from 30% at Dec. 31, 2001.
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Personal loans

Personal loans, which principally consist of secured personal credit lines and mortgages for customers in the
Private Wealth Management sector, was $1.290 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, an increase of $166 million, or 15%,
from Dec. 31, 2001. At Dec. 31, 2002, loans to Private Wealth customers totaled $2.631 billion, which included
$1.1 billion of loans classified as personal loans.

Lease finance assets

Lease finance assets, which represent large ticket leases, totaled $556 million at Dec. 31, 2002, a decrease of
$81 million, or 13%. compared with Dec. 31, 2001. Lease finance assets represented 7% of the total loan
portfolio at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with 8% at Dec. 31, 2001. Large ticket lease assets will continue to run-off
through repayments, possible sales and no new originations.

International loans and leases

Loans and leases to international borrowers, which include the foreign subsidiaries of U.S. corporations, totaled
$558 million at Dec. 31, 2002, a decrease of $67 million, or 11%, from $625 million at Dec. 31, 2001, primarily
due to decreased activity with large corporate customers and foreign banks. International loans represented 7%
of the total loan portfolio at Dec. 31, 2002, unchanged from Dec. 31, 2001.
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Large corporate commercial and financial loans - by industry sector

Large corporate commercial and financial loans at Dec. 31, 2002 - by industry sector
(dollar amousnts in millions)

Contractual maturities
Industry sector Loans and Jeases Investment grade (a) <1 vear 1-5vears >S5 years
Large corporate commercial
and financial:

Electric and gas utilities $ 296 59% $ 225 % 71 $ -
Cable/media 249 38% - 206 43
Electrical and electronic equipment 212 90% 93 119 -
Energy 120 34% 35 72 13
Insurance 108 100% 7 101 -
Pharmaceuticals 108 100% 76 32 -
Transportation and warehousing 103 2% 35 66 2
Chemicals 97 40% 18 79 -
Investment management companies 94 93% 61 31 2
Services 92 73% 14 75 3
Financial institutions 71 100% 43 28 -
Health care and social assistance 66 100% 42 24
Scientific and medical equipment 63 90% 1 62 -
Telecommunications 62 4% 15 47 -
Paper and allied products 51 41% 31 20 -
All other 994 82% 452 515 27
Total commercial and financial -
large corporate $2.786 70% $1.148 $1,548 390
Total commercial and financial -
other lines of business (b) 2,135
Total (¢) $4,921
Commercial real estate 2,227
Personal loans 1,290
Total $8,438

{a) Investment grade loans are those where the customer has a Moody’s long-term rating of Baa3 or better, and/or a
Standard and Poor’s long-term rating of BBB- or better, or if unrated, has been assigned an equivalent rating using the
Corporation’s internal risk rating. The percentages in the table are based upon the dollar amounts of investment grade
loans as a percentage of the related dollar amount of loans for each industry sector.

(b) Includes loans originated by AFCO/CAFO, insurance premium financing subsidiaries ($557 million), Mellon United
National Bank ($181 million), Mellon 1st Business Bank ($414 million) and lease finance loans {3556 million).

(c) Includes commercial and financial, lease finance and international loans.
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Unfunded commitments to extend credit

Unfunded commitments to extend credit totaled $18.9 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, a $4.7 billion, or 20%, reduction
compared with Dec. 31, 2001. The decrease resulted from the reduction or elimination of exposure at the
maturity of the commitment, and from sales.

Unfunded commitments to extend credit at Dec. 31, 2002
(dollar amounts in millions)

Unfunded commitments to extend credit

Number of Investment Commitment expiration Memo:
Industry sector (a) customers (b) Commitments grade (¢) <l vear 1.5 vears >S5 vears Loans
Large corporate:
Financial institutions 36 $ 2011 100% $ 1,506 $ 505 $ - $ 71
Captive finance companies 10 991 97% 618 373 - 23
Insurance 48 1,748 99% 1,051 697 - 108
Electric and gas utilities 48 1,321 100% 1,005 316 - 296
Investment management
companies 27 1,129 100% 1,048 81 - 94
Energy 33 991 97% 578 413 - 120
Services 24 921 98% 592 329 - 92
Electrical and electronic
equipment 19 800 90% 346 454 - 212
Cable/media 22 742 92% 262 457 23 249
Chemicals 28 674 87% 263 411 - 97
Telecommunications 7 621 100% 515 106 - 62
Metals 11 597 95% 347 250 - 23
Industrial machinery :
and equipment 13 549 93% 278 271 - 37
Food, tobacco and
kindred products 10 524 100% 127 397 - 26
All other 159 4,074 93% 1,795 2,260 19 1,276

Total commercial and
financial - large
corporate 495 $17,693 96% $10,331 $7.320 $ 42 $2,786
Total commercial and
financial - other

lines of business (d) 1,016 $ 503 41% $ 440 $ 55 $ 8 $2,133
Total (e) 1,511 $18,196 95% $10,771 $7.375 $ 50 $4,921
Commercial real estate 868 497 1% 232 254 11 2,227
Personal loans N/M 161 N/M 64 49 438 1,290
Total N/M $18,854 N/M $11,067 $7,678 $109 $8,438

(a) The industry sectors shown are those that comprise $500 million or more of unfunded commercial and financial commitments.

(b) Number of customers represents those customers with available commitments.

(c) Investment grade comminments are those where the customer has a Moody's long-term rating of Baa3 or better, and/or a
Standard and Poor’s long-term rating of BBB- or better, or if unrated, has been assigned an equivalent rating using the
Corporation’s internal risk rating. The percentages in the table are based upon the dollar amounts of investment grade
commitments as a percentage of the related dollar amount of commitments for each industry sector.

(d) Includes commitiments originated by Mellon United National Bank ($77 million), Mellon st Business Bank (3425 million) and
lease finance (31 million).

(e) Includes commercial and financial, lease finance and international loans and commitments.

N/M -- Not meaningful for this disclosure.

Foreign outstandings

Foreign outstandings include loans, acceptances, interest-bearing deposits with other banks, other interest-bearing
investments and related accrued interest. Country distributions are based on the location of the obligor. Short
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term interest-bearing deposits with banks represent over 74% of the Corporation’s foreign outstandings. The
following table presents the foreign outstandings in each country where such outstandings exceed 1% of the
Corporation’s total assets.

Foreign outstandings (in millions) Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
United Kingdom $892 $916
France Less than 1% 940
Canada Less than 1% 634
Grand Cayman Islands Less than 1 % 500
Note: Aggregate foreign outstandings falling between .75% and 1.00% of total assets at Dec. 31, 2002, totaled $313 million
SJor Canada. There were no individual countries with aggregate foreign outstandings falling between .75% and 1.00% of
total assets at Dec. 31, 2001.

Nonperforming assets

Nonperforming assets are assets for which revenue recognition has been suspended or is restricted.
Nonperforming assets include both nonperforming loans and acquired property, primarily other real estate owned
(OREQ) acquired in connection with the collection effort on loans. Nonperforming loans include both
nonaccrual and restructured loans. Past-due commercial loans are those that are contractually past due 90 days or
more but are not on nonaccrual status because they are well secured and in the process of collection. Past-due
personal loans, excluding mortgages, are generally not classified as nonaccrual but are charged off on a formula
basis upon reaching various stages of delinquency. Additional information regarding the Corporation’s practices
for placing assets on nonaccrual status is presented in Note 1.

Nonperforming assets at year end

{dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Nonaccrual loans:
Commercial and financial $54 $42 $159 $60 $16
Personal 3 2 5 18 18
Commercial real estate - 1 1 i 2
Lease finance assets - 14 - - -
Total nonaccrual loans 57 59 165 79 36
Restructured loans - - - - -
Total nonperforming loans (a)(b) 57 59 165 79 36
Acquired property:
Real estate acquired 2 2 7 6 32
Reserve for real estate acquired - - - (H )]
Net real estate acquired 2 2 7 5 27
Other assets acquired - 1 - 3 2
Total acquired property 2 3 7 8 29
Total nonperforming assets $59 $62 $172 $87 $65
Nonperforming loans as a percentage of total loans 68% .69% 1.61% .63% 23%
Nonperforming assets as a percentage of
total loans and net acquired property 70% 12% 1.68% 70% 41%
Nonperforming assets as a percentage of Tier I
capital plus the reserve for loan losses 2.66 % 2.30% 4.97% 2.61% 1.80%

a) Includes $1 million, $16 million, 356 million, $40 million, and $17 million, respectively, of loans with both principal and
interest less than 90 days past due but placed on nonaccrual status by management discretion. These amounts represent
1%, 27%, 34%, 51%, and 47%, respectively, of total nonperforming loans.

(b) There were no international nonperforming loans at Dec. 31, 2002 or Dec. 31, 2001.
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Nonperforming loans totaled $57 million at Dec. 31, 2002, a $2 million decrease from Dec. 31, 2001. As shown
in the following table, the Corporation aggressively managed the level of nonperforming loans, as additions of
$244 million in 2002 were offset by sales, credit losses and repayments. The additions to nonperforming status
in 2002 resulted primarily from $108 million of loans made to a customer in the cable/media industry, a

$100 million loan to WorldCom, Inc., a $15 million loan to a major consumer goods retailer and a $8 million
commercial real estate loan. The cable/media, consumer goods and commercial real estate loans were sold and
credit losses of $25 million were recorded in conjunction with the sales. In addition, an $85 million credit loss
was recorded on the WorldCom, Inc. loan. Of the $59 million balance of total nonperforming assets at Dec. 31,
2002, $39 million was with a California-based electric and natural gas utility company that voluntarily filed for
Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the second quarter of 2001, $15 million was the remaining balance of the
loan to WorldCom, Inc. and $5 million consists of various smaller loans and acquired assets.

Change in nonperforming loans for the year ended Dec. 31,

2002
Lease
Commercial Commercial finance Total
(in millions) & financial Personal real estate assets 2002 2001
Nonperforming loans at beginning of year $ 42 $2 $1 $14 $ 59 $ 165
Additions 227 6 11 - 244 213
Cash proceeds from sales (99) - 2} - (106) (214)
Cash proceeds from payments (a) 3 (2) 3) 7 15 20
Return to accrual status - (1) - - (O (H
Credit losses from sales (26) - 1 - (27) (29)
Credit losses - other 87 (1) 3] 7) (96) (55)
Transfers to acquired property - (1) - - (1) -
Nonperforming loans at end of year $ 54 $3 $ - $ - $ 57 $ 59

{(a) Includes interest applied to principal.

A loan is considered impaired, as defined by SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a
Loan,” when, based upon current information and events, it is probable that the Corporation will be unable to
collect all principal and interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.
Additional information regarding impairment is presented in Note 1.

Impaired loans

(in mullions) 2002 2001 2000
Impaired loans at year end (a) $54 $ 43 $160
Average impaired loans for the year 91 143 123
Interest revenue recognized on impaired loans (b) 5 I 1

{a) Includes $39 million, $41 million, and $79 million of impaired loans with a related impairment reserve of $2 million,
33 million, and $48 million ar Dec. 31, 2002, Dec. 31, 2001, and Dec. 31, 2000, respectively.
(b) All income was recognized using the cash basis method of income recognition.

Foregone interest on nonperforming loans at year end

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000 (a) 1999 (a) 1998 (a)

Contractual interest due $6 $5 $29 $12 $7

Interest revenue recognized 4 3 9 4 3
Interest revenue foregone $2 $2 $20 38 $4

(a) Amounts include discontinued operations. Data on a continuing basis for years prior to 2001 is not readily available.
Note: This table includes interest revenue foregone during the year on loans that were nonperforming at the end of each
year. Interest receipts that the Corporation applied, for accounting purposes, to reduce principal balances of nonaccrual
loans are included in contractual interest due but not in interest revenue recognized.
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Nonperforming assets (continued)

The following table presents the amount of loans that were 90 days or more past due as to principal or interest
that are not classified as nonaccrual because the loans were either well secured and in the process of collection or
were non-real estate secured personal loans that are automatically charged off upon reaching various stages of
delinquency. generally 120 days past due. Real estate secured personal loans are generally placed on nonaccrual
status upon reaching 180 days past due.

Past-due loans at year end
(dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001

Personal $2 $-
Commercial & financial 1 1

Total past-due loans $3 (a) $1

(a) There were no international past-due loans at Dec. 31, 2002 and Dec. 31, 2001.

The folilowing table presents the amount of loans that were 30-59 days, 60-89 days and 90 days or more past due
as to principal or interest at Dec. 31, 2002.

Past-due loans at Dec. 31, 2002 Days past-due

(dollar amounts in millions) 30-59 60-89

Personal $12 $6
Commercial and financial 29 (a) 1
Commercial real estate 3 2

Total past-due loans $44 $9

(a) Includes a loan for approximately $25 million that was brought current in January 2003.

Provision and reserve for credit exposure

The Corporation’s accounting policies regarding the reserve for credit exposure are regarded as critical
accounting policies in that they involve significant management valuation judgements. The Corporation’s
banking subsidiaries maintain a reserve for loan losses that is intended to adjust the value of their loans for
probable credit losses. The banking subsidiaries also maintain a reserve for unfunded commitments, namely loan
commitments, letters of credit and bankers acceptances, that is reported as a liability on the Corporation’s
consolidated balance sheet. Provisions are recorded for each reserve. Transfers between the reserves can occur
in conjunction with funding a loan and thereby decreasing unfunded commitments or conversely repaying a loan
and thereby increasing unfunded commitments. The level of the reserve for unfunded commitments is
determined following a methodology similar to that used for the reserve for loan losses. The Corporation refers
to the combined balance of the reserve for loan losses and the reserve for unfunded commitments as the “reserve
for credit exposure.”

The reserve for credit exposure is maintained at a level that, in management’s judgment, is sufficient to absorb
losses inherent in both the loan portfolio and in unfunded commitments as of the balance sheet date. The reserve
is not specifically associated with individual loans or portfolio segments and is therefore available to absorb
credit losses arising from any portfolio segment. Management reviews the appropriateness of each reserve at
least quarterly and has developed a methodology designed to provide a procedural discipline in assessing the
appropriateness of the reserves.

Management’s estimate of each reserve component is based on certain observable data that management believes

is the most reflective of the underlying credit losses being estimated. Changes in the amount of each component
are directionally consistent with changes in the observable data and accompanying analysis.
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Provision and reserve for credit exposure (continued)

A key element of the methodology for determining the level of the reserve for credit exposure is the
Corporation’s credit risk evaluation process, which includes credit risk ratings of individual commercial loans
and unfunded commitments. Loans and unfunded commitments are assigned numerical credit risk grades based
on the assessment of conditions that affect the borrower’s ability to meet its contractual obligations under the
agreement. That process includes reviewing borrowers’ current financial information, historical payment
experience, credit documentation, public information, and other information specific to each borrower.

In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”, management provides a base reserve for
commercial facilities which are not impaired. Base rates are used to calculate the base reserve requirements for
the portfolio utilizing an internal category credit risk rating system to define pools of similar risk, and apply an
appropriate estimate of inherent losses to asset totals in each pool. These rates are compared with the results of
annual studies that are conducted to calculate actual historical loss experience and adjusted if appropriate. Base
reserve rates increase concomitantly with credit risk, as measured by the numerical ratings, in order to reflect the
higher expected loss experience for each of these similarly risk-rated pools. These base reserve rates are applied
to all non-impaired commercial loan bafances.

In accordance with SFAS No. 114, *“Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan”, any required
impairment reserves are included in the reserve for loan losses. Using the Corporation’s credit risk classification
criteria, loan impairment on specific loans, for which principal and interest is not expected to be collected when
contractually due, is measured based on observable market prices, the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent
with consideration being given to the Corporation’s collection strategy. There are no base reserves carried on
loans classified as impaired.

The methodology for determining the reserve for unfunded commitments parallels the reserve for loan losses.
The Corporation incorporates an estimate of probability of drawdown, correlated to the credit risk rating of the
commitment. An estimate of the probability of drawdown is applied to the commitment amount and then the
base rates used for outstanding loans of the same credit risk rating are applied.

In addition, management maintains an unallocated reserve against losses inherent in the portfolio, which have not
yet been specifically identified in the Corporation’s credit risk rating process, and thus not yet reflected in the
base and impairment reserves. This can be due to delays in obtaining information regarding borrower or industry
developments, or difficulty in immediately identifying increases in risk factors. Given ongoing changes in
portfolio volume, composition. and concentrations, the historical loss experience used to establish the inherent
loss estimates may not be perfectly applicable to the current portfolio. Due to the dynamic nature of these
conditions, management continually reviews and revises collectibility assumptions and reserve levels.

The Corporation’s reserve for credit exposure is solely an estimate based on management’s judgement. Due to
the significance of management’s judgement used to calculate the Corporation’s reserves, actual losses incurred
could be higher or lower than the estimated reserves. When losses on specific loans or commitments are
identified, management charges-off the portion deemed uncollectible. For purposes of illustrating the potential
sensitivity to changes in credit risk ratings of loans and unfunded commitments, the Corporation modeled the
estimated level of the reserve for credit exposure assuming that credit risk ratings both improved by one grade
and deteriorated by one grade for 25% of the loan balances in each risk rating category. This modeling resulted
in a revised estimated reserve for credit exposure of approximately $155 million and $230 million, respectively,
compared with the actual reserve of $179 million, discussed on the following page.

35




Provision and reserve for credit exposure (continued)

The allocation of the Corporation’s reserve for credit exposure is presented below. This allocation is judgmental,
and the entire reserve for credit exposure is available to absorb credit losses regardless of the type of loss.

Reserve for credit exposure Dec. 31,
(amounts in millions) 2002 2001
Reserve for loan losses:
Base reserves:
Commercial & financial $ 81 $59
Commercial real estate 3 9
Personal 6 5
Lease assets 5 9
International 4 2
Total base reserves 104 84
Impairment 2 3
Unallocated 21 9
Balance at year end $127 $96
Reserve for unfunded commitments:
Commitments $ 43 $ 30
Letters of credit and bankers acceptances 9 12
Balance at year end $ 52 $ 42
Total reserve for credit exposure $179 $138

Base reserves totaled $104 million at Dec. 31, 2002, an increase of $20 million compared with $84 million at
Dec. 31, 2001. This increase was primarily driven by commercial and financial base reserves which increased to
$81 million at Dec. 31, 2002 compared with $59 million at Dec. 31, 2001. The increase in commercial and
financial base reserves related to credit deterioration of customers in the large corporate marketplace, including
customers associated with allegations of accounting irregularities. In the second quarter of 2002, approximately
$120 million of the $140 million provision for loan losses and $1 million of the $20 million provision for
unfunded loan commitments related to customers associated with allegations of accounting irregularities. Credit
losses of $104 million were recorded in 2002 on loans to two of these customers.

Impairment reserves totaled $2 million at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with $3 million at Dec. 31, 2001. The
consistency in the impairment reserve reflects the minor change in nonperforming loans. Nonperforming loans as
a percentage of total loans were .68% at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with .69% at Dec. 31, 2001.

The unallocated reserve totaled $21 million at Dec. 31, 2002, an increase of $12 million compared with
$9 million at Dec. 31, 2001. At Dec. 31, 2002, the increase in the unallocated reserve reflected increased
uncertainty about the energy/electrical utilities and cable/media industries as well as concern over selected
instances of accounting irregularities and continued economic uncertainty.

The reserves on commitments totaled $43 million at Dec. 31, 2002, an increase of $13 million from Dec. 31,
2001, despite a decrease of $4.7 billion in undrawn commitments. This increase reflected a change in estimates
of inherent probable losses on commitments in 2002 and is consistent with economic events observed during the
year, including the continued deterioration of investment grade credits.

The reserves on letters of credit and bankers acceptances totaled $9 million at Dec. 31, 2002, a decrease of
$3 million from Dec. 31, 2001. This decrease resulted from the $1.1 billion decrease in standby letters of credit
in 2002.
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Provision and reserve for credit exposure (continued)

The provision for credit losses for 2002 totaled $172 million compared with a credit of $4 million in 2001. The
higher provision for credit losses in 2002 related in large part to a provision for credit exposure to customers
associated with allegations of accounting irregularities, downgrades of shared national credits, and higher
estimated inherent probable losses on commitments, as discussed previously. Net credit related losses totaled
$130 million in 2002, of which $104 million was on loans to two customers associated with accounting
irregularities. Of the $104 million of credit losses, $85 million was recorded on a $100 million loan to
WorldCom, Inc. The remainder resulted from the sale of $108 million of loans made to a customer in the
cable/media industry, which eliminated all exposure to that customer. The remaining credit losses primarily
related to commercial and financial loans. Net credit related losses totaled $82 million in 2001, primarily relating
to commercial and financial loans. The level of credit losses and recoveries relative to outstanding loans can
vary from period to period as a result of the size and number of individual credits that may require charge-off and
the effects of changing economic conditions.

The reserve for loan losses as a percentage of loans was 1.51% at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with 1.12% at

Dec. 31, 200}. The reserve as a percentage of nonperforming loans at Dec. 31, 2002, was 222%, compared with
164% at Dec. 31, 2001. These ratios are products of the reserve calculation methodology which estimates
appropriate reserves for each component of the loan portfolio. The resulting ratios are benchmarks, but not
targets. The ratio of the reserve for loan losses to nonperforming loans is an outcome of two interrelated but
separate processes: the establishment of an appropriate loan loss reserve level for the portfolio as a whole,
including the nonperforming component in the portfolio; and the classification of certain assets as nonperforming
in accordance with established accounting, regulatory and management policies. While the level of
nonperforming loans is an indication of the overall credit quality of the loan portfolio, there is no direct
correlation between the level of nonperforming loans and the size of the reserve for loan losses. The
Corporation’s management concluded that, at Dec. 31, 2002, the overall reserve level was appropriate to
recognize inherent losses in the loan portfolio. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors concurred.
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Provision and reserve for credit exposure (continued)

Reserve activity 2002 2001
Loan Unfunded Loan Unfunded
(dollar amounts in millions) losses commitments losses commitments
Reserve at beginning of year $ 96 $42 $254 $18
Credit losses:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial (87 - (25) -
Commercial real estate 3] - - -
Personal:
Credit cards - - - -
Other personal credit 2) - ) -
Lease finance assets ) - (14) -
Total domestic 97 - (40) -
International - - (15) -
Total credit losses ®7) - (55) -
Recoveries:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial 9 - 1 -
Commercial real estate 1 - - -
Personal:
Credit cards - - - -
Other personal credit 1 - - -
Lease finance assets 2 - - -
Total domestic i3 - ! -
International - - 1 -
Total recoveries 13 - 2 -
Net credit (losses) recoveries:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial (78) - (24) -
Commercial real estate - - - -
Personal:
Credit cards - - -
Other personal credit ® - (H -
Lease finance assets (5) - (14) -
Total domestic (84) - 39) -
International - - (14) -
Sub-total - net credit losses (84) - (53) -
Credit losses on loans transferred to held for sale 39 - (29) -
Total net credit losses (123) - (82) -
Loss on sale of commitments - )] - -
Provision for credit losses 144 28 4 -
Net change in reserve from transfers and other activity:
Securitizations 2) - (D -
Dispositions/acquisitions 1 - 47 -
Funding of commitments 11 an (24) 24
Net change in reserve from transfers and other activity 10 1y (72) 24
Reserve at end of year $127 $52 $ 96 $42
Reserve for loan losses as a percentage of total loans (a) 1.51% N/M 1.12% N/M
Reserve for loan losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans (a) 222% N/M 164% N/M
Net credit losses to average loans 1.30% N/M .84% N/M

(a) At year end.
N/M -- Not meaningful.
- continued -
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Provision and reserve for credit exposure (continued)

Reserve activity 2000 1999 1998
Loan Unfunded Loan Unfunded Loan Unfunded
(dollar amounts in miflions) losses commitments losses commitments losses commitments
Reserve at beginning of year $271 $16 $366 $i4 $ 340 $15
Credit losses:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial 20 (23) 2 -
Commercial real estate - - (&) -
Personal:
Credit cards - - (1 - (45) -
Other personal credit n - @) - @ -
Lease finance assets - - - (2) -
Total domestic 2n (36) - (58) -
International - - - - - -
Total credit losses 2h - 36) - (58) -
Recoveries:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial 1 - 7 - 3 -
Commercial real estate - - 2 - ] -
Personal:
Credit cards - - 1 - 5 -
Other personal credit - - 1 - - -
Lease finance assets - - - - - -
Total domestic 1 - 11 - 9 -
International 12 - - - - -
Total recoveries 13 - 11 - 9 -
Net credit (losses) recoveries:
Domestic:
Commercial and financial (19) - (16) - | -
Commercial real estate - - 2 - 4) -
Personal:
Credit cards - - (10 - (40) -
Other personal credit ) - (hH - ) -
Lease finance assets - - - - 2)
Total domestic el))) - (25) - (49) -
International 12 - - - -
Sub-total - net credit losses & - (25) - (49)
Credit losses on loans transferred
1o held for sale (15) - - - - -
Total net credit losses 23) - (25) - (49)
Loss on sale of commitments - - - - - -
Provision for credit losses 8 - 20 - 51
Net change in reserve from transfers
and other activity:
Securitizations - - - - - -
Dispositions/acquisitions - - (88) - 23 -
Funding of commitments 2) 2 2) 2 | ¢}
Net change in reserve from
transfers and other activity ) 2 (90) 2 24 (hH
Reserve at end of year $254 318 $271 $16 $366 $14
Reserve for loan losses as a
percentage of total loans (a) 2.49% N/M 2.17% N/M 2.32% N/M
Reserve for Joan losses as a
percentage of nonperforming loans (a) 154% N/M 342% N/M 1,023% N/M
Net credit losses to average loans 21% N/M 18% N/M 32% N/M

(a) At yearend.
N/M -- Not meaningful.
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Recent accounting pronouncements and developments

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143
requires an entity to record a liability for an obligation associated with the retirement of an asset and for certain
lease transaction obligations at the time the liability is incurred by capitalizing the cost as part of the carrying
value of the related asset and depreciating it over the remaining useful life of that asset. SFAS No. 143 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Corporation estimates that this pronouncement will
result in a pre-tax charge, in 2003, of approximately $10 million to $15 million. This charge will be recorded as
a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the income statement. It is also currently anticipated
that this pronouncement will result in a pre-tax charge of $1 million or less to operating expense in 2003 and
subsequent periods.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” This standard requires companies to recognize costs assoctated with exit or disposal activities when
they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 replaces
EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit
an Activity.” SFAS No. 1406 is effective January 1, 2003. The Corporation does not expect this pronouncement
to have a material impact on its results of operation or financial condition.

In October 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 147, “Acquisitions of Certain Financial Institutions.” This
statement provides guidance on the accounting for the acquisition of a financial institution and supercedes the
specialized accounting guidance provided in SFAS No. 72, ““Accounting for Certain Acquisitions of Banking or
Thrift Institutions.” The new guidance was effective immediately but has no impact on the Corporation’s results
of operation or financial condition.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -- Transition
and Disclosure,” an amendment of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. For a
discussion of the impact of expensing the estimated fair value of future stock options, see “Stock option expense”
on page 17 in Operating Expense.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” This Interpretation
requires that a guarantor recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation
undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of this Interpretation are
applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after Dec. 31, 2002. However, disclosure
provistons were effective at Dec. 31, 2002. The Corporation does not expect the adoption of this new standard to
have a material impact on its results of operation or financial condition. For a further discussion of certain
guarantees provided by the Corporation see pages 107 through 110.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” This
Interpretation addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities. The application of this
Interpretation is immediate for variable interest entities created after Jan. 31, 2003 and is effective July 1, 2003,
for variable interest entities that existed prior to Feb. 1, 2003. The Corporation is currently determining the
impact of this Interpretation on its referral relationship with Three Rivers Funding Corporation (TRFCO), which
could result in the consolidation of TRFCQ’s assets and liabilities of $1.2 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, into the
Corporation’s financial statements in the third quarter of 2003. See pages 87 and 88 for a discussion of the
Corporation’s referral relationship with TRFCO. Some of the Corporation’s venture capital investments may
also be determined to be subject to this Interpretation. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of this
Interpretation on these investments.

60




FOURTH QUARTER 2002 REVIEW

Net income for the fourth quarter of 2002 was $166 million, or $.38 per share, compared with $807 million,
or $1.70 per share, in the fourth quarter of 2001 which included income from discontinued operations of
$851 million, or $1.79 per share. Income from continuing operations totaled $164 million, or $.38 per share,
in the fourth quarter of 2002 compared with a loss of $44 million, or $.09 per share, in the fourth quarter of
2001. Continuing operations return on equity totaled 19.4% in the fourth quarter of 2002 compared with
(4.7)% in the fourth quarter of 2001. All results for 2001 include the amortization of goodwill. Fourth
quarter 2001 results were impacted by a $222 million charge for fair value adjustments of venture capital
investments, compared with a $27 million charge in the fourth quarter of 2002, and a $57 million loss on the
disposition of large corporate loans.

Fee revenue totaled 86% of fee and net interest revenue, on a fully taxable equivalent basis, in the fourth
quarter of 2002, compared with 79% in the fourth quarter of 2001. The major component of fee revenue,
trust and investment fee revenue totaled 69% of fee and net interest revenue in the fourth quarter of 2002,
compared with 93% in the fourth quarter of 2001. The fourth quarter 2001 percentages were impacted by
the venture capital loss and the loss on dispositions of loans. Fee revenue increased to $900 million in the
fourth quarter of 2002 from $558 million in the fourth quarter of 2001 due to acquisitions, lower equity
investment losses and higher financing-related and cash management revenue partially offset by lower
foreign exchange revenue. Revenue in the fourth quarter of 2001 was adversely impacted by the

$222 million charge for fair value adjustments of venture capital investments and the $57 million loss on the
disposition of large corporate loans. Trust and investment fee revenue increased to $735 million in the
fourth quarter of 2002 from $670 million in the fourth quarter of 2001 primarily due to acquisitions.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, trust and investment fee revenue decreased approximately 7% due to
market depreciation in assets under management, lower benefits consulting revenue and lower securities
lending fees. Gains on the sale of securities totaled $31 million in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Net interest revenue on a fully taxable equivalent basis of $149 million decreased $5 million compared with
the fourth quarter of 2001. This decrease resulted from a lower level of interest-earning assets partially
offset by a higher net interest margin as low yielding money market assets were replaced in part by higher
yielding investment securities. Average interest-earning assets decreased $2.3 billion compared with the
fourth quarter of 2001, primarily due to lower levels of money market investments.

Operating expense of $838 million in the fourth quarter 2002 increased $63 million compared with the
fourth quarter of 2001. This increase resulted primarily from the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network
and the November 2001 acquisition of Eagle Investment Systems, partially offset by the adoption of

SFAS No. 142, which requires that goodwill no longer be amortized. Excluding the effect of acquisitions
and the fourth quarter 2001 amortization of goodwill, operating expense decreased approximately 3% in the
fourth quarter of 2002 compared with the fourth quarter of 2001 primarily due to lower severance expense,
incentive expense and other expenses.

The provision for credit losses totaled $6 million in the fourth quarter of 2002, compared with $5 million in the

fourth quarter of 2001. Net credit related losses totaled $4 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 compared with
$40 million in the fourth quarter of 2001.

61



SELECTED QUARTERLY BATA (unaudited)

Quarter ended

2002 2001¢a)
(doliar amounts in millions, Dec. Sept. June March Dec. Sept. June March
except per share amounts) 31 30 30 31 31 30 30 31
Consolidated income statement
Total fee and other revenue $ 900 $ 8356 $ 923 $ 943 $ 538 $ 761 $ 0651 s 777
Gains on sales of securities 31 28 - - - - - -
Net interest revenue 146 156 152 156 151 146 137 140
Provision for credit losses 6 2 160 4 5 S 1 (15)
Total operating cxpense 838 756 760 772 775 625 627 623
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes 233 282 155 323 an 277 160 309
Provision for income taxes 69 96 49 112 27 98 58 110
Income (loss) from continuing
operations 164 186 106 211 (44) 179 102 199
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax 2 5 3 5 851 13 47) 65
Net income $ 166 $ 191 $ 109 $ 216 $ 807 $ 192 $ 55 $ 2064
Continuing operations:
Diluted earnings per share $ .38 $ 43 $ 24 $ 47 35 (09 $ 38 $ 21 $ 41
Basic earnings per share $ .38 $ 43 $ 24 $ 48 $ (.09 $ 38 s 22 $ 41
Discontinued operations:
Diluted earnings per share $ - $ .01 $ .01 $ .01 $ 179 $ 02 $ (.09) $ .13
Net income:
Diluted earnings per share $ .38 $ 44 $ 25 $ .48 $ 1.70 $ 40 $ 12 $ 54
Average balances -
continuing operations
Money market investments $ 2,784 $ 2,344 $ 2,128 $ 2,536 $ 5982 $ 4296 $ 2331 $ 2.701
Trading account securities 800 738 748 689 655 345 379 363
Securities 10,508 10,467 9.982 9.464 9,513 10,888 8513 8.709
Total money market
investments and securities 14,092 13,549 12,858 12,689 16,150 15.529 11,223 11,773
Loans 9,217 9,836 9,662 9,079 9,421 9.611 10.068 10,283
Funds allocated to
discontinued operations - - 246 474 - - 33 1,561
Total interest-earning assets 23,309 23,385 22,766 22,242 25.571 25,140 21,324 23,617
Total assets 34,154 34,175 33,398 33,038 42,492 45,500 45,773 48,198
Deposits 20,693 19,924 17,918 17,504 17,863 17.320 16.721 18,346
Notes and debentures 4,284 4,483 4,142 4,040 3,945 3,758 3,721 3.577
Trust-preferred securities 1,006 990 978 973 976 967 962 989
Total shareholders’ equity 3,349 3,270 3,350 3,455 3,774 3,444 3,735 3,992
Net interest margin (FTE) 2.56% 2.72% 2.76% 2.91% 2.40% 2.35% 2.61% 2.43%
Annualized return on equity 19.4% 22.6% 12.6% 24.8 % @Y% 20.7% 11.0% 20.2%
Annualized return on assets 1.91% 2.16% 1.28% 2.64% (5DH% 2.06% 1.34% 2.48%
Common stock data (b
Market price per share range:
High $30.71 $ 31.64 $ 39.91 $ 40.80 $ 39.81 $ 4599 $47.25 $51.625
Low 20.00 22.20 29.80 34.44 30.26 27.75 36.95 3497
Average 27.25 26.77 36.62 38.06 3591 37.896 43.376 45.161
Period end close 26.11 25.93 31.43 38.59 37.62 32.33 46.00 40.52
Dividends per share 13 A2 A2 A2 12 24 24 22
Market capitalization (¢) 11,248 11,174 13,677 17,019 16,798 15,125 21,621 19,336

(a) In January 2002, the Corporation began to record customer expense reimbursements as revenue in accordance with a FASB staff
announcement. The Corporation had historically reported expense reimbursements as a reduction of expenses. Also, in accordance
with SFAS No. 144, the Corporation began to disclose gross assets and liabilities of discontinued operations instead of
the net amount previously reported. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.

(b) At Dec. 31, 2002, there were 23,020 shareholders registered with the Corporation’s stock transfer agent, compared with 23,377 at
year-end 2001 and 24,350 ar year-end 2000. In addition, there were approximately 21,525, 19,387 and 16,514 Mellon employees at
Dec. 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, who participated in the Corporation’s 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan. All shares of
Mellon Financial Corporation common stock held by the plan for its participants are registered in the name of Mellon Bank, N.A., as

trustee.
(c) At period end.

- continued -
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SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA (unaudited) (continued)

Fourth quarter 2002 compared with the fourth quarter of 2001
See discussion on page 61.
Third quarter of 2002 compared with the third quarter of 2001

Consolidated net income totaled $191 million, or $.44 per share, in the third quarter of 2002, compared with
$192 million, or $.40 per share, in the third quarter of 2001. Third quarter 2002 income from continuing
operations totaled $186 million, or $.43 per share, compared with $179 million, or $.38 per share, in the third
quarter of 2001. Credit losses charged to the loan loss reserve totaled $115 million in the third quarter of 2002,
primarily resulting from an $85 million writedown of a loan to WorldCom. Inc. and from the sale of $108 million
of loans to a customer in the cable/media industry. Gains on the sale of securities totaled $28 million in the third
quarter of 2002. Continuing operations returned 22.6% on equity in the third quarter of 2002, compared with
20.7% in the third quarter of 2001.

Second quarter of 2002 compared with the second guarter of 2001

Consolidated net income totaled $109 million, or $.25 per share, in the second quarter of 2002, compared with
$55 million, or $.12 per share, in the second quarter of 2001. Second quarter 2002 income from continuing
operations totaled $106 million, or $.24 per share, compared with $102 million, or $.21 per share, in the second
quarter of 2001. Results for the second quarter of 2002 included a $160 million provision for credit losses
primarily associated with credit exposure to customers associated with allegations of accounting irregularities.
Results for the second quarter of 2001 included a $140 million loss on venture capital investments. Continuing
operations returned 12.6% on equity in the second quarter of 2002, compared with 11.0% in the second quarter
of 2001.

First quarter of 2002 compared with the first quarter of 2001

Consolidated net income totaled $216 million, or $.48 per share, in the first quarter of 2002 compared with
$264 million, or $.54 per share, in the first quarter of 2001. First quarter 2002 income from continuing
operations totaled $211 million, or $.47 per share, compared with $199 million, or $.41 per share in the first
quarter of 2001. Continuing operations returned 24.8% on equity in the first quarter of 2002, compared with
20.2% in the first quarter of 2001.

All results for 2001 quarters presented above and on the prior page include the amortization of goodwill.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Meilon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 (a) 2000 (a)
Noninterest revenue Trust and investment fee revenue:
Investment management $1,414 $1,375 $1,298
Human resources services 1,020 691 436
Institutional trust and custody 479 392 442
Securities lending revenue 75 97 85
Total trust and investment fee revenue 2,988 2,555 2,261
Cash management revenue 285 239 202
Foreign exchange revenue 146 171 162
Securities trading revenue 37 23 16
Financing-related revenue 147 97 150
Equity investment revenue (28) (380) 78
Other 47 42 33
Total fee and other revenue 3,622 2,747 2,902
Gains on sales of securities 59 - -
Total noninterest revenue 3,681 2,747 2,902
Net interest revenue Interest revenue 1,056 1,397 1,402
Interest expense 446 823 852
Net interest revenue 610 574 550
Provision for credit losses 172 (CY) 8
Net interest revenue after provision for credit losses 438 578 542
Operating expense Staff expense 1,865 1,541 1,347
Professional, legal and other purchased services 389 347 253
Net occupancy expense 246 219 185
Equipment expense 222 157 134
Business development 131 117 129
Communications expense 110 95 64
Amortization of goodwill - 73 67
Amortization of other intangible assets 15 7 7
Other expense 148 94 75
Total operating expense 3,126 2,650 2,261
Income Income from continuing operations before income taxes 993 675 1,183
Provision for income taxes 326 239 427
Income from continuing operations 667 436 756
Discontinued operations:
Income from operations after tax 3 112 251
Net gain on disposals after tax 12 770 -
Income from discontinued operations (net of
applicable tax expense of $9, $502 and $148) 15 882 251
Net income $ 682 $1,318 $1,007
Earnings per Continuing operations:
share (b) Basic $1.53 $ .92 $1.54
Diluted $1.52 $ 91 $1.52
Discontinued operations:
Basic $ .03 $1.87 $ 51
Diluted $ .03 $1.85 $ 51
Net income:
Basic $1.56 $2.79 $2.05
Diluted $1.55 $2.76 $2.03

{a) InJanuary 2002, the Corporation began to record customer expense reimbursements as revenue
in accordance with a FASB staff announcement. The Corporation had historically reported
expense reimbursements as a reduction of expenses. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.

(b) See the table in Note 3 for earnings per share information excluding the amortization of goodwill

in 2001 and 2000.
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

Dec. 31,
(dollar amonnts in millions) 2002 2001 (a)
Assets Cash and due from banks $ 2,728 $ 3,177
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 1,770 4,119
Federal funds sold and securities under resale agreements 2,229 926
Other money market investments 161 146
Trading account securities 792 638
Securities available for sale 11,054 8,795
Investment securities (approximate fair value of $548 and $786) 527 768
Loans, net of unearned discount of $37 and $42 8,438 8,540
Reserve for loan losses 127 (96)
Net loans 8,311 8,444
Premises and equipment 704 631
Goodwill 2,065 1,750
Other intangibles 114 97
Assets of discontinued operations - 1,426
Other assets 5,776 4,646
Total assets $36,231 $35,563
Liabilities Noninterest-bearing deposits in domestic offices $11,074 $ 9,537
Interest-bearing deposits in domestic offices 7,709 7.604
Interest-bearing deposits in foreign offices 3,874 3,574
Total deposits 22,657 20,715
Federal funds purchased and securities under
repurchase agreements 733 825
Term federal funds purchased 208 47
U.S. Treasury tax and loan demand notes 6 106
Commiercial paper 9 8
Other funds borrowed 613 560
Reserve for unfunded commitments 52 42
Other liabilities 3,017 3,569
Notes and debentures (with original maturities over one year) 4,493 4,045
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interests in Corporation’s
junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures 1,048 991
Liabtlities of discontinued operations - 1,173
Total liabilities 32,836 32,081
Shareholders’ Common stock--$.50 par value
equity Authorized--800,000,000 shares
Issued 588,661,920 shares 294 294
Additional paid-in capital 1,886 1,870
Retained earnings 5,514 5,087
Accumulated unrealized gain, net of tax 41 30
Treasury stock of 157,880,343 and 142,153,053 shares, at cost (4,340) (3,799)
Total shareholders’ equity 3,395 3,482
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $36,231 $35,563

{a) InJanuary 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Corporation began to disclose gross

assets and liabilities of discontinued operations instead of the net amnount previously

reported. Also, in the second quarter of 2002, the Corporation began to record the reserve
for unfunded commitments as a liability. Previously, any such reserve was included in the

reserve for loan losses. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from Net income $ 682 3 1318 $ 1,007
operating activities Income from discontinued operations 15 882 251

Net income from continuing operations 667 436 756

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets 15 80 74
Depreciation and other amortization 136 98 69
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (43) (98) 72
Provision for credit losses 172 4 8
Net gains on sales of securities (59) - -
Pension credit 97) (120) (10D
Net gains on dispositions of acquired property 8 (D (3)
Net decrease in accrued interest receivable 11 16 -
Net increase in trading account securities (117) (339) (116)
Net increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable, net
of amounts prepaid 10 (18) 27
Net increase in incentives and bonuses payable 27 - 50
Net (decrease) increase from other operating activities (190) 1,190 695
Net cash provided by continuing operations 531 1,240 1,477
Net effect of discontinued operations (604) 2,421 857
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (73) 3,661 2,334
Cash flows from Net decrease (increase) in term deposits and other money
investing activities market investments 2,334 (2,173) (1,736)
Net (increase) decrease in federal funds sold and securities
under resale agreements (1,303) 8901 (816)
Purchases of securities available for sale (14,795) (34,635) (a) (6,120)
Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale 3,322 1,144 662
Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale 9,341 32,854 (a) 2,903
Purchases of investment securities 4) (13) (6)
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities 243 266 179
Net principal (advances) repayments of loans to customers (1,195) 134 1,802
Loan portfolio purchases 21) - -
Proceeds from sales and securitizations of loan portfolios 1,182 1,292 73
Purchases of premises and equipment (209) (167 (220)
Net cash disbursed in purchase of Unifi Network (285) - -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of HBV Capital Management 19 - -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of remaining 5% (2002) and
20% (2001) interest in Newton Management Limited (54) (184) -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of Henderson Private Asset
Management Business (23) - -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of remaining 50% interest
in the Mellon Investor Services joint venture - - 3D
Net cash disbursed in purchase of Standish, Ayer & Wood - (160) -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of Eagle Investment
Systems - (47) -
Net cash disbursed in purchase of Van Deventer & Hoch - (13) -
Net cash disbursed in other acquisitions 3D - -
Net decrease from other investing activities 260) (143) (300
Net cash used in investing activities (1,777) (956) (3,611)
-continued-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from Net increase (decrease) in deposits 1,942 (381 4,172
financing activities Net decrease 1n federal funds purchased and securities

under repurchase agreements 92) (246) 24)

Net decrease in other funds borrowed “7) (124) (1,298)

Net increase (decrease) in term federal funds purchased 161 16 (327)

Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper 1 (108) 28

Repayments of longer-term debt (409) (224) (329)

Net proceeds from issuance of longer-term debt 693 647 404

Dividends paid on common stock 213) (388) 4210

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 51 77 90

Repurchase of common stock (698) (2,013) (737)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,389 (2,744) 1,558

Effect of foreign currency exchange rates 12 2) (29)

Change in cash and Net (decrease) increase in cash and due from banks (449) 4 252

due from banks Cash and due from banks at beginning of yvear 3,177 3218 2,966

Cash and due from banks at end of year $2,728 $3.177 $3218

Supplemental Interest paid $ 436 $ 841 $ 879

disclesures Net income taxes paid (b) 863 521 393

(a) See Note 6 of Notes to Financial Statements for an explanation of amounts.
(b) Includes discontinued operations.
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CONSQOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Mellon Financial Corperation (and its subsidiaries)
Accumulated Total
Additional unrealized share-
Common paid-in  Retained gain (loss), Treasury  holders’
(in millions) stock capital earnings net of tax stock equity
Balance at Dec. 31, 1999 $294 $1,788 $3,808 $(135) $(1.739) $4,016
Comprehensive results:

Net income ~ - 1.007 - - 1,007

Other comprehensive results, net of tax - - - 96 - 96

Reclassification adjustment - - - l - 1
Total comprehensive results - - 1,007 97 - 1,104
Dividends on common stock

at $0.86 per share - - 421 - - 42
Common stock issued under Direct Stock

Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan - 1 (1 - 18 18
Exercise of stock options - 45 {(113) - 191 123
Repurchase of common stock - - - - (737) (737)
Common stock issued under the 401(k)

Retirement Savings Plan - I @) - 17 17
Other - 2 (9 - 39 32
Balance at Dec. 31, 2000 $294 $1,837 $4.270 $ (38) $(2.211) $ 4,152
Comprehensive results:

Net income - - 1,318 - - 1,318

Other comprehensive results, net of tax - - - 68 - 68

Reclassification adjustment - - - - - -
Total comprehensive results - - 1,318 68 - 1,386
Dividends on common stock

at $0.82 per share - - (388) - - (388)
Common stock issued under Direct Stock

Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan - - (0 - 18 17
Common stock issued in connection with

the Eagle Investment Systems acquisition - - - - 164 164
Common stock issued under the Employee

Stock Purchase Plan - - (4) - 20 16
Exercise of stock options - 32 92) - 1536 96
Repurchase of common stock - - - - (2,013) (2,013)
Common stock issued under the 401(k)

Retirement Savings Plan - - 2) - 26 24
Other - 1 (14) - 41 28
Balance at Dec. 31, 2001 $294 $1,870 $5,087 $ 30 $(3,799) $ 3,482
Comprehensive resuits:

Net income - - 682 - - 682

Other comprehensive results, net of tax - - - 36 - 36

Reclassification adjustment - - - 25) - (25)
Total comprehensive results - - 682 11 - 693
Dividends on common stock

at $0.49 per share - - (213) - - (213)
Common stock issued under Direct Stock

Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan - - - - 10 10
Exercise of stock options - 14 (26) - 45 33
Repurchase ¢f common stock - - - - (698) (698)
Common stock issued under the Employee Stock )

Purchase Plan - - 4) - 27 23
Common stock issued under the 401(k)

Retirement Savings Plan - 1 ) - 33 33
Other - 1 (1D - 42 32
Balance at Dec. 31, 2002 $294 $1,886 $5,514 $ 41 $(4,340)  $ 3,395

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies
Buasis of presentation

The accounting and financial reporting policies of Mellon Financial Corporation (the Corporation), a global
financial services company, conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and prevailing
industry practices. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of related revenue and expense. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation include the accounts of the Corporation and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. Investments, other than venture capital, in companies 20% to 50% owned are
carried on the equity basis. The Corporation’s share of earnings of nonconsolidated equity investments are
reflected in noninterest revenue as equity investment or trust and investment fee revenue, as appropriate, in the
period earned. Investments, other than venture capital, in companies less than 20% owned are carried at cost.
Intracorporate balances and transactions are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The income statement and balance sheet include results of acquired businesses, accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting pursuant to SFAS No. 141, and equity investments from the dates of acquisition. The
Corporation records any contingent purchase payments when the amounts are resolved and become issuabie.

The Parent Corporation financial statements in Note 31 include: the accounts of the Corporation; those of a
wholly owned financing subsidiary that functions as a financing entity for the Corporation and its subsidiaries by
issuing commercial paper and other debt guaranteed by the Corporation; those of the business trusts discussed in
Note 14; and MIPA, LLC, a single member company, created to hold and administer corporate owned life
insurance. Financial data for the Corporation, the financing subsidiary, the business trusts and the single member
company are combined for financial reporting purposes because of the limited function of these entities and the
unconditional guarantee by the Corporation of their obligations.

The Corporation considers the underlying facts and circumstances of individual transactions when assessing the
appropriateness of consolidating a special purpose entity hereafter referred to as a variable interest entity (VIE).
The Corporation’s assessment focuses on its ability to influence or control a VIE as well as the dispersion of risk
and rewards attributable to a VIE. In cases where the Corporation transfers financial assets to a VIE, the VIE
must represent a qualifying special purpose entity (QSPE) or the Corporation would continue to consolidate the
transferred financial assets. QSPE status is achieved when all conditions specified in SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” are met. Those
conditions focus on whether the entity is demonstrably distinct from the Corporation, limited to only permitted
activities, limited on what assets the QSPE may hold, and limited on sales or other dispositions of assets. The
Corporation also obtains the required true-sale opinions from outside counsel on all securitizations. The
Corporation has determined that all of its securitization trusts are QSPEs.

Nature of operations

The Corporation is a global financial services company providing a comprehensive range of financial products
and services in domestic and selected international markets. Through its six core business sectors (Institutional
Asset Management, Mutual Funds, Private Wealth Management, Asset Servicing, Human Resources Services
and Treasury Services), the Corporation serves two major classes of customers - high net worth
individuals/families and large institutional customers. For corporations and institutions, the Corporation provides
asset management, trust and custody, securities lending, foreign exchange, defined contribution and defined
benefit services, fund administration, human resources consulting and outsourcing services, investor services and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

cash management. For relationship customers, the Corporation also provides credit and capital market services.
For individual investors, the Corporation provides mutual funds, separately managed accounts, annuities, private
wealth management and private banking. The Corporation’s asset management companies, which include The
Dreyfus Corporation, Founders Asset Management, LLC and Standish Mellon Asset Management Company LLC
in the United States and Newton Management Limited in the United Kingdom, provide investment products in
many asset classes and investment styles. The Corporation provides retirement and benefits consulting services
through Buck Consultants, Inc. and shareholder services through Mellon Investor Services, LLC. While the
Corporation’s major subsidiaries primarily are headquartered in the Northeast and mid-Atlantic regions, most of
its products and services are offered nationwide. The Corporation’s customer base is well diversified and
primarily domestic, with a growing international presence.

Trading account securities, securities available for sale and investment securities

When purchased, securities are classified in the trading account securities portfolio, the securities available for
sale portfolio or the investment securities portfolio. Securities are classified as trading account securities when
the intent is profit maximization through market appreciation and resale. Securities are classified as available for
sale when management intends to hold the securities for an indefinite period of time or when the securities may
be used for tactical asset/liability purposes and may be sold from time to time to effectively manage interest rate
exposure, prepayment risk and liquidity needs. Securities are classified as investment securities when
management intends to hold these securities until maturity.

Trading account securities are stated at fair value. Trading revenue includes both realized and unrealized gains
and losses. The liability incurred on short-sale transactions, representing the obligation to deliver securities, is
included in other funds borrowed at fair value.

Securities available for sale are stated at fair value. Unrealized gains or losses on assets classified as available
for sale, net of tax, are recorded as an addition to or deduction from other comprehensive results. Investment
securities are stated at cost, adjusted for amortization of premium and accretion of discount on a level yield basis.
Gains and losses on sales of securities available for sale are reported in the income statement. The cost of
securities sold is determined on a specific identification basis.

Venture capital investments

Venture capital investments, which include both direct investments in companies and investments in private
equity funds, are reported at estimated fair values. Changes in estimated fair values and gains and losses from
sales are recognized in equity investment revenue. The fair value estimates of the investments are based upon
available information and may not necessarily represent amounts that will ultimately be realized, which depend
on future events and circumstances. The valuation procedures applied to direct investments include
consideration of economic and market conditions, current and projected financial performance of the investee
company, and the investee company’s management team. The valuation procedures applied to private equity
fund investments include consideration of economic and market conditions and an evaluation of the private
equity manager’s valuation techniques. Direct venture capital investments include both equity and mezzanine
investments. Direct mezzanine investments in the form of subordinated debt are included in loans on the balance
sheet, while equity investments are included in other assets. Indirect investments in private equity funds are
included in other assets. The Corporation’s policy regarding venture capital investments has been identified as a
“critical accounting policy” as it is regarded to be critical to the presentation of the Corporation’s financial
condition since it requires management to make numerous complex and subjective estimates and valuation
assumptions relating to amounts which are inherently uncertain.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Loans

Loans are reported net of any unearned discount. Interest revenue on nondiscounted loans is recognized based on
the principal amount outstanding. Interest revenue on discounted loans is recognized based on methods that
approximate a level yield. Loan origination and upfront commitment fees, as well as certain direct loan
origination and commitment costs, are deferred and amortized as a yield adjustment over the lives of the related
loans. Deferred fees and costs are netted against outstanding loan balances. Loans held for sale are carried at the
lower of aggregate cost or fair value.

Unearned revenue on direct financing leases 1s accreted over the lives of the leases in decreasing amounts to
provide a constant rate of return on the net investment in the leases. Revenue on leveraged leases is recognized
on a basis to achieve a constant yield on the outstanding investment in the lease, net of the related deferred tax
liability, in the years in which the net investment is positive. Gains on sales of lease residuals are recognized in
financing-related revenue.

Commercial loans, including commercial leases, generally are placed on nonaccrual status when either principal
or interest is past due 90 days or more, unless the loan is well secured and in the process of collection.
Management also places commercial loans on nonaccrual status when the collection of principal or interest
becomes doubtful. Residential mortgage loans generally are placed on nonaccrual status when, in management’s
judgment, collection is in doubt or the loans are 180 days or more delinquent. Personal loans, other than
residential mortgages, and certain secured commercial loans are charged off upon reaching various stages of
delinquency depending upon the loan type, or upon the death or bankruptcy of the borrower. When a loan is
placed on nonaccrual status, previously accrued and uncollected interest is reversed against current period
interest revenue. Interest receipts on nonaccrual and impaired loans are recognized as interest revenue or are
applied to principal when management believes the ultimate collectability of principal is in doubt. Nonaccrual
loans generally are restored to an accrual basis when principal and interest payments become current or when the
loan becomes well secured and is in the process of collection.

A loan is considered to be impaired, as defined by SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a
Loan,” when it is probable that the Corporation will be unable to collect all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. The Corporation performs impairment tests on all loans
of $1 million or greater covered under SFAS No. 114, where there is a significant credit concern. Personal
nonaccrual loans are not tested for impairment because they are included in large groups of smaller-balance
homogeneous loans that, by definition along with leases, are excluded from the scope of SFAS No. 114.

Impaired loans are required to be measured based upon the loan’s market price, the present value of expected
future cash flows, discounted at the loan’s initial effective interest rate, or at fair value of the collateral if the loan
is collateral dependent. If the loan valuation is less than the recorded value of the loan, an impairment reserve is
established for the difference. The impairment reserve is established by either an allocation of the reserve for
credit losses or by a provision for credit Josses. Impairment reserves are not needed when the recorded
investment in an impaired loan is less than the loan valuation.

Loan securitizations
Insurance premium finance receivables and jumbo residential mortgages are sold in securitizations. Prior to
2002, automobile loans, home equity lines of credit and home equity installment loans were also sold in

securitizations. The Corporation retains servicing assets, cash reserve accounts and/or interest-only strips, all of
which are considered retained interests in securitized receivables. The gain or loss on the sale of the receivables
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accoumnting policies (continued)

depends in part on the previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer, which is allocated
between the assets sold and the retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of transfer. Fair
values are obtained by using quoted market prices if available.

When quoted market prices are not available for retained interests, the Corporation estimates fair values based on
the present value of expected cash flows, which are estimated using management’s best estimates of various key
assumptions such as credit losses, prepayment speeds and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved.

Servicing assets are amortized in proportion to estimated net servicing fee revenue and are periodically reviewed
for impairment. The servicing revenue is recognized in financing-related revenue. Interest-only strips are
recorded as securities available for sale with mark-to-market adjustments recorded as adjustments to other
comprehensive results. Declines in carrying value which are determined to be other than temporary are
immediately charged as a loss on securities.

Reserve for loan losses and reserve for unfunded commitments

The reserve for loan losses, shown as a valuation allowance to loans, and the liability reserve for unfunded
commitments are referred to as the Corporation's reserve for credit exposure. The accounting policy for the
determination of the adequacy of the reserve has been identified as a "critical accounting policy" as it is regarded
to be critical to the presentation of the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

The reserve for loan losses is maintained to absorb losses inherent in the loan portfolio as of the balance sheet
date based on management's judgment. The reserve determination methodology is designed to provide
procedural discipline in assessing the appropriateness of the reserve. This methodology is based substantially
upon risk-weighted historical experience in the portfolio, but also includes loan-by-loan reviews as well as a
review by portfolio. Qualitative factors that impact inherent losses and are considered in the establishment of
reserves include historical experience; nonperforming loans; portfolio volume. quality, maturity and composition;
portfolio and market concentrations; current economic conditions and other current factors. Credit losses are
charged against the reserve. Recoveries are added to the reserve.

The methodology for determining the liability for unfunded commitments considers the same factors as the
reserve for loan losses, as well as an estimate of the probability of drawdown, correlated to the credit risk rating
of the commitment.

Acquired property

Property acquired ir connection with loan settlements, including real estate acquired, is stated at the lower of
estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell or the carrying amount of the loan. Acquired property is reported
in other assets.

Premises and equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and
amortization are calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, limited in the case of leasehold
improvements to the fease term, using the straight-line method.

The Corporation capitalizes costs relating to acquired software and internal-use software development projects
that provide new or significant functionality improvements. The Corporation capitalizes projects that are
expected to result in longer term operational benefits, such as replacement systems or new applications that result
in significantly increased operational efficiencies or incremental revenues.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Identified intangible assets and goodwill

Identified intangible assets with estimable lives are amortized using straight-line and accelerated methods over
their remaining estimated benefit periods. Intangible assets with estimable lives are reviewed for possible
impairment when events or changed circumstances may affect the underlying basis of the asset. Goodwill on
entities acquired prior to July 1, 2001, continued to be amortized until Dec. 31, 2001, on a straight-line basis over
a remaining estimated benefit period of 19 years on a weighted average basis. Goodwill on entities acquired after
June 30, 2001, was not amortized. Goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives are assessed annually for
impairment. Amortization of all goodwill was discontinued beginning in 2002.

Income taxes

The Corporation files a consolidated federal income tax return. Deferred taxes are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of existing differences between the financial reporting and tax reporting bases of assets
and liabilities using enacted tax laws and rates.

Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange on
the balance sheet date. Revenue and expense accounts are translated monthly at month-end rates of exchange.
Transaction gains and losses are included in the income statement. Translation gains and losses on investments
in foreign entities with functional currencies that are not the U.S. dollar are recorded as foreign currency
translation adjustments in other comprehensive resuits.

Fee revenue

Trust and investment fees are reported net of fees waived and expense reimbursements to certain mutual funds.
Investment management performance fees earned under a contractual formula are recognized in the period in
which the performance fees are earned and become determinable. Fees on standby letters of credit are
recognized over the commitment term in fee revenue, while fees on commercial letters of credit, because of their
short-term nature, are recognized when received in fee revenue.

The Corporation recognizes fee revenue earned under its outsourcing contracts, which generally have a three to
five year contractual term, as services are provided. The Corporation recognizes revenue from non-refundable,
up-front implementation fees using a straight-line method, commencing in the period the on-going services are
performed through the expected term of the contractual relationship. Incremental direct set-up costs of
implementation, up to the related implementation fee amount, are deferred and amortized over the same period
that the related implementation fees are recognized. If a client terminates an outsourcing contract prematurely,
the unamortized deferred incremental direct set-up costs and the unamortized deferred up-front implementation
fees related to that contract are recognized in the period the contract is terminated. Losses on outsourcing
contracts are recognized during the period the loss becomes probable and the amount of the loss is reasonably
estimable. Losses are determined to be the amount by which estimated costs of the contract exceed the estimated
total revenues earned.

Consulting fee revenue is recognized as the services are provided. Losses on consulting contracts are recognized
during the period the loss becomes probable and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. Losses are
determined to be the amount by which estimated costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues earned.
Fees for other services generally are recognized over the periods in which the related services are provided.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Pensions

The Corporation provides pension benefits to substantially all of its salaried employees through its

noncontributory, defined benefit pension plans. Employees are provided benefits that are based upon the
employees’ years of service and compensation. The prepaid pension benefit is reported in other assets. The
unfunded pension liability is recorded in other liabilities. Net periodic benefit credits are netted in operating
expense. The Corporation’s accounting policy regarding pensions has been identified as a “critical accounting
policy” as it is regarded to be critical to the presentation of the Corporation’s financial condition since it requires
management to make numerous complex and subjective assumptions relating to amounts which are inherently
uncertain. Refer to pages 99 and 100 for further discussion of the Corporation’s pension policy.

Derivative instruments used for risk management purposes

The Corporation enters into derivative instruments to manage its sensitivity to interest rate risk. This is
accomplished by using these instruments to offset the inherent price or interest rate risk of specific balance sheet
assets or liabilities. All of these instruments are designated as hedges on the trade date and are recognized on the
balance sheet at their fair values. The fair value of contracts with a given counterparty in a gain position is
reported on the balance sheet in other assets and the fair value of contracts in a loss position is reported in other
liabilities. Derivatives designated as a hedge of changes in the fair value of an asset or liability or of a firm
commitment attributable to a specified risk are considered to be fair value hedges. Derivatives designated as a
hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to an asset or
liability are considered to be cash flow hedges. Derivatives can also be designated as foreign currency fair value
and cash flow hedges, and as hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective and qualifies as a fair value hedge, along with the
loss or gain on the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk (including losses or gains on
firm commitments), are recorded in current period earnings. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is
highly effective and qualifies as a cash flow hedge are recorded in other comprehensive results, and reclassified
into earnings in the same period or periods as the hedged item affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are highly effective and qualify as foreign currency hedges are recorded in either current period
earnings or other comprehensive results, depending on whether the hedge transaction meets the criterta for a fair
value or a cash flow hedge. If, however, a derivative or non-derivative financial instrument that may result in
foreign currency transaction gains or losses is used as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the
changes in fair value of the derivative or the foreign currency transaction gains or losses on the non-derivative
financial instrument, to the extent the hedge is effective, are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments
within other comprehensive results.

The Corporation formally documents al} relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as
its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes
linking all derivative instruments that are designated as fair value, cash flow, or foreign currency hedges to
specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. A
formal assessment, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing quarterly basis, is performed to
determine whether the derivative instruments that are used in hedging transactions have been highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items and whether they are expected to continue to be
highly effective in future periods.

When it is determined that a derivative instrument is not highly effective as a hedge, hedge accounting is
discontinued. Hedge accounting is also discontinued when: the derivative instrument expires; is sold, terminated
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or exercised; is no longer designated as a hedge instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will
occur; a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; or management
determines that designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative instrument will be either terminated, continue to be
carried on the balance sheet at fair value or redesignated as the hedging instrument in either a cash flow or fair
value hedge, if the relationship meets all applicable hedging criteria. Any asset or liability that was previously
recorded as a result of recognizing the value of a firm commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and
recognized as a gain or loss in current period earnings. Any gains or losses that were recorded in other
comprehensive results from hedging a forecasted transaction will be recognized immediately in current period
earnings, if it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur.

On Jan. I, 2001, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” and No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, an
amendment of SFAS No. 133.” In accordance with the transition provisions of the standards, upon adoption the
Corporation recorded a net of tax cumulative effect gain adjustment of $24 million in earnings to recognize the
fair value of all derivative instruments that are designated as fair value hedging instruments. The Corporation
also recorded a net of tax cumulative effect loss adjustment of $24 million in earnings to recognize the difference
between the carrying values and fair values of the related hedged balance sheet items. In addition, the
Corporation recorded a net of tax cumulative effect loss adjustment of $2 million in other comprehensive results
to recognize at fair value all derivative instruments that are designated as cash flow hedging instruments. Net
gains and losses on derivative instruments that were previously deferred were removed from the balance sheet
through a net of tax cumulative effect loss adjustment of less than $1 million to earnings and a $9 million loss to
comprehensive results. Gains and losses on derivative instruments that were previously deferred as adjustments
to the carrying value of hedged items were not adjusted.

For further discussion of hedging activity during 2002 and 2001, see the “Fair Value Hedges,” “Cash Flow
Hedges” and “Hedges of Net Investment in Foreign Operations” sections on page 45. The information in those
sections is incorporated by reference into these Notes to Financial Statements.

Derivative instruments used for trading activities

The Corporation enters into various derivative instruments to accommodate customers and for its proprietary
trading activities. Derivative instruments that are based on specific market indices are also used to manage risk
in other portfolios, such as start-up mutual fund investments. Realized and unrealized changes in the fair value of
these instruments are recognized in the income statement in foreign exchange revenue and securities trading
revenue in the period in which the changes occur. Interest revenue and expense on instruments held for trading
activities are included in the income statement as part of net interest revenue. The fair value of contracts used for
proprietary trading activities are reported as trading account securities.

Pre-SFAS No. 133 off-balance-sheet instruments accounting policies

In years prtor to 2001, the Corporation entered into interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and floors, financial
futures and financial options primarily to manage its sensitivity to interest rate risk. This was accomplished by
using these instruments to offset the inherent price or interest rate risk of specific on-balance-sheet assets or
liabilities. All of these instruments were designated as hedges on the trade date and were highly correlated with
the financial instrument being hedged. High correlation was achieved if the hedge mstrument and the financial
instrument being hedged were denominated in the same currency and (i) were both fixed rate instruments with
similar maturities, or (i) were structurally comparable and based upon similar floating rate indices, or (iii) had
been subjected to a mathematical correlation analysis and found to be highly correlated. Hedge correlation of
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interest rate or market value risk management positions was reviewed periodically. If a hedged instrument was
sold or matured, or correlation criteria were no longer met. the risk management position was no longer
accounted for as a hedge. Under these circumstances, the accumulated change in market value of the hedge was
recognized in current income to the extent that the hedge results had not been offset by the effects of interest rate
or price changes of the hedged item.

Tactical asset/liability management considerations required the Corporation to periodically terminate hedge
instruments. Any deferred gain or loss resulting from the termination was amortized to income/expense of the
corresponding hedged item over the remaining period of the original hedge or hedged item.

The Corporation also entered into off-balance-sheet contracts to hedge anticipated transactions. If it was
determined that an anticipated transaction that had been hedged did not occur, the results of the hedge were
recognized currently in the income category in which the original anticipated transaction was to be reported.

Interest revenue or interest expense on hedge transactions was accrued over the term of the agreement as an
adjustment to the yield or cost of the related asset or liability. Transaction fees were deferred and amortized to
interest revenue or interest expense over the term of the agreement. Realized gains and losses were deferred and
amortized over the life of the hedged transaction as interest revenue or interest expense, and any unamortized
amounts were recognized as income or loss at the time of disposition of the assets or liabilities being hedged.
Amounts payable to or receivable from counterparties were included in other liabilities or other assets. The fair
values of interest rate swaps, caps and floors, financial futures and financial options used for risk management
purposes were not recognized in the financial statements.

The Corporation entered into various off-balance-sheet financial instruments to accommodate customers and for
its proprietary trading activities. Realized and unrealized changes in the fair value of these instruments were
recognized in the income statement in foreign exchange revenue and securities trading revenue in the period in
which the changes occurred. Interest revenue and expense on instruments held for trading activities were
included in the income statement as part of net interest revenue. The fair value of contracts with a given
customer in gain positions was reported on the balance sheet in other assets and the fair value of contracts in loss
positions was reported in other liabilities.

Statement of cash flows

For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Corporation has defined cash and cash equivalents as cash and due
from banks. Cash flows from assets and liabilities that have an original maturity date of three months or less
generally are reported on a net basis. Cash flows from assets and liabilities that have an original maturity date
greater than three months generally are reported on a gross basis. Cash flows from hedging activities are
classified in the same category as the items hedged.

Stock options

The Corporation accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” utilizing the intrinsic-value-based method, on which APB No. 25 is
based. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Corporation
previously adopted the disclosure-only option and continued to apply the provisions of APB No. 25 for financial
statement purposes. The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used to determine the fair value estimates for
disclosure purposes. The Corporation announced that beginning Jan. 1, 2003, it will expense the estimated fair
value of stock options, on a prospective basis.
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The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the use of subjective assumptions which can materially affect
fair value estimates. Therefore, this model does not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value
of the Corporation’s stock options or Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) shares. The fair value of each stock
option granted and ESPP share was estimated on the date of the grant using the following weighted-average
assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively: (1) expected dividend yields of 1.7%, 1.3% and 1.8%: (2)
risk-free interest rates of 3.4%, 3.7% and 5.2%;, (3) expected volatility of 33%, 33% and 31%; and (4) expected
lives of options of 5.7 years, 4.2 years and 3.9 years.

Had the compensation cost for the Corporation’s stock-based compensation plans been determined in accordance
with the fair value accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123, net income from continuing operations, basic net
income and diluted net income per common share from continuing operations for the years ended Dec. 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, would have been as follows:

Pro forma net income from continuing operations

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000
Net income:
As reported (a) $ 667 $436 $756
Pro forma (a)(b) $ 627 $401 $ 726
Basic net income per common share:
As reported $1.53 $.92 $1.54
Pro forma $1.44 $ .85 $1.48
Diluted net income per common share:
As reported $1.52 $ .91 $1.52
Pro forma $1.43 $ .84 $1.46

(a) Reported and pro forma results include compensation expense for restricted stock awards, net of rax, for 2002, 2001 and
2000 of $16 million, $10 million and $8 million, respectively.

(b) The pro forma stock-based employee compensation cost, net of tax, for 2002, 2001 and 2000 is $40 million, $35 million
and $30 million, respectively.

2. Contingent consideration related to acquisitions

The Corporation completed several acquisitions during 2002 with total cash consideration of $412 million.
These acquisitions added approximately $4 billion to assets under management. The Corporation records
contingent purchase payments when amounts are resolved and become issuable. At Dec. 31, 2002, the
Corporation was potentially obligated for contingent additional consideration of a minimum expected amount of
approximately $25 million to a maximum expected amount of approximately $65 million for acquisitions, over
the next four years, depending on the performance of the acquired companies. In addition, the Corporation is
obligated to pay additional consideration in four equal annual installments of $12.5 million beginning in 2003 for
a total of $50 million, for the Standish Mellon acquisition. The net present value of this obligation was recorded
as additional goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2002. The Corporation did not make any payments in 2002 for
contingent consideration related to acquisitions made in prior years.

3. Adoption of new accounting standards

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 also specifies
criteria that intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business combination must meet in order to be
recognized and reported apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS No. 142
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also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives continue to be amortized over their respective
estimated useful lives to their residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,

“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 144 was issued in August 2001
and became effective Jan. 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 requires that an impairment loss must be recognized if the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its undiscounted identifiable cash flows. Any impairment loss
must be measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. A long-lived
asset to be disposed of by sale must be measured at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less costs to
sell. Depreciation must cease when the disposal plan is established. For a long-lived asset that will be disposed
of other than by sale, the depreciable life of the asset must be revised in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20,
“Accounting Changes.”

The Corporation adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 as of July I, 2001, and SFAS No. 142 as of Jan. 1,
2002. Except for the 1994 merger with Dreyfus, which was accounted for under the pooling-of-interests method,
the Corporation had been required to account for business combinations under the purchase method of
accounting. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001,
were amortized through the end of 2001 and tested for impairment in accordance with pre-SFAS No. 142 and
No. 144 requirements. For acquisitions initiated after June 30, 2001, goodwill was not amortized. SFAS No. 141
required, upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, that the Corporation evaluate its existing intangible assets and
goodwill that were acquired in prior purchase business combinations, and make any necessary reclassifications in
order to conform with the new criteria in SFAS No. 141 for recognition apart from goodwill. Upon adoption of
SFAS No. 142, the Corporation was also required to reassess the useful lives and residual values of all intangible
assets acquired, and make any necessary amortization period adjustments by the end of the first quarter of 2002.
In addition, to the extent an intangible asset was identified as having an indefinite useful life, the Corporation
was required to test the intangible asset for impairment within the first quarter of 2002. No such
reclassifications, amortization period adjustments, or impairment adjustments were necessary.

In connection with SFAS No. 142’s transitional goodwill impairment evaluation, the Statement required that the
Corporation perform an assessment of whether there was an indication that goodwill was impaired as of the date
of adoption. To accomplish this, the Corporation identified its reporting units and determined the carrying value
of each reporting unit by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets,
to those reporting units as of the date of adoption. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
fair value, an indication exists that the reporting unit’s goodwill may be impaired. Based upon initial testing and
annual testing for goodwill impairment, it was determined that no adjustments for impairment were needed.

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets - subject to amortization

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31,2001
Remaining
weighted-
Gross average Gross
Carrying Accumulated amortization Carrying Accumulated
(in millions) Amount Amortization period Amount Amortization
Customer base $ 47 $ (6) 7 yrs $ 32 $ @)
Technology based 45 5 9 yrs 44 -
Premium on deposits 35 a9 4 yrs 35 (15)
Other 9 (2) 4 yrs 4 ()
Total $136 32) 7 yrs SI15 $(18)
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Intangible assets - not subject to amortization Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31. 2001
Gross Gross

(in millions) Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

Investment management contractual relationships $10 $-

During 2002, the gross carrying amount of intangible assets subject to amortization increased by $21 million with
a weighted-average amortization period of 6 years. Approximately $15 million, with a weighted-average
amortization of 7 years was assigned to the customer base intangible, approximately $5 million, with a weighted-
average amortization period of 2 years was assigned to other intangibles and approximately $1 million with a
welghted-average amortization period of 3 years was assigned to the technology based intangible, primarily
resulting from the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network and August 2002 acquisition of the Henderson
Private Asset Management business. In addition, during 2002, $10 million of intangibles was assigned to the
investment management contractual relationships intangible with an indefinite life as a result of the July 2002
HBYV Capital acquisition. Intangible assets with estimable lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.
Amortization expense totaled $15 million, $7 million and $7 million, in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Based upon the current level of intangible assets, the annual amortization expense for the years 2003 through
2008 is expected to be approximately $18 million, $17 million, $14 million, $13 million $13 million and

$10 million, respectively. The after-tax impact of the annual amortization expense for the years 2003 through
2008 is expected to be approximately $15 million, $14 million, $11 million, $11 million, $11 million and

$9 million, respectively.

Goodwill

The following table shows the changes in goodwill, by core business sector, for the year ended Dec. 31, 2002.

Goodwiil Institutional Private Human

Asset Mutual Wealth Asset Resources  Treasury
(in millions) Management Funds Management  Servicing Services Services Total
Balance at Dec. 31, 2001 $495 $228 $320 $275 3240 $192 $1,750
Acquired goodwill 73 16 5 - 172 - 266
Purchase price adjustments 52 (a) (3) - - - - 49
Balance at Dec. 31, 2002 $620 $241 $325 $275 $412 3192 $2,065

(a) Includes $47 million for additional consideration related to the July 2001 acquisition of Standish Mellon Asset
Management. This amount is the net present value of a $50 million obligation, as discussed in Note 2.

The increase in goodwill was primarily due to the January 2002 acquisition of Unifi Network ($165 million)
which is assigned to the Human Resources Services sector; the May 2002 acquisition of the remaining 5%
interest in Newton Management Limited ($50 million), the August 2002 acquisition of Henderson Private Asset
Management ($13 million) and the July 2002 acquisition of HBV Capital Management ($10 million), all of
which are included in the Institutional Asset Management sector; the November 2002 acquisition of Ashland
Management’s separate accounts, renamed Lighthouse Growth Advisors ($16 million) which is included in the
Mutual Funds sector and the August 2002 acquisition of Weber Fulton & Felman (§5 million), an investment
management firm, which is included in the Private Wealth Management sector. No charges for goodwill
impairment were recognized in 2002.
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Transitional disclosures

Adjusted financial results - excluding the amortization of goodwill in 2001 and 2000
(dollar amounts in nillions, except per share amounts) 2002

Income from continuing operations $ 667

Plus after-tax impact of amortization of
goodwill from purchase acquisitions:
Goodwili
Equity method goodwill {a)

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations
Plus after-tax impact of amortization of
goodwill from purchase acquisitions

Adjusted income from discontinued operations

Adjusted net income

Earning per share

Continuing operations:

Basic $1.53 $ .92 $ 1.54
Goodwill amortization - 14 13
Adjusted basic $1.53 $ 1.06 $ 1.67
Diluted $1.52 $ 91 $ 1.52
Goodwill amortization - .14 13
Adjusted diluted $1.52 $ 1.05 $ 1.65
| Discontinued operations:
Basic $ .03 $ 1.87 $ 51
Goodwill amortization - .06 .08
Adjusted basic $ .03 $ 1.93 $ .59
Diluted $ .03 $ 1.85 $ 51
Goodwill amortization - .06 .07
Adjusted diluted $ .03 $ 1.9] $ .58
Net income:
Basic $1.56 $ 279 $ 205
Goodwill amortization - 20 21
Adjusted basic $1.56 $ 2.99 $ 2.26
Diluted $1.55 $ 276 $ 2.03
Goodwill amortization - .20 .20
Adjusted diluted $1.55 $ 296 $ 223

(a) Relates to the goodwill on equity method investments and joint ventures. The income from these investinents is recorded
in fee revenue.
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As a result of several disposition transactions discussed below, and consistent with its announced strategy, the
Corporation exited all lines of business serving two defined major classes of customers—retail consumer and
small business/middle market customers. The financial results of these businesses are reported as discontinued
operations. Following the dispositions, the Corporation’s remaining lines of business serve two defined major
classes of customers—high net worth individuals/families and large institutional customers.

Reflected as discontinued operations throughout the Corporation’s financial statements are the results of regional
consumer banking, small business banking, and certain middle market banking operations, which were sold to
Citizens Financial Group, Inc. (Citizens) in December 2001; the Mellon Leasing Corporation businesses that
served mid-sized corporations and vendors of small ticket equipment, and Mellon Business Credit, which were
sold in June 2001; Dreyfus Brokerage Services which served retail consumers nationally, which was sold in
January 2002; the Corporation’s jumbo mortgage business which served consumers nationally, which was sold in
part to Citizens and the balance disposed of through portfolio sales and securitizations; and the disposition in
December 2001 of loans and loan commitments to middle market companies not sold to Citizens.

Because the lines of business included in discontinued operations were discrete lines of business serving classes
of customers the Corporation’s continuing lines of business do not serve, the disposition of these businesses has
no material impact on continuing operations going forward.

In accordance with GAAP, earnings, assets and liabilities of the discontinued businesses are shown separately in
the income statement and balance sheet, respectively, for all periods presented, where applicable. All
information in these Financial Statements and Notes reflects continuing operations unless otherwise noted.
During the third quarter of 2002, the Corporation completed the conversion of customer deposit accounts and
loans to Citizens. The Corporation had been administering these accounts under a transitional service agreement
until Citizens was able to convert these accounts to its systems. This was the final step of a transition process
that began following the 2001 sale. As of Dec. 31, 2002, there were no remaining assets or liabilities in
discontinued operations.

The after-tax gain of $12 million in 2002 primarily resulted from the resolution of sale-related issues that were
uncertain at the time of the dispositions and favorable customer retention. The after-tax gain of $770 million in
2001 resulted from a net gain of $1.030 billion after-tax on the Citizens transaction; an $89 million after-tax net
loss on the sale of Dreyfus Brokerage Services; an $86 million after-tax loss on the disposal of loans and
commitments made to middle market customers that were not sold to Citizens; a $16 million after-tax gain on the
securitizations or sale of nearly all of the jumbo mortgages; and a $101 million after-tax net loss on the sale of
the Mellon Leasing Corporation businesses that served mid-sized corporations and vendors of small ticket
equipment, and Mellon Business Credit.

Income from discontinued operations

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Income from operations (net of applicable tax expense of $1, $65 and $148) (a) $3 $ 112 $ 2351
Net gain on disposals (net of applicable tax expense of $8, $437 and $-) 12 770 -
Income from discontinued operations after-tax $15 S 882 $ 251

{a) Revenue from discontinued operations totaled 355 million in 2002, $834 million in 2001 and $1.073 billion in 2000.
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Discontinued operations assets and liabilities Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2001
Cash and due from banks $ 126
Loans - 1,068
Goodwill 18
Other assets 214

Total assets 51,426

Total deposits and other liabilities $1,173

There were no derivatives used for risk management purposes for discontinued operations at Dec. 31, 2002, and
Dec. 31, 2001.

5. Cash and due from banks

Cash and due from banks includes reserve balances that the Corporation’s subsidiary banks are required to
maintain with a Federal Reserve bank. These required reserves are based primarily on deposits outstanding and
were $250 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and $322 million at Dec. 31. 2001, including discontinued operations. These
balances averaged $258 million in 2002 and $403 million in 2001.
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Securities available for sale Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31,2001
Amortized Gross unrealized Fair Amortized  Gross unrealized Fair
(in millions) cost Gains Losses value cost  Gains Losses value
U.S. Treasury $ 270 % - $-  $ 270 $ 389 3 - $- % 389
U.S. agency mortgage-backed 8,487 164 8 8,643 5,338 119 1 5,456
Other U.S. agency 176 1 - 177 235 1 - 236
Total U.S. Treasury and
agency securities 8,933 165 8 9,090 5.962 120 [ 6,081
Obligations of states and
political subdivisions 484 14 - 498 313 3 4 312
Other securities:
Bonds, notes and preferred stock 182 - - 182 114 1 - L5
Other mortgage backed 1,245 19 - 1,264 2,266 17 2 2,281
Other 21 - 1 20 7 - 1 6
Total other securities 1,448 19 1 1,466 2,387 18 3 2,402
Total securities available for sale $10,865  $198 $9  $11,054 $8,662  $141 $8  $8,795
Contractual maturity distribution of securities available for sale at Dec. 31, 2002
Obligations Total
U.S. agency Total of states securities
(dollar amounts u.s. mortgage- Other U.S. Treasury and political Other available
in millions) Treasury backed U.S. agency and agency subdivisions sccurities for sale
Within one year
Amortized cost $251 - $171 $ 422 $ 2 $ 33 $ 437
Fair value $251 - $171 $ 422 $ 2 $ 33 $ 457
Yield 1.22% - 1.25% 1.24% 7.36% 1.85% 1.31%
I to 5 years
Amortized cost $18 - - § 18 $ 5 $ 65 $ 88
Fair value $ 18 - - $ 18 $ 6 S 65 $ 39
Yield 377% - - 377% 3.66% 437% 4.16%
Sto 10 years
Amortized cost $ 1 - $ 5 $ 6 $ 48 $ 2 $ 56
Fair value $ - $ 6 $ 7 $ 49 $ 3 $ 59
Yield 5.50% - 6.49% 6.31% 6.83% 6.07% 6.74%
Over 10 years
Amortized cost - - - - $429 $ 103 $ 3532
Fair value - - - - $441 $ 101 $ 542
Yield - - - - 7.39% 6.20% T17%
Mortgage-backed
securities
Amortized cost - $8.487 (a) - $8.487 - $1,245 (a)  $9.,732
Fair value - $8.643 - $8,643 - $1,264 $9,907
Yield - 4.38% - 438% - 5.62% 4.54%
Total amortized cost $270 $8,487 $176 $8.933 $484 $1,448 $10,865
Total fair value $270 $8,643 $177 $9.000 $498 $1.466 $11,054
Total yield 1.41% 4.38% 1.40% 4.23% 7.29% 5.53% 4.54%

Weighted average

contractual years to

maturity 31 N/M .19 26 (b) 14.05 N/M
N/M -- Not meaningful.
(a) The average expecied lives of “U.S. agency morigage-backed” and “Other morigage-backed” securities were approximately

2.6 years and 1.5 years, respectively, at Dec. 31, 2002.

(b) Excludes maturities of “U.S. agency mortgage-backed” securities.
Nore: Expected manirities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with
or without call or prepaymeni penaliies. Rates are calculated on a taxable equivalent basis using a 35% federal income tax rate.
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Investment securities

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001

Amortized

(in millions) cost

Gross unrealized
Gains Losses

Amortized
cost

Gross unrealized

Gains Losses

U.S. Treasury $ -

U.S. agency mortgage-backed 4s5

$ - $-
21 -

§ -
698

$ - $-
18 -

Total U.S. Treasury and
agency securities
Obligations of states and political
subdivisions 25
Other securities:
Stock of Federal Reserve Bank 45
Other mortgage-backed 2

455

21

25

45
2

698

22

45
3

{8

Total other securities 47

47

48

Total investment securities $527

$21

$548

Contractual maturity distribution of investment securities at Dec. 31, 2002

U.S. agency Obligations of states Other Total

(dollar amounts mortgage- and political mortgage- Other investment
in millions) backed subdivisions backed securities securities
1 to 5 years

Amortized cost $13 - - $13

Fair value $13 - - $13

Yield 5.68% - 5.68%
5 to 10 years

Amortized cost - $12 - $12

Fair value - $12 - $12

Yield - 5.66% - 5.66%
Over 10 years

Amortized cost - - - $45 (a} $45

Fair value - - - $45 (a) $45

Yield - - 6.00% 6.00%
Mortgage-backed

securities

Amortized cost $455 - $2 - $457

Fair value $476 - $2 - $478

Yield 6.72% - 4.76% - 6.71%
Total amortized cost $455 $25 $2 $45 $527
Total fair value $476 $25 $2 $45 $548
Total yield 6.72% 5.67% 4.76% 6.00% 6.60%
Weighted average

contractual years to

maturity - (b) 4.61 (b) -

{a) Federal Reserve Bank stock with no stated maturity.
(b) The average expected lives of “U.S. agency morigage-backed” and “Other mortgage-backed” securities were

approximately 1.9 years and 3.0 years, respectively, at Dec. 31, 2002.
Note: Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Rates are calculated on a taxable equivalent basis using a 35%

federal income tax rate.
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6. Securities (continued)

Gross realized gains were $59 million, and gross realized losses were less than $1 million, on sales of securities
available for sale in 2002. Gross realized gains and losses on the sales of securities available for sale were each
$1 million or less in 2001 and 2000. After-tax net gains on the sales of securities were $38 million in 2002, and
less than $1 million in 2001 and 2000. At Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, there were no issuers, other than
U.S. Government and its agencies, where the aggregate book value of securities exceeded 10% of shareholders’
equity. In addition, during 2001 the Corporation purchased $34.635 billion, and had proceeds from maturities of
$32.854 billion, of securities available for sale, primarily resulting from the acquisition and maturity of short
term U.S. agency discount notes required for pledging purposes against short term deposits.

Securities available for sale, investment securities and loans with book values of $10.1 billion at Dec. 31, 2002,
and $10.0 billion at Dec. 31, 2001, were required to be pledged to secure public and trust deposits, repurchase
agreements and for other purposes. Securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are recorded at the amounts at
which the securities were acquired or sold plus accrued interest. The collateral received from or provided to third
parties under resale or repurchase agreements can be sold or repledged by the holder of the collateral. The fair
value of collateral received totaled $156 million and the fair value of collateral provided totaled $139 million,
under these agreements at Dec. 31, 2002. The fair value of collateral either received from or provided to a third
party is continually monitored and additional collateral is obtained from, or requested to be returned to, the
Corporation as deemed appropriate.

7. Loans

For details of the loans outstanding at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001, see the 2002 and 2001 columns of the
“Composition of loan portfolio at year end” table on page 48. The information in those columns is incorporated
by reference into these Notes to Financial Statements.

For details of the nonperforming and past-due loans at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001, see the amounts in the 2002 and
2001 columns of the “Nonperforming assets at year end” and “Past-due loans at year end” tables on pages 52 and
54, respectively. The information in those columns is incorporated by reference into these Notes to Financial
Statements. For details on impaired loans at Dec. 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, see the amounts in the “Impaired
loans” table on page 53. The information in that table is incorporated by reference into these Notes to Financial
Statements. There was no foregone interest on restructured loans in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Loan securitizations

In 2002, the Corporation securitized $440 million of insurance premium finance loans in a three year revolver
and $512 million of jumbo residential mortgage loans. In 2002, the Corporation recognized a net pre-tax gain of
$1 million on the securitization of the insurance premium finance loans and a net pre-tax gain of $2 million on
the securitization of jumbo residential mortgage loans. These gains were recorded in financing-related revenue.

In 2001, the Corporation securitized $800 million of insurance premium finance loans in a 3 year revolver and
recorded a net pre-tax gain of $1 million. An existing $500 million securitization that was initiated in 1996
matured at that time. In addition, the Corporation securitized $669 million of home equity lines of credit loans
(HELOC), $1.280 billion of home equity installment loans (HEIL) and $1.344 billion of jumbo residential
mortgage loans. The Corporation recorded a net pre-tax gain of $59 million on these securitizations, which were
recorded in income from discontinued operations. In prior years, the Corporation securitized automobile loans,
jumbo residential mortgages and HEILs. All securitized loans were removed from the balance sheet upon
securitization.
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7. Loans (continued)

The Corporation has retained servicing responsibilities as well as retained subordinated interests in the
automobile, HEIL and HELOC securitizations. The corporation receives annual servicing fees of 0.25% or
0.375% for mortgage loans, 0.5% for the automobiles, HELOC and insurance premium finance loans, and .36%
for the HEIL loans, of the outstanding balance. The Corporation receives excess servicing fees after the investors
in the securitization trust have received the return for which they contracted. The investors and the securitization
trusts have no recourse to the Corporation’s other assets for failure of debtors to pay when due. The
Corporation’s retained interests are subordinate to investor’s interests. Their value is subject to credit,
prepayment, and interest rate risks on the transferred financial assets.

Key economic assumptions used in measuring the retained interests on the date of securitization in 2002 for the
insurance premium finance and jumbo residential mortgage loans were as follows: a monthly prepayment rate of
2%, and 2%; a weighed average life of .3 years and 3.7 years; and expected annual credit losses of .4% and -%
tespectively; and residual cash flows discounted at 12% for the insurance premium finance loan securitization.

At Dec. 31, 2002, key economic assumptions used in measuring the retained interests in securitizations are
reflected in the following table and paragraph:

Insurance Premium

HELOC Loans Automobile Loans HEIL Loans Finance Loans
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

(dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 (a) 2001 2002 2001
Carrying amount/fair value of

retained interests $21 $32 $10 $24 $- $27 $28 $18
Weighted-average life (in years) 1.5 2.5 8 1.1 N/A 1.8 3 3
Prepayment speed assumption

(annual rate) 55% 45% 28 % 28% N/A 32% 2% 2%
Expected credit losses (annual rate) 1% A% 2.74 % 1.29% N/A 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
Residual cash flows discount rate

(annual) 9% 9% 10% 10% N/A 0% 12% 12%

(a) In 2002, the Corporation sold most of its retained interest in the HEIL securitizations. The remaining balance at
Dec. 31, 2002, was less than $1 million.
N/A - Not applicable

The current fair values of the retained interests are sensitive to changes in the assumptions shown in the table
above. The sensitivity to an immediate adverse change of 10% to 20% in those assumptions results in a

$3 million or less decrease in each of the fair values. At Dec. 31, 2002, the carrying value and fair value of the
servicing assets related to the jumbo residential mortgage securitizations were $14 million and $17 million,
respectively. The weighted assumed average life of the jumbo residential mortgage securitizations was 3 years.
The current fair value of the retained interests from the jumbo residential mortgage securitizations are tested for
the sensitivity to immediate adverse changes in prepayment speeds. A 20% increase in prepayment speeds
results in a $2 million decrease in the fair value of the servicing assets.

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value based on different
variations in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption
to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair
value of the retained interest is calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality, changes in one
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factor may result in changes in another (for example, as with jumbo residential mortgages, increases in the
market interest rates may result in lower prepayments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or

counteract the sensitivities.

Actual and projected static pool credit losses at Dec. 31, 2002, for the securitized automobile and HELOC loans
are 2.18% and .28%, respectively. Credit losses on the jumbo residential mortgage and insurance premium
finance loans have been and are expected to be minimal. Static pool losses are calculated by summing the actual
and projected future credit losses and dividing them by the original balance of each pool of assets.

Cash flows received from and paid to securitized trusts

Year ended Dec. 31,

2002 2001 (b)
Proceeds from new securitizations $ 953 $4,122
Proceeds from collections reinvested in prior securitizations 3,276 1,904
Servicing fees received 50 49
Other cash flows received on retained interests (a) 34 17
Servicing advances 2 7
Repayment of servicing advances 2 7

(a) Represents rotal cash flows received from retained interests by the Corporation other than servicing fees. Other cash
flows include, for example, all cash flows from interest-only strips and cash above the mininum required level in cash

collateral accounts.
{b) Includes discontinued operations.

The following table presents quantitative information about past due loans and net credit losses related to
securitized financial assets and other assets managed together with them:

Total Principal

Principal Amount of
Loans 90 Days or

Amounts of Loans More Past Due Net Credit Losses
Dec. 31, " Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
Loans held in portfolio $ 889 $1,123 $1 $1 $1 52
Loans securitized {(a) 5,094 6,143 25 19 7 9
Total loans managed or securitized (a) $5,983 $7.266 $26 $20 $8 $11

(a) Excludes interest-only strips and servicing rights (or other retained interests) held for securitized assets.

Referral Arrangements With Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Entities
TRFCO

The Corporation’s primary banking subsidiary, Mellon Bank, N.A. (the Bank) has a referral relationship with
Three Rivers Funding Corp. (TRFCO), a special purpose entity that issues commercial paper. TRFCO is owned
by an independent third party and is not a subsidiary of either the Bank or the Corporation. Its financial results
are not included in the financial statements of the Bank or the Corporation. TRFCO was formed in 1990 and can
issue up to $5 billion of commercial paper to purchase pools of receivables or asset-backed securities. The Bank
operates as a referral agent and refers transactions to TRFCO. Loans or other assets are not transferred from the
Bank to TRFCO. The Bank provides all administrative services for TRFCO.

Every transaction in TRFCO is structured to provide substantial loss protection and minimize credit risk.
Transactions are overcollateralized with customer receivables and structured to the equivalent of an investment
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grade credit rating before consideration of any liquidity or credit support by the Bank. By agreement, liquidity
support is provided by the Bank up to the full amount of commercial paper outstanding. Such liquidity is
provided through transaction specific funding agreements for individual sales of receivables from third parties.
The Bank is obligated to provide liquidity support if collections on receivable pools are not sufficient to cover
associated commercial paper that has matured and the receivables related to maturing commercial paper or
proceeds from the issuance of commercial paper are insufficient to pay maturing commercial paper related to a

specific third party seller (not the Bank). The obligation to make purchases under the funding agreements
continues as long as TRFCO is not bankrupt and the amount of the purchase does not exceed the available
liquidity commitment. Liquidity support is also provided in the event of noncredit related operational reasons, or
if there were to be a systemic issue with the commercial paper market that would prevent the rollover of
commercial paper. Finally, the Bank has also provided a letter of credit for TRFCO in support of the commercial
paper issued. The maximum exposure for the letter of credit is the lesser of $400 million or 8% of the
outstanding commercial paper. A drawing under the letter of credit would occur only after the first loss credit
enhancement, provided by a third party seller (not the Bank), built into each transaction is completely exhausted
and there are not sufficient funds available from the liquidity providers to repay maturing commercial paper. The
facilities that provide liquidity and credit support to TRFCO are included in the standby letters of credit and
foreign and other guarantees table in Note 27. The estimated liability for losses related to these arrangements, if
any, is included in the reserve for unfunded commitments.

Fee revenue of $13 million was received from this entity in 2002 compared with $11 million in 2001, for the
services and the liquidity and credit support facilities. Liquidity facility fees are determined by the structure of
the transaction and the underlying credit risk of the servicer. The calculation of the liquidity fee under each
funding agreement is based on the outstanding amount of the commercial paper associated with each transaction
in TRFCO. Pricing on the TRFCO letter of credit is based on the same criteria used by the Bank for standby
Jetters of credit of similar risk characteristics. The calculation of the letter of credit fee is based on the aggregate
amount of TRFCO commercial paper outstanding reduced by the amount of commmercial paper outstanding in
connection with those transactions structured to the equivalent of a "AA" rating or higher. Fee revenue is
recognized in the month the fees are earned.

At Dec. 31, 2002, TRFCO’s receivables and commercial paper outstanding each totaled approximately

$1.2 billion, compared with $2.4 billion at Dec 31, 2001. The letter of credit provided by the Bank in support of
TRFCO’s commercial paper totaled $99 million at Dec. 31, 2002, compared with $163 million at Dec. 31, 2001.
The Corporation’s maximum loss exposure related to TRFCO, which is required to be disclosed under recently
issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 and No. 406, is the full amount of the liquidity facility, or $1.2 billion, at

Dec. 31, 2002. However, the probability of this loss scenario is remote as it would mean that all of TRFCO’s
receivables were wholly uncollectible. Since TRFCQO’s formation in 1990, the Bank has not been required to
provide any liquidity support or credit support under the letter of credit. In addition, the Bank has never
purchased a receivable from TRFCO or recorded a credit loss related to its relationship with TRFCO. The
Corporation is currently determining the impact of Interpretation No. 46 on its referral relationship with TRFCO,
which could result in the consolidation of TRFCO’s assets and liabilities of $1.2 billion into the Corporation’s
financial statements in the third quarter of 2003.

Sweetwater
In addition, the Bank had also referred transactions to Sweetwater Capital Corp. (Sweetwater), that was formed
in August 1999. Sweetwater issued commercial paper to make commercial loans to investment-grade and near

investment-grade entities. Following the Corporation’s 2001 divestitures and repositioning actions, the level of
commercial lending activity available for referral to Sweetwater was significantly reduced. As a consequence,
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the relationship with Sweetwater was no longer complementary with the Corporation’s business strategy. At
Dec. 31, 2002, Sweetwater had no receivables and the Bank is no longer providing credit or liquidity support. At
Dec. 31, 2001, its receivables totaled $1.1 billion.

8. Reserve for credit exposure

For details of the reserve for credit exposure, see the 2002, 2001 and 2000 columns of the “Reserve activity”
table on pages 58 and 59. The information in those columns is incorporated by reference into these Notes to

Financial Statements.

9. Premises and equipment

Dec. 31,
{in millions) 2002 2001
Land $ 26 $ 23
Buildings 266 295
Equipment (a) 777 606
Leasehold improvements 252 217
Subtotal 1,321 141
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (617) (510)
Total premises and equipment $ 704 $ 631

(a) Includes $156 million and $105 million, respectively, at Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001 for purchased and internally developed
capitalized software. Approximately $38 million of the increase in 2002 resulted from the Unifi acquisition.

The table above includes capital leases for premises and equipment at a net book value of $1 million at Dec. 31,
2002 and $2 million at Dec. 31, 2001.

Rental expense was $169 million, $134 million and $112 million, respectively, net of related sublease revenue of
$24 million, $15 million and $16 million, in 2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively. Depreciation and amortization
expense totaled $136 million, $98 million and $69 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Maintenance,
repairs and utilities expenses totaled $108 million, $99 million and $88 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

As of Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation and its subsidiaries are obligated under noncancelable leases with
expiration dates through 2019. A summary of the future minimum rental payments under noncancelable leases,
net of related sublease revenue totaling $111 million, is as follows: 2003--$169 million; 2004--$177 million;
2005--$ 160 million; 2006--$142 million; 2007--$133 million and 2008 through 2019--$394 million.

10. Other assets

Other assets totaled $5.7706 billion and $4.646 billion at Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, respectively. Included
in other assets are: $1.535 billion and $1.450 billion, respectively, of corporate owned life insurance;

$605 million and $568 million, respectively, of equity investments; and $401 million and $236 million,
respectively. of joint ventures and other investments. Receivables related to foreign exchange and derivatives
instruments totaled $1.4 billion and $782 million, respectively. In addition, other assets includes accounts, fees
and interest receivable, prepaid expenses and miscellaneous other assets. The majority of the $401 million of
investments in joint ventures and other investments at Dec. 31, 2002, relates to operating joint ventures and other
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investments including, ABN AMRO Mellon Global Securities Services B.V., CIBC Mellon Global Securities

Services Company, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, Russell/Mellon Analytical Services, Pareto Partners, Prime
Advisors, Inc., and various Buck Consultants, Inc. joint ventures.

11. Deposits

The aggregate amount of time deposits in denominations of $100,000 or greater was approximately $6.3 billion at
Dec. 31, 2002, and $3.2 billion at Dec. 31, 2001.

At Dec. 31, 2002, the scheduled maturities of time deposits for the years 2003 through 2007, and 2008 and
thereafter are as follows: $6.348 billion, $15 million. $21 million, $43 million, $10 million and $12 million,

respectively.

12. Revolving credit agreement

In 2002, the Corporation signed a one-year $300 million revolving credit agreement with several financial
institutions that served as a support facility for commercial paper and for general corporate purposes. This
facility will expire in the second quarter of 2003. The credit facility has several restrictions, including a
minimum 6% Tier I ratio and a 1.30 maximum double leverage limitation. At Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation
was in compliance with all of the restrictions. There were no other credit facilities issued to subsidiaries of the
Corporation at Dec. 31, 2002, or 200]1. No borrowings were made under any facility in 2002 or 2001.
Commitment fees totaled less than $1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

13. Notes and debentures (with original maturities over one year)

Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 (a) 2001 (a)
Parent Corporation:
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2002 (2.18% at Dec. 31, 2001) $ - $ 400
4.875% Senior Notes due 2007 428 -
5.00% Subordinated Notes due 2014 303 -
5.75% Senior Notes due 2003 319 314
6.00% Senior Notes due 2004 209 210
6.375% Subordinated Debentures due 2010 342 342
6.375% Senior Notes due 2011 (&) 360 327
6.40% Subordinated Notes due 2011 340 304
6.70% Subordinated Debentures due 2008 247 247
6.875% Subordinated Debentures due 2003 151 155
7.50% Senior Notes due 2005 335 325
Mellon Bank, N.A.:
Medium-Term Senior Bank Notes due 2003-2007 (1.40% to 8.55% at Dec. 31, 2002
and at Dec. 31, 2001) 105 105
6.50% Subordinated Notes due 2005 275 263
6.75% Subordinated Notes due 2003 152 157
7.00% Subordinated Notes due 2006 335 317
7.375% Subordinated Notes due 2007 350 327
7.625% Subordinated Notes due 2007 251 252
Total unsecured notes and debentures (with original maturities over one year) $4,493 $4,045

(a) Amounts include the effect of fair value hedge adjustments.
(b) Amount was translated from Sterling into U.S. dollars on a basis of U.S. $1.61 to £1, the rate of exchange on Dec. 31,
2002.
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In June 2002, the Corporation issued $400 million of 4.875% Senior Notes maturing in 2007. In November
2002, the Corporation issued $300 million of 5.00% subordinated notes maturing in 2014. The proceeds from
these issuances were used for general corporate purposes and to refund the Floating Rate Senior Notes which
came due in 2002 and, in part, to refund the 6.875% Subordinated Debentures due in 2003.

The Mellon Bank, N.A. notes are subordinated to obligations to depositors and other creditors. The medium-
term senior bank notes are subordinated to domestic depositors and are on par with other unsubordinated and
unsecured creditors of Mellon Bank. N.A.

The aggregate amounts of notes and debentures that mature during the five years 2003 through 2007 for the
Corporation are as follows: $616 million, $214 million, $698 million, $335 million and $1.038 billion,
respectively. The aggregate amounts of notes and debentures that mature during the five years 2003 through
2007 for Mellon Financial Corporation (Parent Corporation) are as follows: $461 million, $209 million,
$335 million, $0 million and $428 million, respectively.

14. Guaranteed preferred beneficial interests in Corporation’s junior subordinated deferrablie interest
debentures (trust-preferred securities)

The Corporation has two statutory business trusts, Mellon Capital I and Mellon Capital 11, of which the
Corporation owns all of the common stock. These trusts exist solely to issue capital securities. For financial
reporting purposes, the trusts are treated as subsidiaries and are consolidated into the financial statements of the
Corporation. The capital securities are presented as a separate line item on the consolidated balance sheet as
guaranteed preferred beneficial interests in Corporation’s junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
(trust-preferred securities). The trust-preferred securities qualify as Tier I capital. The trusts have issued the
trust-preferred securities and invested the net proceeds in junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
(subordinated debentures) issued to the trusts by the Corporation. The subordinated debentures are the sole
assets of the trusts. The Corporation has the right to defer payment of interest on the subordinated debentures at
any time, or from time to time, for periods not exceeding five years. If interest payments on the subordinated
debentures are deferred, the distributions on the trust-preferred securities also are deferred. Interest on the
subordinated debentures and distributions on the trust-preferred securities is cumulative. The Corporation,
through guarantees and agreements, has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the trusts’ obligations under
the trust-preferred securities.

For purposes of the following table and discussion that follows, the terms and conditions of the trust-preferred
securities are treated as identical to the underlying subordinated debentures.

Liquidation Balances at

(dollar amounts in millions, Stated preference Dec. 31, {a)
except per security amounts) maturity Payable per security 2002 2001
7.72% Series A 12/01/26 semiannual $1,000.00 $ 551 $494
7.995% Series B 1/15/27 semiannual $1,000.00 497 497
Total $1,048 $991

(a) Amounts include the effect of fair value hedge adjustments, which accounts for the increased balance in 2002.

The securities were each issued for a face value of $500 million and are reported net of issuance costs in the table
above. The securities are unsecured and subordinate to all senior debt (as defined) of the Corporation. The
Series A and Series B securities are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option of the Corporation on or after
Dec. 1, 2006, and Jan. 15, 2007, respectively, or prior to those dates, in whole, within 90 days following receipt
of a legal opinion that, due to a change in the tax laws or an administrative or judicial decision, there is a
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substantial risk that the tax deductibility of the interest could be disallowed (“tax event™) or the Corporation’s
reasonable determination that, due to a change in law or administrative or judicial decision, there is a substantial
risk that Tier [ capital treatment could be disallowed (“capital treatment event”). The Series A and Series B
securities are redeemable at 103.86% and 103.9975%, respectively, of the liquidation amounts, plus accrued
distributions, during the 12-month periods beginning Dec. 1., 20006, and Jan. 15, 2007, respectively (the call
dates). The redemption prices decline for the Series A and Series B securities by approximately 39 basis points
and approximately 40 basis points, respectively, during each of the following 12-month periods, until a final
redemption price of 100% of the liquidation amount is set for Dec. 1, 2016, and Jan. 15, 2017, respectively, and
thereafter. If the securities are redeemed following a tax event or capital treatment event, the greater of 100% of
the principal amount or the sum of the present value of the first redemption price plus the present value of
interest payments from the redemption date to the call date will be paid.

15. Preferred stock

The Corporation has authorized 50 million shares of preferred stock, none of which was issued at Dec. 31, 2002,
2001, or 2000.

16. Regulatory capital requirements
A discussion about the Corporation’s regulatory capital requirements for 2002 and 2001 is presented in the

“Regulatory capital’” section on pages 36 through 38 and is incorporated by reference into these Notes to
Financial Statements.

17. Noninterest revenue

The components of noninterest revenue for the three years ended Dec. 31, 2002, are presented in the “Noninterest
revenue” table on page 6. That table, including through the “Total noninterest revenue” line, is incorporated by
reference into these Notes to Financial Statements.

18. Foreign exchange revenue and securities trading revenue

The Corporation’s trading activities involve market-making in a variety of financial instruments including
currencies, U.S. Treasury and agency securities, municipal securities, money market instruments, asset-backed
securities, corporate bonds and equities, as well as related derivative instruments. The most significant portion of
the Corporation’s trading revenue relates to transactions undertaken with customers in such instruments. The
resulting market risk is generally mitigated by entering into matching or offsetting positions.

The Corporation may also enter into positions in such instruments based upon expectations of future market
conditions. The risk related to such unmatched or open positions is actively monitored and controlled by position

risk limits. To maximize net trading revenue, positions are generally managed together by instrument.

Trading revenue is presented on the income statement as two separate items in noninterest revenue: foreign
exchange revenue and securities trading revenue.

The results of the Corporation’s foreign exchange revenue and securities trading revenue are presented, by class
of financial instrument, in the following table.
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Foreign exchange revenue and securities trading revenue Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Foreign exchange contracts $146 3171 $le2

Debt instruments 28 6 13

Interest rate contracts 9 17 3
Total foreign exchange revenue and securities trading revenue (a) $183 3194 $178

{a) The Corporation recorded an unrealized loss of approximately 38 million at Dec. 31, 2002, an unrealized loss of
approximately $6 million at Dec. 31, 2001, and an unrealized gain of approximately $3 million ar Dec. 31, 2000, related
ro securities held in the trading portfolio.

19. Net interest revenue

Net interest revenue Year ended Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Interest revenue Interest and fees on loans (loan fees
of $40, $48. and $45) $ 448 $ 652 $ 833
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 62 96 60
Federal funds sold and sccurities under resale agreements 8 46 62
Other money market investments 3 8 5
Trading account securities 8 16 18
Securities - nontaxable 25 12 7
Securities - taxable 502 567 417
Total interest revenue 1,056 1,397 1.402
Interest expense Deposits in domestic offices 109 308 191
Deposits in foreign offices 63 122 149
Federal funds purchased and securities under repurchase agreements 30 65 104
Other short-term borrowings 30 58 92
Notes and debentures 135 191 237
Trust-preferred securitics 79 79 79
Total interest expense 446 823 852
Net interest revenue $ 610 S 574 $ 550

20. Business sectors

The Corporation’s business sectors reflect its management structure, the characteristics of its products and
services, and the classes of customers to which those products and services are delivered. Lines of business that
offer similar or related products and services to common or similar customer decision makers have been
combined into six core business sectors: Institutional Asset Management, Mutual Funds, Private Wealth
Management, Asset Servicing, Human Resources Services and Treasury Services. Institutional Asset
Management is comprised of Mellon Institutional Asset Management, which consists of 15 individual asset
management companies and joint ventures offering a broad range of equity, fixed income and liquidity
management products; and Mellon Global Investments, which distributes investment management products
internationally. Mutual Funds consists of all the activities associated with the Dreyfus/Founders complex of
mutual funds. Private Wealth Management consists of investment management, wealth management and private
banking services for high net worth individuals, including the activities of Mellon United National Bank in
Florida. Asset Servicing includes institutional trust and custody, foreign exchange, securities lending, back
office outsourcing for investment managers, and substantially all of the Corporation’s joint ventures. Human
Resources (HR) Services includes three lines of business: Buck Consultants, Mellon HR Solutions and Mellon
Investor Services. The HR Services sector provides human resources consulting, outsourcing and administrative
services that leverage technology to support client HR administration and employee benefit plan administration,
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as well as investor services such as shareholder and securities transfer services. Treasury Services includes
global cash management, large corporate banking, insurance premium financing, commercial real estate lending,
corporate finance and derivative products, securities underwriting and trading, and the activities of Mellon Ist

Business Bank in California.

For details of business sectors, see the table and the first and second paragraphs on pages 19 and 20, as well as
the first five paragraphs under Cther Activity on pages 31 through 33. The table, through “Average Tier I
preferred equity,” and information in those paragraphs are incorporated by reference into these Notes to Financial
Statements.

21. Income taxes

Income tax expense applicable to income from continuing operations before income taxes consists of:

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in illions) 2002 2001 2000
Current taxes:
Federal ‘ $317 $270 $276
State and local 31 39 38
Foreign 21 28 41
Total current tax expense 369 337 355
Deferred taxes:
Federal (38) 97 62
State and local (2) - 10
Foreign 3) ) -
Total deferred tax expense/(benefit) 43) (98) 72
Provision for income taxes $326 $239 $427

In addition to amounts applicable to income before taxes, the following income tax (benefit) amounts were
recorded in shareholders’ equity:

{(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Compensation expense for tax purposes in excess
of amounts recognized for financial statement purposes $(14) $(36) $(49)
Other comprehensive results 8 35 59
Total tax (benefit) $ (6) $ (D $ 10
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The provision for income taxes was different from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal

income tax rate to income from continuing operations before income taxes due to the items listed in the following
table.

(dollar amounts in millions) 2002 200! 2000
Federal statutory tax rate 35% 35% 35%
Tax expense computed at statutory rate $348 $237 $414
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 19 26 32
Amartization of goodwill - 12 18
Tax exempt income (34) (3D (25)
Other, net (7) (3) (12)
Provision for income taxes $326 $239 $427
Effective income tax rate 32.8% 354% 36.1%

The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expense not deductible until paid $337 $180 $1i1
Provision for credit losses and
write-downs on real estate acquired 76 135 117
Occupancy expense 69 68 67
Other 145 175 48
Total deferred tax assets 627 558 343
Deferred tax liabilities:
Lease financing revenue 481 490 468
Depreciation and amortization 98 61 2
Unrealized gain on securities available for sale 68 47 -
Other S5 66 39
Total deferred tax liabilities 702 664 509
Net deferred tax liability $ 75 $106 $166

The Corporation determined that it was not required to establish a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
because it is management’s assertion that the deferred tax assets are likely to be realized through a carryback to

taxable income in prior years, future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and, to a lesser extent,
future taxable income.

Locations domiciled outside of the United States generated foreign pre-tax earnings of approximately $43 million
in 2002, $87 million in 2001, and $85 million in 2000.
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22. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, without considering any dilutive items. Diluted EPS is computed by
dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and common stock equivalents for items
that are dilutive, net of shares assumed to be repurchased using the treasury stock method. Common stock
equivalents arise from the assumed conversion of outstanding stock options.

Earnings per share
(dollar amounts in millions, except per Year ended Dec. 31,
share amounts; shares in thousands) : 2001

Basic earnings per share

Average shares outstanding 436,253 472,684

Income from continuing operations $667 $ 436
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $1.53 $ 92

Income from discontinued operaticns $ 15 $ 882
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations $ .03 $ 1.87

Net income $1,318
Basic earnings per share 3279

Diluted earnings per share

Average shares outstanding 436,253 472,684 490,437
Common stock equivalents- stock options (a) 2,936 5,028 6,388

Total 439,189 477,712 496,825
Income from continuing operations $ 667 $ 436 $ 756
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $1.52 $ 91 $1.52
Income from discontinued operations $ 15 $ 882 $ 251
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations $ .03 $ 185 $ 51
Net income $ 682 $1,318 $1,007
Diluted earnings per share $1.55 $ 276 $ 2.03

(a) Options to purchase 21,919 and 3,905 and 3,688 shares of common stock were not included in the computation of
diluted earnings per common share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market prices of
the common shares for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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23. Comprehensive resuits

Comprehensive results are defined as net income, as currently reported, as well as certain other items, as shown

below, not currently included in the income statement.

Accumulated unrealized gain (loss), net of tax Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax

Beginning balance $ (44) $(39) $ (16
Period change 8) (5) (23)
Ending balance $ (52) $(44) $ (39)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax

Beginning balance $ - $ - $§ -

Period change (21) - -

Ending balance $ 21 $ $ -

Unrealized gain (loss) on assets available for sale, net of tax

Beginning balance $ 86 $ 1 $(119)
Period change 35 85 120

Ending balance $121 $ 86 $ 1

Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax

Beginning balance $ (12) 3 - N/A
Period change 5 (12) N/A
Ending balance $ D $(12) (a) N/A
Total accumulated unrealized gain (loss), net of tax

Beginning balance $ 30 5(38) $(135)
Period change 11 68 97

Ending balance $ 41 $ 30 $ (38)
(a) Includes discontinued operations.

Tax effects allocated to each component of comprehensive resuits Before tax Tax (expense)/ After tax
(in millions) amount benefit amount
Year ended Dec. 31, 2000:

Foreign currency transiation adjustment $(28) $5 $(23)
Unrealized gain (loss) on assets available for sale:

Unrealized gain (loss) during the year 183 (64) 119

Less: Reclassification adjustments 1 - {

Unrealized gain (loss) 184 (64) 120
Other comprehensive results $156 $(59) $ 97
Year ended Dec. 31, 2001:

Foreign currency translation adjustment $ (10) $ 5 $ 5
Unrealized gain (loss) on assets available for sale:

Unrealized gain (loss) during the year 132 “amn 85

Less: Reclassification adjustments - -

Unrealized gain (loss) 132 47N 85
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges (19 7 (12)
Other comprehensive results $103 $(35) $ 68
Year ended Dec. 31, 2002:

Foreign currency translation adjustment $(14) $ 6 $ ®
Minimum pension liability (32) 11 2D
Unrealized gain (loss) on assets available for sale:

Unrealized gain (loss) during the year 95 (35) 60

Less: Reclassification adjustments (38) 13 (25)

Unrealized gain (loss) S7 (22) 35
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 8 3) 5
Other comprehensive results $ 19 3(8) $ 1t
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24. Employee benefits
Pension plans

The Corporation’s largest subsidiaries sponsor trusteed, noncontributory, defined benefit pension plans.
Together, these plans cover substantially all salaried employees of the Corporation. The plans provide benefits
that are based on the employees’ years of service and compensation. In addition, several unfunded plans exist for
certain employees or for purposes that are not addressed by the funded plans.

The following tables report the combined data of the funded and unfunded plans. The impact of the amendments
shown for 2002 for the funded plans is primarily related to an increase in pension benefits granted to a majority
of the retired participants on Jan. 1, 2002. The impact of acquisitions shown befow for 2002 is primarily related
to the acquisition of Unifi Network. The impact of divestitures in 2001 is primarily related to the Citizens
transaction.

{a} Includes 3 million shares of Mellon Financial Corporation common stock at Dec. 31, 2002 and Dec. 31, 2001. The Mellon Bank,
N.A. retirement plan received approximately $1 million and $2 million of dividends from Mellon Financial Corporation’s common
stock in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

2002 200t
(in millions) Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded
Weighted-average assumptions as of Dec. 31
Discount rate 6.75% 6.75% 7.50% 7.50%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 4.50% 4.50%
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 787 $ 128 $ 788 $123
Service cost 38 3 33 2
Interest cost 62 9 59 9
Amendments 28 (2) - -
Actuarial (gain)/loss 82 12 6 4
Acquisitions/(divestitures) 27 - (70) -
Benefits paid 34) 8)) 27 (10)
Foreign currency exchange rate change 6 - ) -
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 996 $139 $ 787 $128
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $1,602 $ - $1,802 5 -
Return on plan assets (184) - (112) -
Acquisitions/(divestitures) 29 - (71) -
Employer contributions 9 - 12 -
Benefits paid 34) - 27 -
Foreign currency exchange rate change 8 - (2) -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year (a) $1,430 $ - $1,602 $ -
Reconciliation of funded status with financial statements
Funded status at Dec. 31 $ 434 $(139) $ 815 $(128)
Unrecognized net transition (asset)/obligation ) - C) -
Unrecognized prior service cost 27 3 4 12
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain)/loss 492 23 7 15
Net amount recognized at Dec. 31 $ 951 $(108) $ 822 $(101)
|
\
|
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24. Employee benefits (continued)

2002 2001 2000
(dollar amounts in millions) Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded
Weighted-average assumptions as of Jan. 1
Discount rate 7.5% 7.5% 8.0% 8.0% 7.5% 7.5%
Expected return on assets 10.0 - 10.0 - 10.0 -
Rate of compensation increase 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 4.5 4.5
Components of net periodic benefit cost (eredit)
Service cost $ 38 $3 $ 33 $2 $ 34 $3
Interest cost 62 9 59 9 53 .8
Expected return on plan assets (188) - (18hH) (163) -
Amortization of transition asset 2) - (2) - 2) -
Amortization of prior service cost 4 2 | 2 2 2
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss Qn 2 “4hH 1 (39) 1
Gain on divestitures - - 3) - - -
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $(113) $16 $(134) $14 $(115) $14
2002 2001
(in millions) Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost $951 $ - $822 $ -
Benefit liability (18) 130) - (113)
Intangible asset - 8 - 12
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 18 14 - -
Net amount recognized at Dec. 31 $951 $(108) £822 $(10D)

The aggregate benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the funded pension plans with benefit
obligations in excess of plan assets were $108 million and $89 million, respectively, as of Dec. 31, 2002. The
aggregate accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the funded pension plans with
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $57 million and $48 million, respectively, as of
Dec. 31, 2002. The aggregate accumulated benefit obligation for the unfunded plans was $130 million as of

Dec. 31, 2002 and $113 million as of Dec. 31, 2001.

The Corporation considers its accounting policy regarding pensions to be critical to the presentation of the
Corporation’s financial condition since it requires management to make numerous complex and subjective
estimates and assumptions relating to amounts which are inherently uncertain. This policy is discussed below.

Accounting principles for defined benefit pension plans are promulgated in SFAS No. 87, “Employers’
Accounting for Pensions.” The data above are prepared in accordance with SFAS No. 87. Three primary
economic assumptions influence the reported values of plan liabilities and pension costs. SFAS No. 87 directs
that each significant assumption used in the measurement of net periodic benefit costs (credits) shall reflect the
Corporation's best estimate solely with respect to that individual assumption. The Corporation takes the

following factors into consideration when establishing each assumption.

The discount rate represents an estimate of the rate at which retirement plan benefits could be effectively settled.
The Corporation obtains data on several reference points when setting the discount rate including current rates of
return available on longer term high grade bonds and changes in rates that have occurred over the past year. This
assumption is sensitive to movements in market rates that have occurred since the preceding valuation date and,

therefore, is likely to change from year to year.
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24. Employee benefits (continued)

The assumed rate of return on plan assets represents an estimate of long term returns available to investors who
hold a mixture of stocks, bonds and cash equivalent securities. When setting its expected return on plan assets
assumption, the Corporation considers long term rates of return on various asset classes (both historical and
forecasted, using data collected from various sources generally regarded as authoritative) in the context of
expected long term average asset allocations for its defined benefit pension plans. Certain asset mix benchmarks

employed by institutional investors also serve as reference points. To develop assumed rates of return, for
example, the Corporation applied a benchmark asset allocation of 65% stocks, 30% bonds and 5% cash
equivalent securities, to the following rates of return on each asset class.

Prior to 2003 2003 and after

Stocks 12% 10%
Bonds 7% 6%
Cash equivalent securities 4% 4%

Composite rate 10% 8.5%

As the table indicates, the Corporation has reduced its expected returns for equities and fixed income securities
for 2003 and the future. The Corporation believes that these individual rates of return are reasonable estimates,
based on long term historical data, of the long term returns that may be expected from each asset class, and that a
65/30/5 assumed asset mix is a reasonable long term benchmark for institutional investors. Asset classes actually
employed in the retirement plans, as well as asset allocation, vary from time to time. This assumption is set with
a long term horizon and, therefore is not expected to change on an annual basis.

When setting its salary scale assumption, the Corporation takes into consideration its recent experience with
respect to average rates of salary increase, salary survey data relative to average salary increases that other large
corporations have awarded, and salary increases that other large corporations expect to award over the upcoming
year. This assumption is somewhat sensitive to inflation and, therefore, tends to change from year to year.

Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan

The Corporation’s Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan (1996) provides for the issuance of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance units, deferred cash incentive awards, shares of restricted stock and deferred
share awards to officers and other key employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, as approved by the
Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors. Stock options may be granted at prices not iess than the
fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Options may be exercised during fixed periods of
time from one year to 10 years from the date of grant. In the event of a change in control of the Corporation, as
defined in the plan, these options will become immediately exercisable, unless otherwise provided in the option
agreement. Total outstanding grants as of Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were 25,271,345; 21,321,194; and
21,192,097 shares, respectively. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, options for 6,310,053; 5,098,753, and 4,282,353
shares, respectively, were granted and options for 1,029,364; 3,303,757; and 4,678,503 shares, respectively, were
exercised. No expense was recorded in 2002, 2001 or 2000 for these options. At Dec. 31, 2002,

14,164,232 shares were available for grant. At Dec. 31, 2001, 20,362,583 shares were available for grant.

Included in the Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, outstanding grants were options for 235,306; 274,046; and

692,788 shares, respectively, that become exercisable in full near the end of their 10-year terms, but the exercise
dates may be accelerated to an earlier date by the Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors, based
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on the optionee’s and the Corporation’s performance. There was no expense recorded for these options in 2002

and 2001. The Corporation recognized $3 million of compensation expense for the acceleration of these options
in 2000.

Restricted stock and deferred share awards have also been issued and are outstanding under the Plan. These
awards are discussed in the “Profit Bonus Plan, Mellon Incentive Compensation Plan and Restricted Stock
Awards” section on page 104.

Stock Option Plans for Outside Directors

The Corporation has three stock option plans that provide for the granting of options to non-employee members
of the Corporation’s Boards of Directors. The Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors (2001) provides for
grants of stock options to the non-employee directors of the Corporation and members of the Corporation’s
advisory Board of Directors. The Stock Option Plan for the Mellon Financial Group West Coast Board of
Directors (1998) and the Stock Option Plan for Affiliate Boards of Directors (1999) provide for grants of stock
options to the non-employee members of those boards who are not also members of the Corporation’s Board of
Directors. No grants can be made to employees of the Corporation under these plans. The timing, amounts,
recipients and other terms of the option grants are determined by the terms of the directors’ option plans and no
person or committee has discretion over these grants. The exercise price of the options is equal to the fair market
value of the common stock on the grant date. All options have a term of 10 years from the regular date of grant
and become exercisable one year from the regular grant date. Directors elected during the service year are
granted options on a pro rata basis to those granted to the directors at the start of the service year. In the event of
a change in control of the Corporation, as defined in the Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors (2001), the
options granted under that plan will become immediately exercisable. Total outstanding grants as of Dec. 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, were 971,235; 1,160,595, and 1,207,511 shares, respectively. During 2002, 2001 and
2000, options for 56,900; 86.484; and 64,800 shares, respectively, were granted and options for 224,760;
132,180; and 158,112 shares, respectively, were exercised. No expense was recorded in 2002, 2001 and 2000 for
these options. At Dec. 31, 2002, options for 546,221 shares were available for grant. At Dec. 31, 2001, options
for 581,621 shares were available for grant.

Dreyfus Stock Option Plan

Dreyfus had a stock option plan prior to the August 1994 merger with the Corporation. Options granted under
this plan were not exercisable within two years nor more than 10 years from the date of grant. Options for
Dreyfus stock were automatically converted into options for the Corporation’s common stock on the merger date.
Total outstanding grants as of Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, were 50,000; 85,400; and 221,272 shares,
respectively. No options were granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000. No further options will be granted under this
plan. Options for 29,000; 109,648; and 115,236 shares were exercised in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Summary

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan, the Stock Option
Plans for Outside Directors and the Dreyfus Plan. Requirements for stock option shares can be met from either
unissued or treasury shares. All shares issued in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were from treasury shares.

Shares subject

Average exercise

Stock option activity to option price
Balance at Dec. 31, 1999 24,019,980 $20.84
Granted 4,347,153 (a) 40.04
Exercised (4,951,851) 14.08
Forfeited (794,402) 32.78
Balance at Dec. 31, 2000 22,620,880 25.59
Granted 5,185,237 (a) 39.28
Exercised (3,545,585) 17.91
Forfeited (1,693,343) 37.17
Balance at Dec. 31, 2001 22,567,189 29.07
Granted 6,366,953 (a) 28.74
Exercised (1,283,124) {3.53
Forfeited (1,358,438) 3543
Balance at Dec. 31, 2002 26,292,580 $29.42

(a) Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2002, 2001 and
2000 was estimated ar $8.82, $12.03 and $11.93 per share, respectively. See Note | for a discussion of the pricing

assumptions.

The following table summarizes the characteristics of stock options outstanding under the Long-Term Profit
Incentive Plan, the Stock Option Plans for Qutside Directors and the Dreyfus Plan at Dec. 31, 2002.

Stock options cutstanding at Dec. 31, 2002

Qutstanding

Exercisable (&)

Average Average

Average exercise exercise

Exercise price range Shares life (a) price Shares price
$6.97 - $13.16 3,022,813 1.9 $9.77 3,022,813 $ 9.77
$13.25 - $23.88 3,449,593 4.0 17.56 3,428,320 17.52
$24.00 - $24.46 4,224,551 9.6 24.46 - -
$24.65 - $34.41 3,712,990 53 3242 3,392,420 32.61
$34.63 - $38.19 3,589,253 6.9 36.01 2,698,890 35.55
$38.24 - $38.63 3,495,376 8.6 38.50 1,145,139 38.50
$38.70 - $40.25 3,602,345 8.0 39.80 1,653,994 40.25
$40.31 - $50.88 1,195,659 7.0 44.14 364,135 43.75
26,292,580 6.5 $29.42 15,705,711 $26.92

(a) Average contractual life remaining in years.
(b) At Dec. 31, 2001, 14,034,702 options were exercisable at an average exercise price of $23.08. At Dec. 31, 2000,
13,774,510 options were exercisable at an average exercise price of $18.37.
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Broad-Based Employee Stock Options

In June 1999, the Corporation adopted its ShareSuccess Plan, a broad-based employee stock option plan covering
full- and part-time benefited employees who are not participants in the Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan
discussed previously. Effective June 15, 1999, and each subsequent year, each full-time employee was granted
an option to purchase 150 shares and each benefited part-time employee was granted an option to purchase

75 shares of the Corporation’s common stock. In addition, effective June 15, 2001, each non-benefited part-time
employee was granted an option to purchase 75 shares of the Corporation’s common stock. The exercise price
was equal to the stock price on the grant date. The options become exercisable after seven years, or at any time
after one year from the grant date if the Corporation’s common stock closing market price equals or exceeds a
predetermined price for 10 consecutive trading days. In the event of a change in control of the Corporation, as
defined in the plan. these options become immediately exercisable, subject to certain conditions. All outstanding
options expire 10 years after the grant date. On Nov. 10, 2000, the options granted on June 15, 1999, vested
when the Corporation’s common stock closing market price met or exceeded $45 per share for the 10th
consecutive trading day. The options granted in 2000, 2001 and 2002 have not yet vested and will vest,
respectively, when the Corporation’s common stock closing market price meets or exceeds $50, $60 and $45 per
share for 10 consecutive trading days. No expense was recorded in 2002, 2001 and 2000 for these options. The
following table presents the activity in the ShareSuccess Plan during 2002, 2001 and 2000. All shares issued
were from treasury shares. At Dec. 31, 2002, 1,344,487 shares were available for grant. At Dec. 31, 2001,
3,310,230 shares were available for grant. The ShareSuccess Plan does not anticipate additional annual grants in
the near-term.

Shares subject Average
Broad-based options to option exercise price
Balance at Dec. 31, 1999 2,906,850 $33.67
Granted 3,051,585 37.00
Exercised (706,710) 33.67
Forfeited (907,110) 34.75
Balance at Dec. 31, 2000 4,344,615 35.78
Granted 3,247,200 44.00
Exercised (385,795) 33.67
Forfeited (1,483,755) 40.03
Balance at Dec. 31, 2001 5,722,265 39.48
Granted 2,849,505 33.68
Exercised (33,025) 33.71
Forfeited (883,762) 39.77
Balance at Dec. 31, 2002 (a) 7,654,983 $37.31

(a) The exercise price for all options outstanding ranged from $33.63 to $44.00. The average remaining contractual life
was 8.4 years for all options outstanding ar Dec. 31, 2002. At Dec. 31, 2002, 1,067,613 shares were exercisable at an
average share price of $33.67. At Dec. 31, 2001, 1,160,195 shares were exercisable at an average share price of
333.67. At Dec. 31, 2000, 1,599,915 shares were exercisable ar an average share price of $33.67. Using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, the average fair value of options granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was estimated at
$11.11, 310.64 and $9.01 per share, respectively. See Note | for a discussion of the pricing asswmptions.

Emplovee Stock Purchase Plan

In early 2001, the Corporation introduced an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP). All active employees of the
Corporation and designated subsidiaries are eligible to participate. Participants purchased the Corporation’s
common stock at 85% of its fair market value on either the first trading day or last trading day of each purchase
period, whichever was lower. Purchase periods are three months. No charge to earnings is required with respect
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to this plan. Effective March 1, 2003, participants will purchase common stock at 95% of its fair market value on
the last trading day of each purchase period. In 2002, 871,908 shares were issued at prices ranging from $22.28
to $30.91. In 2001, 497,159 shares were issued at prices ranging from $29.54 to $38.95. At Dec. 31. 2002,
8,630,938 shares were available for purchase.

Pro forma cost of stock options

See “Stock options” in Note 1 for a discussion of the pro forma costs of stock options.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan

Employees’ payroll deductions contributed into retirement savings accounts are matched by the Corporation’s
contribution of common stock, at the rate of $.65 on the dollar, up to 6% of the employee’s base salary. The
contribution rates will remain at $.65 on the dollar in 2003. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Corporation recognized
$31 million, $21 million and $15 million, respectively, of expense related to this plan and contributed 931,650;
490,572; and 381,056 shares, respectively. All shares contributed in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were issued from
treasury stock. The plan held 12,824,293; 12,276,161, and 12,201,272 shares of the Corporation’s common stock
at Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Buck had a separate retirement savings plan in which employees’ payroll deductions were matched at a rate of
between 75% and 100%. The match was up to 6% of the employees’ annual base salary with an annual
maximum contribution per employee. Expense related to this plan was $5 million in 2000. Beginning in 2001,
the Buck employees participated in the Mellon 401(k) plan described above.

Profit Bonus Plan, Mellon Incentive Compensation Plan and Restricted Stock Awards

Performance-based awards are made to key employees at the discretion of the Human Resources Committee of
the Board of Directors. The granting of these awards is based upon the performance of the key employees and on
the Corporation’s overall performance (or particular business line performance) in achieving its objectives. At
the Committee’s election, awards may be paid in a lump sum or may be deferred and paid over a period of up to
15 years. The value of awards granted was $51 million, $54 million and $61 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, and can be in the form of cash, common stock, restricted stock or deferred share awards equivalent
to restricted stock. The employee is generally prevented from selling or transferring restricted stock or deferred
share awards for a three-year period, and except in certain circumstances the shares or units are forfeited if
employment is terminated during that period. Restricted stock, awarded in connection with the Profit Bonus
Plan, totaling 193,457; 80,350; and 146,450 shares, with a weighted-average market value on the date of grant of
$23.19, $38.70 and $45.18 per share, was awarded for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In addition to the
restricted stock awarded in connection with the Profit Bonus Plan in 2002, 2001 and 2000, there were 1,288,579,
1,238,988; and 939,320 restricted shares awarded, respectively, to senior officers and various key employees with
a weighted-average grant-date per share market value of $37.40; $42.06; and $35.26, respectively. Vesting of
these shares is primarily related to performance and is expected to occur over a three-to-seven-year period.
Performance accelerated grants cliff-vest in full after seven years. In the event of a change in control of the
Corporation, as defined in the plan, the restrictions on sale or transfer will immediately terminate. The total
compensation expense recognized for these restricted shares was $24 million, $15 million and $13 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Total outstanding shares of restricted stock and deferred share awards as of
Dec. 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were 3,534,206; 2,829,385 and 2,600,538, respectively. All grants of restricted
stock are made under the Corporation’s Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan (1996) discussed on pages 100 and 101
under “Long-Term Profit Incentive Plan.”
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Employee Stock Ownership Plan

In 1989, an Employee Stock Gwnership Plan (ESOP) was formed to hold certain shares of Mellon Financial
Corporation common stock previously held in other defined contribution plans sponsored by the Corporation and
its subsidiaries. The ESOP was merged with and into the Corporation’s 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan in June
2002. Assets formerly in the ESOP are now in the 401(k) trust and are included in participants’ 401(k) plan
statements. At Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, this plan held 218,826; and 277,667 shares, respectively, of the
Corporation’s common stock.

Postretirement benefits other than pensions

The Corporation shares in the cost of providing managed care, Medicare supplement and/or major medical
programs for employees who retired prior to Jan. 1, 1991. Employees who retired subsequent to Jan. 1, 199],
who were between the ages of 55 and 65 on Jan. 1, 1991, and who had at least 15 years of service were provided
with a defined dollar supplement to assist them in purchasing heaith insurance. When these employees reached
age 65, they became responsible for their own supplemental coverage. The cost of providing these benefits
amounted to $6 million in 2002, $5 million in 2001 and $4 million in 2000. Early retirees who do not meet these
age and service requirements are eligible to purchase health coverage at their own expense under the standard
plans that are offered to active employees through the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
(COBRA). These benefits are provided through various insurance carriers whose premiums are based on claims
paid during the year.

The following table sets forth the components of the costs and liability of the Corporation’s postretirement health
care and life insurance benefits programs for current and future retirees.

Accumulated

Accrued postretirement postretirement Unrecognized
benefit cost benefit obligation transition obligation
{(in millions) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2000 2000 2062 2001 2000
Balance at Jan. 1 $57 $56 $57 $58 $56 $51 ST $23) 324
Recognition of components of
net periodic postretirement
benefit costs:
Service cost 2 1 I 2 1 1 - - -
Interest cost 4 4 4 4 4 4 - - -
Amortization of:
Transition obligation 2 2 l - - - 2 2 1
{Gains) losses 2) 2) (2) - - - - - -
6 5 4 6 5 5 2 2 1
Actuarial (gains) losses
including a change in the
discount rate - - - 2 5 5 - - -
Divestitures - - - - 4) - - 4 -
Benefit payments (4) (4) (5) (4) 4) (5 - - -
Balance at Dec. 31 $59 $57 $56 $62 $58 $56 $(15)  3(17)  $(23)

Discount rates of 7.5% and 8.0%, respectively, were used to estimate the 2002 and 2001 net periodic post
retirement benefit costs, and rates of 6.75% and 7.5% were used to value the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations at year-end 2002 and 2001, respectively. A health care cost trend rate was used to recognize the effect
of expected changes in future health care costs. The future annual increase assumed in the cost of health care
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benefits was 5.75% for 2003 and was decreased gradually to 4.25% for 2006 and thereafter. The health care cost
trend rate assumption may have a significant impact on the amounts reported. Increasing the assumed health care
cost trend by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
by approximately $6 million and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the net periodic
postretirement benefit cost by less than $1 million. Decreasing the assumed health care cost trend by one
percentage point each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by approximately

$5 million and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the net periodic postretirement benefit
cost by less than $1 million.

25. Restrictions on dividends and regulatory limitations

The prior approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) or the Federal Reserve Board, as
applicable, is required if the total of all dividends declared by a national or state member bank subsidiary in any
calendar year exceeds the bank subsidiary’s net profits, as defined, for that year, combined with its retained net
profits for the preceding two calendar years. Additionally, such bank subsidiaries may not declare dividends in
excess of net profits on hand, as defined, after deducting the amount by which the principal amount of all loans
on which interest is past due for a period of six months or more exceeds the reserve for credit losses.

Under the first and currently more restrictive of the foregoing federal dividend limitations, the Corporation’s
national and state member bank subsidiaries can, without prior regulatory approval, declare dividends subsequent
to Dec. 31, 2002, of up to approximately $555 million of their retained earnings of $1.516 billion at Dec. 31,
2002, less any dividends declared and plus or minus net profits or losses, as defined, earned between Jan. 1,
2003, and the date of any such dividend declaration.

The payment of dividends also is limited by minimum capital requirements imposed on all bank subsidiaries.
The Corporation’s bank subsidiaries exceed these minimum requirements. The ability of state member and
nonmember banks to pay dividends also is limited by state banking regulations. The bank subsidiaries declared
dividends of $908 million in 2002, $770 million in 2001 and $979 million in 2000 (of which $876 million,
$739 million and $944 million, respectively, were paid to the Parent Corporation). The Federal Reserve Board
and the OCC have issued additional guidelines that require bank holding companies and national banks to
continually evaluate the level of cash dividends in relation to their respective operating income, capital needs,
asset quality and overall financial condition.

The Federal Reserve Act limits extensions of credit by the Corporation’s bank subsidiaries to the Corporation
and to certain other affiliates of the Corporation, and requires such extensions to be collateralized and limits the
amount of investments by the banks in these entities. At Dec. 31, 2002, such extensions of credit and
investments were limited to $369 million to the Corporation or any other affiliate and to $739 million in total to
the Corporation and all of its other affiliates. Outstanding extensions of credit totaled $274 million at Dec. 31,
2002.

26. Legal proceedings

Various legal actions and proceedings are pending or are threatened against the Corporation and its subsidiaries,
some of which seek relief or damages in amounts that are substantial. These actions and proceedings arise in the
ordinary course of the Corporation’s businesses and operations and include suits relating to its lending,
collections, servicing, investment, mutual fund. advisory, trust, custody, benefits consulting, shareholder services,
cash management and other activities and operations. Because of the complex nature of some of these actions
and proceedings, it may be a number of years before such matters ultimately are resolved. After consultation
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with legal counsel, management believes that the aggregate liability, if any, resulting from such pending and
threatened actions and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

27. Financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk
Off-balance-sheet risk

In the normal course of business, the Corporation becomes a party to various financial transactions that are not
fully recorded on its balance sheet under GAAP. Because these transactions are not funded, they are not
reflected on the balance sheet and are referred to as financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk. The
Corporation offers off-balance-sheet financial instruments to enable its customers to meet their financing
objectives. Providing these instruments generates fee revenue for the Corporation. These off-balance-sheet
instruments are subject to credit and market risk. The Corporation manages credit risk by dealing only with
approved counterparties under specific credit limits and by monitoring the amount of outstanding contracts by
customer and in the aggregate against such limits. Counterparty limits are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Market risk arises from changes in the market value of contracts as a result of the fluctuations in interest and
currency rates.

Off-balance-sheet financial instruments with contract amounts that represent credit risk Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001
Commitments to extend credit:
Expire within one year $11,067 $14,479
Expire within one to five years 7,678 8,860
Expire over five years 109 167
Total commitments to extend credit 18,854 23,500
Standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees (a) 1,863 2,989
Commercial letters of credit (b) 34 38
Custodian securities lent with indemnification against broker default of return of securities 45,771 43,898
Commitments to fund venture capital investments 239 307
Liquidity support provided to TRFCO (c¢) 1,222 2,450

{a) Net of participations and cash collateral rotaling $203 million and $656 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001,
respectively.

(b) Net of participations and collateral totaling $27 million and $12 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

(c) See pages 87 and 88 of Note 7 for a discussion of the liquidity support agreement.

Commitments to extend credit

The Corporation enters into contractual commitments to extend credit, normally with fixed expiration dates or
termination provisions, at specific rates and for specific purposes. The majority of the Corporation’s
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers meeting certain pre-established conditions of
lending at the time of loan funding. Most of the Corporation’s commitments to extend credit include material
adverse change clauses within the commitment contracts. These clauses allow the Corporation to deny funding a
loan commitment if the borrower’s financial condition deteriorates during the commitment period, such that the
customer no longer meets the pre-established conditions of lending. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to
credit loss upon the occurrence of any event of default by the customer is represented by the contractual amount
of the commitment to extend credit. Accordingly, the credit policies utilized in committing to extend credit and
in the extension of loans are the same. Market risk arises on commitments to extend fixed rate loans if interest
rates have moved adversely subsequent to the extension of the commitment or if required market spreads widen.
The Corporation believes the market risk associated with commitments is minimal. Since many of the
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commitiments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total contractual amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash funding requirements. The amount and type of collateral obtained by the Corporation are
based upon industry practice, as well as its credit assessment of the customer. Of the $18.9 billion of contractual
commitments for which the Corporation has received a commitment fee or which were otherwise legally binding,
approximately 59% of the commitments are scheduled to expire within one year, and approximately 99% are
scheduled to expire within five years. Total commitments to extend credit decreased $4.7 billion, or 20%, at
Dec. 31, 2002, compared to Dec. 31, 2001, with commitments to extend credit expiring over one year decreasing
$1.2 billion, or 14%, at Dec. 31, 2002, compared to Dec. 31, 2001. This reduction resulted from the
Corporation’s actions to exit credit relationships for which a broad-based fee relationship resulting from the
cross-sale of fee-based services does not exist, or for which the customer does not meet the Corporation’s credit
quality criteria.

Letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees

There are two principal types of letters of credit--standby and commercial. The off-balance-sheet credit risk
involved in issuing standby and commercial letters of credit is represented by their contractual amounts and is
essentially the same as the credit risk involved in commitments to extend credit. The Corporation minimizes this
risk by adhering to its written credit policies and by requiring security and debt covenants similar to those
contained in loan agreements. The Corporation believes the market risk associated with letters of credit and
foreign guarantees is minimal.

Standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees irrevocably obligate the Corporation for a stated period
to disburse funds to a third-party beneficiary if the Corporation’s customer fails to perform under the terms of an
agreement with the beneficiary. Standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees are used by the
customer as a credit enhancement and typically expire without being drawn upon. The amount and type of any
collateral are based on industry practices, as well as a credit assessment of the customer. The Corporation’s
outstanding exposure to standby letters of credit at Dec. 31, 2002 was $1.9 billion, with 94% maturing within
three years. At Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation had a $9 million reserve for credit exposure to outstanding letters
of credit.

Standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees Weighted-average
years to maturity
Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,

(dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Commercial paper and other debt $ 157 § 287 1.4 7
Tax-exempt securities 131 229 1.7 1.6
Bid- or performance-related 489 §18 5 .6
Other commercial 1,086 1.655 1.0 .6
Total standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees $1,863 $2,989 1.0 7

A commercial letter of credit is normally a short-term instrument used to finance a commercial contract for the
shipment of goods from a seller to a buyer. This type of letter of credit ensures prompt payment to the seller in
accordance with the terms of the contract. Although the commercial letter of credit is contingent upon the
satisfaction of specified conditions, it represents a credit exposure if the buyer defaults on the underlying
transaction. Normally, reimbursement from the buyer is coincidental with payment to the seller under
commercial letter of credit drawings. As a result, the total contractual amounts do not necessarily represent
future cash requirements.
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Securities lending

A securities lending transaction is a fully collateralized transaction in which the owner of a security agrees to
lend the security through an agent (the Corporation) to a borrower, usually a broker/dealer or bank, on an open,
overnight or term basis, under the terms of a prearranged contract, which generally matures in less than 90 days.
The borrower will collateralize the loan at all times, generally with cash or U.S. government securities, exceeding
100% of the market value of the loan, plus any accrued interest on debt obligations. Cash collateral is generally
reinvested in commercial paper, repurchase agreements and money funds.

The Corporation currently enters into two types of agency securities lending arrangements--lending with and
without indemnification. In securities lending transactions without indemnification, the Corporation bears no
contractual risk of loss. For transactions in which the Corporation provides an indemnification, risk of credit loss
occurs if the borrower defaults on returning the securities and the value of the collateral declines. Because the
Corporation generally indemnifies the owner of the securities against borrower default only, which is
indemnification for the difference between the market value of the securities lent and any collateral deficiency,
the total contractual amount does not necessarily represent future cash requirements. Additional market risk
associated with securities lending transactions arises from interest rate movements that affect the spread between
the rate paid to the securities borrower on the borrower’s collateral and the rate the Corporation earns on that
collateral. This risk is controlled through policies that limit the level of such risk that can be undertaken.

Commitments to fund venture capital investments

The Corporation has commitments to provide equity and mezzanine capital financing to public and private
companies through either direct investments or through third party investment funds and partnerships. The
timing of future cash requirements is generally dependent on the investment cycle, which is the period over
which companies are funded and ultimately sold, merged, or taken public. The timing of these factors can vary
based on market conditions and on the nature and type of industry in which the companies operate.

Other guarantees and indemnities

In the normal course of business, the Corporation also offers guarantees in support of certain joint ventures and
subsidiaries, and certain other guarantees and indemnities.

Mellon Bank, N.A. and ABN AMRO Bank N.V. entered into a joint venture to provide global securities services,
with operations commencing in January 2003. Each of the two partners signed a statutory declaration under
Dutch law as of Dec. 31, 2002, to be jointly and severally liable with the joint venture to its creditors that have a
provable contractual debt or damage claim. This guarantee is available to all creditors and customers. As of
Dec. 31, 2002, the joint venture had not entered into any contracts or incurred any obligations covered by the
guarantee.

As of Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation provided a guarantee for one half of a $7 million debt incurred by Pareto
Partners, in which the Corporation has a 30% equity interest.

The Corporation provides TRFCO liquidity support and a letter of credit in support of TRFCO’s commercial
paper. See pages 87 and 88 for a detailed discussion of these arrangements.

The Corporation has issued put options to holders of certificates sold by certain QSPEs, relating to the
Corporation’s jumbo mortgage securitizations. The put options allow the holders to sell the certificates,
collateralized by the principal of the loans, to the Corporation at specified prices based on the then outstanding
principal amount of the certificates at future dates if certain triggering events occur over the next six years. The
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total certificates outstanding from the QSPEs at Dec. 31, 2002 subject to such agreements was $697 million. The
Corporation has recorded a liability for the put options of approximately $1 million at Dec. 31, 2002.

The Corporation has also provided customary indemnification for legal proceedings against its directors and
officers, and standard representations for underwriting agreements. acquisition and divestiture agreements, sales
of loans and commitments, and other similar type of arrangements. It is not possible to estimate a maximum
potential amount of payments that could be required with such agreements. The Corporation has purchased
insurance to mitigate certain of these risks.

The Corporation is a minority equity investor in, and member of, several industry clearing or settlement
exchanges through which foreign exchange. securities or other transactions settle. Certain of these industry
clearing or settlement exchanges require their members to guarantee their obligations and liabilities or provide
financial support in the event other partners do not honor their obligations.

28. Derivative instruments used for trading and risk management purposes

Derivative instruments used for trading activities (a) Dec. 31,
2002 2001
Notional Credit Notional Credit

(in millions) amount risk amount risk
Foreign currency contracts (b):

Commitments to purchase $16,116 (c) $16,754 (c)

Commitments to sell 15,232 (c) 17,016 (c)
Foreign currency option contracts purchased () 14,421 $292 4,877 $119
Foreign currency option contracts written 15,871 - 5,977 -
Interest rate agreements (b):

Interest rate swaps 9,960 229 11,170 175

Options, caps and floors purchased 619 - 1,251 3

Options, caps and floors written 682 - 1,862 -

Futures and forward contracts 13,651 - 14,068 -
Other products 246 34 219 12

(a) The amount of credit risk associated with these instruments is limited to the cost of replacing a contract in a gain
position, on which a counterparty may default.

(b) The credit risk associated with foreign currency contracts, foreign currency options contracts and interest rate
agreements is calculared after considering master netting agreements, which are generally applicable to derivative
instruments used for both trading activities and risk management purposes.

(c) The combined credit risk on foreign currency contract commirments to purchase and sell was $564 million at

Dec. 31, 2002, and $378 million at Dec. 31, 2001.

Foreign currency contracts

Commitments to purchase and sell foreign currency facilitate the management of market risk by ensuring that, at
some future date, the Corporation or a customer will have a specified currency at a specified rate. The
Corporation enters into foreign currency contracts to assist customers in managing their currency risk and as part
of its trading activities. The notional amount does not represent the actual market or credit risk associated with
this product. Market risk arises from changes in the market value of contractual positions caused by movements
in currency rates. The Corporation limits its exposure to market risk by generally entering into matching or
offsetting positions and by establishing and monitoring limits on unmatched positions. Credit risk relates to the
ability of the Corporation’s counterparty to meet its obligations under the contract and includes the estimated
aggregate replacement cost of those foreign currency contracts in a gain position. Such replacement cost is
reduced by contractual arrangements with many of the Corporation’s counterparties which provide for netting
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replacement cost gains and losses on multiple transactions in the event of a default. Replacement cost totaled
approximately $564 million and $378 million at Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and is recorded in Other
assets in “Receivables related to foreign exchange and derivative instruments.” There were no settlement or
counterparty default losses on foreign currency contracts in 2002, 2001 or 2000. The Corporation manages credit
risk by dealing only with approved counterparties under specific credit limits and by monitoring outstanding
contracts by customer and in the aggregate against such limits. The future cash requirements, if any, related to
foreign currency contracts are represented by the net contractual settlement between the Corporation and its
counterparties.

Foreign currency option contracts purchased and written

Foreign currency option contracts grant the contract purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to purchase or sell
a specified amount of a foreign currency during a specified period at a predetermined exchange rate of a second
currency. The Corporation acts as both a purchaser and seller of foreign currency option contracts. Market risk
arises from changes in the value of contractual positions caused by actual and anticipated fluctuations in currency
rates and interest rates. Market risk is managed by generally entering into matching or offsetting positions and by
establishing and monitoring limits on unmatched positions. Credit risk and future cash requirements are similar
to those of foreign currency contracts. Contractual arrangements with many of the Corporation’s counterparties
provide for netting replacement cost gains and losses on multiple transactions in the event of a default. The
estimated aggregate replacement cost of purchased foreign currency option contracts in gain positions, adjusted
for contractual counterparty netting arrangements, was $292 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and $119 million at

Dec. 31,2001, and is recorded in Other assets in “Receivables related to foreign exchange and derivative

instruments.” There were no settlement or counterparty default losses on foreign currency option contracts in
2002, 2001 or 2000.

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate swaps obligate two parties to exchange one or more payments generally calculated with reference to
fixed or periodically reset rates of interest applied to a specified notional principal amount. Notional principal is
the amount upon which interest rates are applied to determine the payment streams under interest rate swaps.
Such notional principal amounts often are used to express the volume of these transactions but are not actually
exchanged between the counterparties.

The credit risk associated with interest rate swaps is limited to the estimated aggregate replacement cost of those
agreements in a gain position. Credit risk is managed through credit approval procedures that establish specific
lines for individual counterparties and limit credit exposure to various portfolio segments. Counterparty and
portfolio outstandings are monitored against such limits on an ongoing basis. Credit risk is further mitigated by
contractual arrangements with the Corporation’s counterparties that provide for netting replacement cost gains
and losses on multiple transactions with the same counterparty. The Corporation has entered into collateral
agreements with certain counterparties to interest rate swaps to further secure amounts due. The collateral is
generally cash, U.S. government securities or mortgage pass-through securities guaranteed by the Government
National Mortgage Association (GNMA). The replacement cost of interest rate swaps, adjusted for contractual
counterparty netting arrangements, totaled $229 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and $175 million at Dec. 31, 2001, and
1s recorded in Other assets in “Receivables related to foreign exchange and derivative instruments.” There were
no counterparty default losses on interest rate swaps in 2002. Counterparty default losses were less than

$1 million in 2001 and there were no losses in 2000. Market risk arises from changes in the market value of
contractual positions caused by movements in interest rates. The Corporation limits its exposure to market risk
by generally entering into matching or offsetting positions and by establishing and monitoring limits on
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unmatched positions. The future cash requirements of interest rate swaps are limited to the net amounts payable
under these swaps. At Dec. 31, 2002, 84% of the notional principal amount of interest rate swaps were scheduled
to mature in less than five years.

Options, caps and floors

An interest rate option is a contract that grants the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to either purchase
or sell a financial instrument at a specified price within a specified period of time. An interest rate cap is a
contract that protects the holder from a rise in interest rates beyond a certain point. An interest rate floor is a
contract that protects the holder against a decline in interest rates below a certain point. The credit risk
associated with options, caps and floors purchased was less than $1 million at Dec. 31, 2002 and $3 million at
Dec. 31,2001, and is recorded on the balance sheet. Options, caps and floors written do not expose the
Corporation to credit risk. There were no counterparty default losses on options, caps and floors in 2002, 2001
and 2000. Market risk arises from changes in the market value of contractual positions caused by movements in
interest rates. The Corporation limits its exposure to market risk by generally entering into matching or offsetting
positions and by establishing and monitoring limits on unmatched positions.

Futures and forward contracts

Futures and forward contracts on loans, securities or money market instruments represent future commitments to
purchase or sell a specified instrument at a specified price and date. Futures contracts are standardized and are
traded on organized exchanges, while forward contracts are traded in over-the-counter markets and generally do
not have standardized terms. The Corporation uses futures and forward contracts in connection with its trading
activities.

For instruments that are traded on an organized exchange, the exchange assumes the credit risk that a
counterparty will not settle and generally requires a margin deposit of cash or securities as collateral to minimize
potential credit risk. The Corporation has established policies governing which exchanges and exchange
members can be used to conduct these activities, as well as the number of contracts permitted with each member
and the total dollar amount of outstanding contracts. Credit risk associated with futures and forward contracts is
limited to the estimated aggregate replacement cost of those futures and forward contracts in a gain position.
There was no credit risk on futures and forward contracts at Dec. 31, 2002, and less than $1 million at Dec. 31,
2001. Credit risk related to futures contracts is substantially mitigated by daily cash settlements with the
exchanges for the net change in the value of the futures contract. There were no settlement or counterparty
default losses on futures and forward contracts in 2002, 2001 or 2000. Market risk is similar to the market risk
associated with interest rate swap contracts. The future cash requirements, if any, related to futures and forward
contracts are represented by the net contractual settlement between the Corporation and its counterparties.

Other products

Other products included $246 million and $219 million notional amount of equity options and total return swaps
at Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, respectively. The Corporation enters into equity options to assist customers
in managing market risk associated with equity positions that they hold. The Corporation has entered into total
return swaps that are used to minimize the risk related to investments in start-up mutual funds that are based on
specific market indices. There were no counterparty default losses on other products in 2002, 2001 and 2000.
Market risk arises from changes in the market value of contractual positions caused by movements in the equity
and bond markets. The Corporation limits its exposure to market risk by generally entering into matching or
offsetting positions and by establishing and monitoring limits on unmatched positions. Credit risk is limited to
the estimated aggregate replacement cost of options in a gain position. Credit risk is managed by setting specific
credit limits and by monitoring outstandings by customer and in the aggregate against such limits. The
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replacement cost of these products totaled $34 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and $12 million at Dec. 31, 2001, and is
recorded in Other assets in “‘Receivables related to foreign exchange and derivative instruments.”

Derivative instruments used to manage interest rate risk (a) Dec. 31,
2002 2001
Notional Credit Notional Credit
{in millions) amount risk amount risk
Interest rate swaps $4,639 $262 $5,268 $90

(a) The amount of credit risk associated with these instruments is limited to the cost of replacing a contract in a gain
position, on which a counterparty may default. The credit risk associated with interest rate swaps is calculated after
considering master netting agreements, which includes derivative instruments used for risk management purposes and
derivative instruments used for trading activities.

Interest rate swaps

The Corporation enters into interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy primarily to
alter the interest rate sensitivity of its deposit liabilities, long-term debt and trust-preferred securities and loans.
At Dec. 31, 2002, the Corporation used $4.639 billion notional amount of interest rate swaps for interest rate risk
management purposes, compared with $5.268 billion notional amount at Dec. 31, 2001. The credit and market
risk associated with these instruments is explained on page 111 under “Interest rate swaps.” The replacement
cost of swap agreements in a gain position was $262 million at Dec. 31, 2002, and $90 million at Dec. 31, 2001.

25. Concentrations of credit risk

The Corporation manages both on- and off-balance-sheet credit risk by maintaining a well-diversified credit
portfolio and by adhering to its written credit policies, which specity general underwriting criteria as well as
underwriting standards for specific industries and control credit exposure by borrower, counterparty, degree of
risk, industry and country. These measures are regularly updated to reflect the Corporation’s evaluation of
developments in economic, political and operating environments that could affect credit risks. The Corporation
may adjust credit exposure to individual industries or customers through loan sales, syndications, participations
and the use of master netting agreements when it has more than one transaction outstanding with the same
customer. The amount of collateral, if any, obtained by the Corporation is based on industry practice as well as
the credit assessment of the customer. The type and amount of collateral vary, but the form generally includes:
cash, accounts receivable; inventory; property, plant and equipment; other assets; and/or income-producing
commercial properties with appraised values that exceed the contractual amount of the credit facilities by
preapproved ratios. The maximum risk of accounting loss from on- and off-balance-sheet financial instruments
with these counterparties is represented by their respective balance sheet amounts and the contractual or
replacement cost of the off-balance-sheet financial instruments. The only significant credit concentration for the
Corporation was the U.S. government, including its agencies, at Dec. 31, 2002, and 2001. Substantially all of
this exposure consists of investment securities, securities available for sale and the related interest receivable and
balances due from the Federal Reserve.

30. Fair value of financial instruments
SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires the disclosure of the estimated
fair value of on- and off-balance-sheet financial instruments. A financial instrument is defined by SFAS No. 107

as cash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity or a contract that creates a contractual obligation or right
to deliver to or receive cash or another financial instrument from a second entity on potentially favorable terms.
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Fair value estimates are made at a point in time, based on relevant market data and information about the
financial instrument. SFAS No. 107 specifies that fair values should be calculated based on the value of one
trading unit without regard to any premium or discount that may result from concentrations of ownership of a
financial instrument, possible tax ramifications, estimated transaction costs that may result from bulk sales or the
relationship between various financial instruments. Because no readily available market exists for a significant
portion of the Corporation’s financial instruments, fair value estimates for these instruments are based on
judgments regarding current economic conditions, currency and interest rate risk characteristics, loss experience
and other factors. Many of these estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and cannot
be determined with precision. Therefore, the calculated fair value estimates cannot always be substantiated by
comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, may not be realizable in a current sale of the instrument.
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

Fair value estimates do not include anticipated future business or the value of assets. liabilities and customer
relationships that are not considered financial instruments. For example, the Corporation’s fee-generating
businesses are not incorporated into the fair value estimates. Other significant assets and liabilities that are not
considered financial instruments include lease finance assets, deferred tax assets. lease contracts, premises and
equipment, and intangible assets. Accordingly, the estimated fair value amounts of financial instruments do not
represent the entire value of the Corporation.

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Corporation in estimating the fair value of its financial
instruments at Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001.

Short-term financial instruments

The carrying amounts reported on the Corporation’s balance sheet generally approximate fair value for financial
instruments that reprice or mature in 90 days or less, with no significant change in credit risk. The carrying
amounts approximate fair value for cash and due from banks; money market investments; acceptances; demand
deposits; money market and other savings accounts; federal funds purchased and securities under repurchase
agreements; U.S. Treasury tax and loan demand notes; commercial paper; and certain other assets and liabilities.

Trading account securities, securities available for sale and investment securities

Trading account securities and securities available for sale are recorded at market value on the Corporation’s
balance sheet, including amounts for derivative instruments held for trading activities. Market values of trading
account securities, securities available for sale and investment securities generally are based on quoted market
prices or dealer quotes, if available. If a quoted market price is not available, market value is estimated using
quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and interest rate characteristics. The tables in
Note 6 present in greater detail the carrying value and market value of securities available for sale and investment
securities at Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001.

Loans

The estimated fair value of commercial loans and certain personal loans that reprice or mature in 90 days or less
approximates their respective carrying amounts. The estimated fair value of loans that reprice or mature in more
than 90 days is estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, adjusting where appropriate for prepayment
estimates, using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit
quality and for similar maturities.
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Deposit liabilities

SFAS No. 107 defines the estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which inciudes demand
deposits and money market and other savings accounts, to be the amount payable on demand. Although market
premiums paid for depository institutions reflect an additional value for these low-cost deposits, SFAS No. 107
prohibits adjusting fair value for any value expected to be derived from retaining those deposits for a future
period of time or from the benefit that results from the ability to fund interest-earning assets with these deposit
liabilities. The fair value of fixed-maturity deposits which reprice or mature in more than 90 days is estimated
using current rates.

Notes and debentures, and trust-preferred securities

The fair value of the Corporation’s notes and debentures, and trust-preferred securities is estimated using quoted
market yields for the same or similar issues or the current yields offered by the Corporation for debt with the
same remaining maturities.

Summary

The following table includes financial instruments, as defined by SFAS No. 107, whose estimated fair value is
not represented by the carrying value as reported on the Corporation’s balance sheet. Management has made
estimates of fair value discount rates that it believes to be reasonable considering expected prepayment rates,
credit risk and liquidity risk. However, because there is no active market for many of these financial instruments,
management has no basis to verify whether the resulting fair value estimates would be indicative of the value
negotiated in an actual sale.

Financial instruments - summary Carrying amount Estimated fair value
Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Investment securities (a) $ 527 $ 768 $ 548 $ 786
Loans (b) 7,882 7,903 7,950 7,991
Reserve for credit losses (b) (122) (87) - -
Net loans 7,760 7,816 7,950 7,991
Other assets (c) 2,951 2,615 2,948 2,613
Fixed-maturity deposits () 5,882 3,361 5,885 3,362
Other funds borrowed (c) 700 476 700 476
Notes and debentures, and trust-preferred securities (a) 5,541 5,036 5,739 5,288

(a) Market or dealer quotes were used to estimate the fair value of these financial instruments.

(b) Excludes lease finance assets of 3556 million and $637 million, as well as the related reserve for credit losses of
$5 million and $9 million at Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Lease finance assets are not considered financial
instruments as defined by SFAS No. 107.

{c) Excludes non-financial instruments.

(d) Includes negotiable certificates of deposit, other time deposits and savings certificates. SFAS No. 107 defines the
estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes demand deposits and money marker and other
savings accounts, to be equal 1o the amount payable on demand. Therefore, the positive effect of the Corporation’s
316.775 billion and $17.354 billion of such deposits ar Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, is not included in this
table.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

30. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Commitments to extend credit, and standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees

These financial instruments generally are not sold or traded, and estimated fair values are not readily available.
However, the fair value of commitments to extend credit is represented by the remaining contractual fees
receivable over the term of the commitments. The fair values of standby letters of credit and foreign and other
guarantees is represented by the amount of the receivable on the balance sheet. Commitments to extend credit,
and standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees are discussed further in Note 27.

Estimated fair value of commitments to extend credit, and standby letters of credit and foreign and other guarantees
Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31. 200]
Asset Asset
Contract Carrying Estimated Contract Carrying Estimated
(in millions) amount amount (@) fair value amount amount (a) fair value
Commitments to extend credit $18,854 $3 $36 $23,506 $4 $46
Standby letters of credit and
foreign and other guarantees 1,863 2 2 2,989 2 2

(a) Represents the on-balance-sheet receivables or deferred income arising from these financial instruments.

Derivative instruments used for trading activities and interest rate risk management purposes

The estimated fair value of derivative instruments used for trading activities and interest rate risk management
purposes is equal to the on-balance-sheet carrying amount of these instruments. Derivative instruments are
discussed further in Note 28.

Estimated [air value of derivative instruments used for trading activities

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31,2001
Notional Asset (Liability) Notional Asset (Liability)
principal Estimated Average principal Estimated Average
(in millions) amount fair value (a) fair value amount fair value (a) fair value
Foreign currency contracts $31,348 $ 26 $ 13 $33,770 $ (1) $ 18
Foreign currency option
contracts:
Purchased 14,421 292 147 4,877 119 71
Written 15,871 (245) (111) 5,977 (116) (70)
Interest rate swaps 9,960 99 77 11,170 67 39
Options, caps and floors 1,301 3) 2) 3,113 (7) 4)
Futures and forward contracts 13,651 35 24) 14,068 27 2
Other products 246 32 25 219 6 6

(a} Recorded at fair value on the Corporation’s balance sheet.

Estimated fair value of derivative instruments used for interest rate risk management purposes

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31,2001
Notional Asset (Liability) Notional Asset (Liability)
principal Carrying ameunt/ principal Carrying amount/
(in millions) amount estimated fair value (a) amount estimated fair value (
Interest rate swaps $4,639 $277 $5,268 $109

{a) Recorded at fair value on the Corporation’s balance sheet.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31. Mellon Financial Corporation (Parent Corporation)

Condensed Income Statement

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Dividends from bank subsidiaries $ 876 $ 739 $ 944
Dividends from nonbank subsidiaries 49 55 41
Interest revenue from bank subsidiaries 6 12 24
Interest revenue trom nonbank subsidiaries 137 115 81
Other revenue 23 22 23
Total revenue 1,091 943 I,113
Interest expense on commercial paper 1 18 8
Interest expense on notes and debentures 112 137 145
Interest expense on trust-preferred securities 79 79 79
Other expense 68 64 36
Total expense 260 298 268
Income befere income taxes and equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries 831 645 845
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 18 a7 (46)
Equity in undistributed net income:
Bank subsidiaries (98) 736 (69)
Nonbank subsidiaries (33) (140) 185
Net income $ 682 $1,318 $1,007
Condensed Balance Sheet
Dec. 31,
(in millions) 2002 2001
Assets:
Cash and money market investments with bank subsidiary $ 549 $ 549
Securities available for sale 201 189
Loans and other receivables due from nonbank subsidiaries 2,695 2,323
Other receivables due from bank subsidiaries 153 25
Investment in bank subsidiaries 3,345 3,501
Investment in nonbank subsidiaries 441 357
Other assets 596 333
Total assets $7,980 $7,277
Liabilities:
Commercial paper $ 9 $ 8
Other liabilities 503 172
Notes and debentures (with original maturities over one year) 3,025 2,624
Trust-preferred securities 1,048 991
Total liabilities 4,585 3,795
Shareholders’ equity 3,395 3,482
Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity $7,980 $7.,277
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31. Mellon Financial Corporation (Parent Corporation) (continued)

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended Dec. 31,

(i millions) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 682 $ 1,318 $ 1,007

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Amortization - 11 9
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 107 (596) (116)
Net decrease (increase) in accrued interest receivable 17 @) (7
Deferred income tax benefit n (D (8)
Net increase from other operating activities 134 53 133
Net cash provided by operating activities 939 768 1,018
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net decrease (increase) in short-term deposits with affiliated banks 9 (108) 55
Purchases of securities available for sale (1,738) (189) -
Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale 1,729 - -
Loans made to subsidiaries (635) (834) (1,098)
Principal collected on loans to subsidiaries 301 251 428
Net capital (contributed to) returned from subsidiaries (16) 2.164 644
Net decrease from other investing activities (%4) (54) (56)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (444) 1,230 27)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase {decrease) in commercial paper 1 (108) 28
Repayments of long-term debt (400) (205) (
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 693 630
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 28 77
Repurchase of common stock (698) (2,013)
Dividends paid on common stock (213) (388)
Proceeds from the issuance of ESPP shares 23 16
Net increase (decrease) from other financing activities 80 )
Net cash used in financing activities (486) (1,998)
Change in cash and due from banks:
Net change in cash and due from banks 9 -
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year 2 2
Cash and due from banks at end of year $ 11 $ 2 $

Supplemental disclosures
Interest paid ' $ 198 $ 237
Net income taxes refunded 25 63
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

32. Supplemental information to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Noncash investing and financing transactions that, appropriately, are not reflected in the Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows are listed below.

Noncash investing and financing transactions

Year ended Dec. 31,

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Net transfers to real estate acquired $ 1 § 1 $ 7

Purchase acquisitions (a):
Fair value of noncash assets acquired 447 619 101
Liabilities assumed (35) {50 70
Common stock issued from treasury, and notes payable - (164) -
Net cash disbursed 412 404 31

{a) Purchase acquisitions include: Unifi Network, the remaining 5% interest in Newton Management Limited, HBV Capital
Managemenr, Henderson's Private Asset Management Business, Ashland Management’s Separate Accounts Business
and Vinings Management Corporation in 2002; an additional 20% interest in Newton Management Limited, Standish,
Ayer & Wood LLC, Eagle Investment Systems Corp., and Van Deventer & Hoch in 2001; and the remaining 50%

interest in the Mellon Investor Services joint venture in 2000.

33. [mternational operations

Foreign activity includes loans and other revenue producing assets and transactions in which the customer is
domiciled outside of the United States. Due to the nature of the Corporation’s foreign and domestic activities, it
is not possible to precisely segregate between the foreign and domestically domiciled customers. As a result, it is
necessary to make certain subjective assumptions. Net income from international operations is determined after
internal allocations for taxes, expenses, and provision and reserve for credit losses. Expenses charged to
international operations include those directly incurred in connection with such activities, as well as an allocable
share of general support and overhead charges. International assets, revenue, income from international
operations before income taxes and net income from international operations is shown in the following table.

Foreign and domestic total assets and results from continuing operations

(in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Income Income Income
Total Total before Net Total Total before Net Total Total before Net
assets revenue taxes income assets  revenue  {axes  income assels  revenue  faxes  income
Foreign $ 6929 $ 551 $ 47 $ 30 $ 5791 $ 561 $ 90 $39 $4616 $ 396 & 99 $ 64
Domestic 29,302 4,186 946 637 29,772 3,583 585 377 45,748 3,708 1,084 692
Total $36,231 $4,737 $993 $667  $35,563 $4.144 $675 $436 350364  $4304 31,183 $756

Note: There were no individual foreign countries with assets or revenues in excess of 10% of total assets or revenues. The
tax rate used for foreign activity is the estimated worldwide effective tax rate on foreign earnings of 35%.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Mellon Financial Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mellon Financial Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Mellon Financial Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Corporation changed its method of
accounting for goodwill and other intangibles resulting from business combinations in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

&@M@ LcP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 14, 2003
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on the 10th floor of Two Mellon Center, 501 Grant Street. Pitisburgh.
Pennsylvania. at 10 a.m. on Tuesday, April 15, 2003.

The 2002 Annual Report consists of the 2002 Summary Annual Report and the 2002 Financial Annual Report.

A report on Mellon's comprehensive community involvement, including charitable contributions. is available online at
wwivanellon.com or by calling (412) 234-8680.

Members of the media should direct inquiries to (412) 234-7157 or media@mellon.com.

The Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan provides a way to purchasc shares of common stock directly
from the Corporation at the market vatue for such shares. Nonshareholders may purchase their first shares of the
Corporation’s common stock through the Plan. and sharcholders may increase their shareholding by reinvesting cash
dividends and through optional cash investments. Plan details are in a prospectus. which may be obtained from Mellon
Investor Services by calling 1 800 205-7699 or by e-mailing shrrelations @melloninvestor.com.

Subject to approval of the Board of Directors, dividends are paid on Mellon’s common stock on or about the 15th day of
February. May. August and November.

Registered sharcholders may have quarterly dividends paid on Mellon’s common stock deposiied electronically to their
checking or savings account, free of charge. To have your dividends deposited electronically, please send a written request by
e-mail to shrrelations @ melloninvestors.com or by mail to Mellon Investor Services, P.O. Box 33135, South Hackensack, NJ
07606. For more information, please call 1 800 205-7699.

To eliminate duplicate mailings and help your company reduce expenses, please submit, with your full name and address the
way it appears on your account, a written request by e-mail to shrrelations @melloninvestor.com or by mail to Mellon
Investor Services, P.O. Box 3313, South Hackensack, NJ 07606. For more information, please call 1 800 205-7699.

Mellon's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol MEL. Our transfer agent and
registrar is Mellon Investor Services, P.O. Box 3315, South Hackensack, NJ 07606. For more information, please call
1 800 205-7699 or visit www.melloninvestor.com.

For a free copy of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K or the quarterly earnings news release on Form 8-K. as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, please send a written request by e-mail to
mellon_10-K/8-K@mellon.com or by mail 1o the Secretary of the Corporation, One Mellon Center, Room 4826. Pittsburgh,
PA 15258-0001. The 2002 Summary and Financial Annual Reports, as well as Forms 10-K, 8-K and 10-Q. and quarterly
earnings and other news releases can be viewed and printed at www.mellon.com.

Mellon: www.mellon.com

Metlon Investor Services: www.itelloninvestor.com

See also Internet access for Business Groups/Principal Eatities in the 2002 Mellon Summary Annual Report.
Visit www.mellon.com/investorrelations/ or catl (412) 234-5601.

To request the Annual Report or quarterly information or to address issues regarding stock holdings, certificate
replacement/transfer, dividends and address changes, call 1 800 205-7699 or visit www.melloninvestor.com.

Current prices for Mellon’s common stock can be viewed at www.nellon.com.

Mellon Investor Services TDD lines are 1 800 231-5469 (within the United States) and (201) 329-8354 (outside the United
States).

The contents of the listed Internet sites are not incorporated into this Annual Report.

Mellon entities are Equal Employment Opporwnity/Affirmative Action employers. Mellon is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to
every employee and every applicant for employment, regardless of, but not limited to, such factors as race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age,
familial or marital status, ancestry, citizenship, sexual orientation, veteran status or being a qualified individual with a disabiliry.
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Profile

Mellon Financial Corporation is one of the world’s leading
providers of financial services for large corporations, insti-
tutions and affluent individuals. The Corporation’s strat-
egy is to provide to all of our customers the results they
want, expand our leadership in our high-growth-potential
businesses, and deliver superior and sustainable returns
to our shareholders. As the Corporation’s employees exe-
cute on the strategy, they strive to show customers that,
with Mellon, the difference is measurable:”

Founded in 1869 in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, as T. Mellon
and Sons’ Bank, Mellon Financial Corporation today is a
global financial services company with the goal of becom-
ing the best performing financial services company. With
approximately $2.9 trillion in assets under management,
administration or custody as of year-end 2002, including
$581 billion under management, Mellon provides a wide
variety of financial products and services globally to a broad
range of customers.

For corporations and institutions, Mellon provides asset
management; asset servicing, including trust and custody,
performance analytics, securities lending, foreign exchange,
defined contribution and defined benefit services, and fund
administration; human resources consulting and out-
sourcing services; invéstor services; treasury services and
capital markets services.

For affluent individuals, Mellon provides private wealth
management and private banking, mutual funds, separately
managed accounts, annuities and brokerage accounts.
Mellon’s mutual fund businesses include The Dreyfus Cor-
poration and Founders Asset Management and, based in
the United Kingdom, Newton Investment Management.

SharedValues

Mellon employees apply these Shared Values toward our goal
of becoming the best performing financial services company.

Integrity Our reputation is defined by how we respect and
treat with dignity our customers, shareholders, communi-
ties and each other. We are honest, fair, active listeners, open
communicators and accountable.

Teamwork We work cooperatively and rely on each other
for individual and shared success. We value individual differ-
ences, encourage new ideas, share information, always learn
and recognize performance.

Excellence We are dedicated to producing the best results
for our customers, shareholders, communities and our-
selves. We are creative and innovative, flexible and adapt-
able, focused on high quality solutions, continually improving
and, above all, winners.
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The asfjerence is measurable.

With its successful transformation to a company of high-growth-potential busi-
nesses, Mellon is focused like never before on delivering measurable results
for our customers and, ultimately, shareholders, employees and communities.
This emphasis was formalized corporatewide in 1999 with the launch of the
Customer Focus Initiative, now an Imperative, to deliver exceptional service
to our external and internal customers. Since then, Mellon’s customer focus
has driven our success, and customer satisfaction is clear in these examples of
what we have achieved.

o Named No. 5 US. asset manager and No. | | global asset manager
in 2002, according to Pensions & Investments.

= Maintained our position as No. | global custodian among our key competitors
in 2003, based on quality, in the R&M Consultant survey.

= Held 29 four- and five-star Morningstar ratings as of December 31, 2002.
= Opened |8 new Private Vealth Management offices.

= Developed a human resources business supported by a breadth of
services unsurpassed by competitors.

= Won four first-, second- or third-place honors in the group categories in the
2002 Standard & Poor’s U.K. and European Investment Awards — the highest i
number achieved (Newton investment Management).

= Increased awareness of our brand by about 15 percent through our integrated |
brand campaign communications.

*As of December 31, 2002

No. 11 global asset manager-. ..

[Pensions & invesuments, September 2002]

No. 5 U.S. asset manager. ..

[Persions & investments, September 2002]
No. 2 most admired company in America among our ﬁnanciaz/ services peers. ..
[Fortune, March 2603 and March 2002]

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
|




Customer focus

makes the difference.

In 2002, Mellon met the challenge of a weak economy with
relatively good performance. Having successfully completed
our transformation from a traditional bank to a global finan-
cial services company, Mellon is focused more than ever on
executing our strategy to achieve sustainable growth, and

we are poised to grow.

I’'m very proud of the 22,500 Mellon employees who have
remained steadfastly committed to making a difference
that’s measurable to our customers, shareholders and com-
munities. Their integrity, teamwork and excellence have
made it possible for me to reflect positively upon a year of
key accomplishments and new opportunities.

Financial Highlights
Mellon’s performance in 2002 placed us in a relatively strong
position among our financial services industry peers.

= Return on equity was among the highest in the financial
services industry at [9.9 percent.

= Income from continuing operations totaled
$667 million, or $1.52 per share, compared with
$436 million, or 91 cents per share, for 2001.

= Fee revenue totaled 85 percent of fee and net
interest revenue.

= We increased the quarterly common stock dividend
by 8 percent to | 3 cents per share.

o Project LEAP has exceeded our goal of $300 million annu-
ally in revenue enhancements and expense savings for
investment spending and meeting our financial objectives.

Ve anticipate future growth tempeied by a difficult envi-
ronment over the short term, but are well positioned to
exploit the even more substantial growth opportunities a
recovery will bring. Toward this goal, we have invested
strategically in our businesses and our employees.

E R S A N D F R I E N D S

Employees Make a Measurable Difference

Ve continued to invest for organic growth. Ve enhanced
employees’ sales efforts with the launch of an integrated
brand campaign in April 2002 to communicate Mellon’s
strategic repositioning as an organization focusing on high-
growth-potential businesses. The campaign has helped to
push Mellon into a leadership position for marketplace
awareness versus our key competitors. Many current and
prospective customers now think of Mellon before our com-
petitors, and they have a growing understanding that Mellon
is focused on providing them with the results they want.

Thorough research and analysis led to a realignment of
our institutional sales organizations by business sector, with
special emphasis on specific customer segments: corporate,
financial services, and public and not-for-profit. The institu-
tional sales organizations aie designed to bring broad-based
solutions to new customers and build deeper relationships
with existing customers. And an institutional marketing
team now supports our sales efforts with better research,
customer knowledge management and skills training.

Strategic Investment

We continued our disciplined approach to enhancing Mel-
lon’s businesses through acquisitions, strategic alliances
and joint ventures. To demonstrate our mutual commitment
to serving customers in the global custody market, ABN
AMRO Bank N.V. and Mellon formalized our marketing
afliance by creating ABN AMRO Mellon Global Securities
Services B.V. This new financial services company provides
global custody and related services to customers worldwide,
excluding markets such as North America, where Mellon
will continue to serve customers directly.

We enhanced our services to institutional and high net
worth clients by acquiring HBV Capital Management LLC,
a New York- and London-based investment management

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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“Mellon is focused more than ever on

executing our strategy to achieve sustainable growth,

Martin G.‘McGufinn
Chairman and +
Chief Executive Officer

company, specializing in single-manager hedge funds. Mel-
fon’s primary U.K. asset management subsidiary, Newton
Investment Management, added to its private customers
and charities asset management business by acquiring
London-based Henderson Private Asset Management. To
expand our private wealth management customer base in
the Midwest, Mellon acquired Weber Fulton & Felman, a
Cleveland-based investment management firm. And Drey-
fus boosted its separate account assets under management
through the acquisition of a division of Ashland Manage-
ment Incorporated, a New York City-based growth-style
investment management company.

Shared Values Drive Many 2002 Actions

Our Shared Values of Integrity, Teamwork and Excellence
guide everything we do. The commitment of employees to
our Shared Values was reinforced through the establish-
ment of our Diversity Council and the Melion Ethics Office,
including corporatewide enhanced training to help employ-
ees deal with ethical questions at work. And we helped
motivate employees to continue to strive for excellence
through a fourth grant of ShareSuccess stock options and
improvements to our 4Cl(k) program.

Mellon’s Shared Values also drove our leadership role in
corporate governance. Ve adopted stock ownership guide-
lines for senior officers and directors, and, voluntarily and
significantly, we accelerated the speed of reporting our
executive officers’ and directors’ stock transactions. We
promptly complied with both the June Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) release to the 950 largest
reporting companies and the requirements in the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 to certify the accuracy of our recent SEC
filings. And, in keeping with our long-standing commitment
to comprehensive and transparent financial disclosure, we
announced we will begin to expense stock options in 2003.

and we are poised to grow.”

Relentless Pursuit of the Goal

Our employees have led Mellon to ever-greater achieve-
ments through their performance. In 2002, based on his
efforts and the continuing success of employees in the
Asset Servicing sector he leads, Jim Palermo was promoted
to vice chairman and membership in the Executive Man-
agement Group.

| was honored to represent all Mellon employees by
accepting a presidential appointment to the U.S. National
Infrastructure Advisory Council, which makes recommen-
dations to the President regarding the security of U.S.
information systems and other economically critical infra-
structures. Our involvement reflects the commitment to
the security of customer information that Mellon employ-
ees take very seriously, as well as Mellon’s important role
in the use of technology-based systems.

Our employees’ performance and commitment to our
Shared Values are recognized through the many honors our
businesses have received. A few of these successes are
reflected in the performance rankings included in the fol-
lowing section of this report. | thank our employees for
their performance, talent, values, commitment and success.
| thank you, our shareholders, and our customers for
showing confidence and trust in Mellon. We at Mellon will
continue to be driven to meet or exceed your expecta-
tions by a relentless focus on one corporatewide goal:
to become the best performing financial services company.

Sincerely yours,

et b Melirn

Martin G. McGuinn
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION




After its strategic repositioning, Mellon sharpened its
focus on performance in high-growth-potential busi-
nesses. Mellon employees have made it a priority to
show customers and all stakeholders that, with Mel-
lon, the difference is measurable. To enable employees
to achieve this level of performance, Mellon works hard
to attract, retain and develop the best possible talent by
striving to become the employer of choice. Here are a

few examples of how we did that in 2002.

Pittsburgh

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Ramu Thiagarajan
Director of Investment Research and Active Strategies
Mellon Capital Management

By the end of 2002, Mellon offered
more than 25 Customer Focus Impera-
tive (CFl) training courses on our
internal Web site to allow employees
to refine their customer service skills.
CFl also was a significant influence

on the organization of Mellon’s busi-
nesses and realignment of our institu-
tional sales efforts. At the beginning of
CFl in 1999, we developed the Mellon
Promise to meet or exceed customers’
expectations, which became a vital
message component of Mellon’s 2002
integrated brand campaign.

A goal of Mellon’s brand campaign was to increase overall aware-
ness of Mellon at the national level in the United States, in part,
through advertising. The brand campaign increased awareness of
the Melion brand among prospects by about |5 percent, giving
Mellon the highest overall awareness against its competitors. And
the campaign favorably influenced employee attitudes about their
employer. In a survey, 87 percent of employees stated the ads made
them feel positive or extremely positive about working at Mellon.

Veronica Young (left), Assistant Treasurer
Mellon Investor Services
Ridgefield Park, New fersey

Patti Michaud, Manager
Credit and Risk Administration
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Leadership Team:

Martin G. McGuinn (right)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Steven G. Elliot:
Senior Vice Chairman

Mellon’s Diversity Council is a group
of Mellon employees chosen for their
ability to provide direction for a major
corporate initiative as well as for their
cultural, lifestyle, geographic and busi-
ness line diversity. The Council was
established in 2002 with the goal of
creating an environment at Mellon that
is inclusive. When people feel com-
fortable participating and contributing
their unique skills, talents and experi-
ences to help achieve the Corporation’s
strategic goals, Mellon is better able
to provide the results customers want.

In 1999, Mellon began to pursue aggres-
sively the goal of becoming the employer
of choice, our commitment to having
the right people, at the right time in the
right positions, who are driven to satisfy
customers. Changes have included open
communication between employees and
top management, a broad-based stock
option program and a flexible benefits
program involving expanded medical and
other options. In 2002, the Mellon 401(k)
Retirement Savings Plan was enhanced
to include a flexible dividend feature and
the opportunity to diversify matching

André Demetrius
Principal—Health and Welfare
Diversity Council Member

_ Buck Consuftants

Randi Weaver
Head of Commercial

) Mellon stock contributions in the Plan.
Gill Realon

Client Manager
Diversity Council Member

Ray Pepper
Chief Operating Officer
Mellon European Fund Services Eileen Flanagan, Manager, Mellon Europe Finance
Europe Business Support Group
Europe

Atlanta

Global Institutional Clients
Los Angeles

Development — Europe
Diversity Council Member
Europe

We developed a formal ethics program to
reinforce our commitment to satisfy
customers by doing business with integrity
and to provide resources for employees
to help them resolve ethical issues. Based
on long-established policies of how Mellon
employees are to conduct business, the
program includes features such as video-
and Web-based training, an internal ethics
Web site, online annual certification, an
ethics help line, and Mellon-sponsored
partnership in the Ethics Officer Associa-
tion, a professional association of manag-
ers of ethics, compliance and business
conduct programs.

Angela Price, Dreyfus Strategist
Dreyfus Investrent Management
New York

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Financial results (4

Income from continuing operations (in millions) $ 667 $ 436
Income from discontinued operations (in millions) 15 882
Net income (in millicns) $ 682 $ 13I8
Earnings per share — diluted
Continuing operations , $ 152 $ 9l
Discontinued operations .03 .85
Net income $ i.55 $ 276
Continuing operations — key data
Return on shareholders’ equity 19.9 % 1.7 %
Fee revenue as a percentage of fee and net interest revenue (FTE) 85 % 83 %
Trust and investment fee revenue as a percentage of fee and net interest revenue (FTE) 70 % 76 %
Efficiency ratio 73 % 79 %
Assets under management at year end (in billions) $ 581 $ 592
Assets under administration or custody at year end (in billions) $ 2276 $ 2082
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index at year end 880 1,148

(@) Results for 2001 include the after-tax impact of the amortization of goodwill from purchase acquisitions of $66 million, or 14 cens per share, for
continuing operations and $97 million, or 20 cents per share, on a net income basis. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the

amortization of goodwill was discontinued in 2002.

Note: FTE denotes presentation on a fully taxable equivalent basis.

Cautionary Statement

This Summary Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements”” These statements relate to, among other things, future financial results
of the Corporation. Reference is made to the Corporation filings on Forms 10-K and 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission for
factors that conld cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated, including without limitation changes in economic conditions

and equity and fixed income market fluctuations.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Mellon Business Groups

Asset Management

Emphasizes balance and scale. Mellon leverages
strong brands and product breadth across
multiple U.S. and global distribution channels
and tailors its asset management capabilities
to meet the needs of customers, including
high net worth and institutional clients. Unique
entrepreneurial cultures provide best-in-class
products and investment performance.

Sectors

Institutional Asset Management
Mutual Funds

Private Wealth Management

Corporate and Institutional Services
tndustry-leading outsourcing solutions built
around a breadth of products, a reputation for
quality, scalable technology and strong relation-

ships to meet or exceed the needs of customers.

Sectors

Asset Servicing

Human Resources Services
Treasury Services

Cussomers speatke.
Metlon Lstens.

Success follows.

Mellon’s success results from a relentless customer focus, reinforced by ongoing,
corporatewide formal training and research. For example, based on surveys of
customers to learn what they expect of us, Mellon organized its businesses into
two groups with a total of six business sectors in 2002. Within each sector, we
grouped together those services and products that might be used by a specific
customer decision-maker. We staffed this organization with sales professionals
who offer specialized knowledge of our customers, their markets and our busi-
ness sectors. In this way, Mellon enhanced delivery of some of the best products

and services in our industry to the most discriminating customers in the world.
And our customer focus is producing results. A few examples of customer
feedback, the rankings that result from customer satisfaction and the Melion
business sectors that serve our customers are featured on the following pages.

Above:
Listening to customers is key for Mellon Canada
Principal Officer Wendy Bocti; Client Manager
Bob Brandenstein, Global Institutional Clients;
and Treasurer Leo Au.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Industry Leadership

Ted Ladd, Chairman, Standish Mellon Asset Management
Mellon

Institutional Asset Management

Mellon Financial Corporation was management also is attributable to
named No. 5 U.S. asset manager and the strength of the Mutual Funds and
No. 11 global asset manager in a highly  Private Wealth Management sectors.
regarded annual survey of the world’s .
& Y The entire Asset Management group
largest money managers, based on

represents a rich investment manufac-
assets under management. The 2002 P

turing base,” Ted said. “That enables

survey was conducted by organiza- . . o
Mellon to give a variety of institutions,

tions including Pensions & Investments, . .
pension funds, endowments and indi-

, . . vidual investors access to compre-
The key to successful asset management is doing a superior job : pre
hensive asset management expertise

for clients: putting their interests first, understanding their invest-  through a broad range of products,
ment performance goals, maintaining the highest professional  including separate accounts, mutual
standards, being true to your stated investment philosophy and ~ funds and annuities.

process, and communicating frequently and effectively with “The same Mellon asset manager

your clients. who manages a mutual fund for a
an international publication focused Dreyfus client might also manage
on money management. Since the an investment product for a Private
previous survey in 2001, Mellon Wealth Management client and a
advanced three places in the world pension fund for an institution,” Ted
rankings and one spot among U.S, said. “Each Mellon investment sub-
competitors. sidiary pursues excellence with a

distinct phil hy, d
Ted Ladd’s focus is the Institutional stinct phflosopny, process and array

Asset Management sector, but he
noted that Mellon’s leadership in asset

of products, but all are focused on
creating value for our clients.”

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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institutional Asset Management

Managing the hard-earned savings and pensions of millions of employees and
retirees brings with it enormous responsibility. As the fifth-largest asset man-
ager in the United States and one of the largest worldwide, Mellon is equal to
the challenge.

Mellon operates its institutional investment subsidiaries as distinct entities under
the Mellon Institutional Asset Management umbrella. This focused subsidiary
approach allows the individual companies to operate in an entrepreneurial envi-
ronment and deliver specific investment expertise and exceptional service to
their clients, while also enabling them to tap the resources of the overall Mellon
organization. Providing unrivaled breadth of investment products from individ-
ual firms with distinct and differentiated capabilities, Mellon is well known for

Christopher Pellegrino, senior portfolio manager,
Standish Mellon Asset Management, helps institu-
tions manage risk in their customized portfolios.

its consistent investment performance and investment management expertise
that spans virtually every asset class and investment style, allowing Mellon to
deliver for its clients.

Mellon’s growth strategy is highly focused on global expansion. In recent years,
we have enhanced our capabilities significantly in Europe, Asia and Latin Amer-
ica through alliances, joint ventures and, in particular, through the acquisition of
U.K.-based Newton Investment Management.

With more than 100 investment products available through a variety of distri-
bution platforms, Mellon is able to meet the needs of institutions worldwide.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Business Sector Highlights

No. 5 U.S. asset manager and No. || global
asset manager, Pensions & Investments,
September 2, 2002

Mellon’s asset management services are
sold through Mellon Global Investments in
the United Kingdom, Ireland, Switzerland,
Germany, ltaly, Scandinavia, Austria, Spain,
Holland, Brazil, Chile, Hong Kong, Australia,
Japan and the Middle East.

Sbihikei




Business Sector Highlights

No. 5 U.S. mutual fund adviser (Dreyfus),
Financial Research Corp., April |, 2002

A record $181 billion under management as
of December 31, 2002 (Dreyfus)

More than |.6 million accounts, including
individuals, corporations, non-profits and gov-
ernment authorities (Dreyfus and Founders)

More than 200 mutual funds, separately
managed account products and institutional
portfolios (Dreyfus and Founders)

Mutual funds are distributed by Mellon
Global Investments to the United Kingdom,
Germany, Switzerland, Austria, italy, Spain,
Portugal, Kuwait, Bahrain, Hong Kong, Chile,
Brazil and Japan.

Kelly Mulcahy, a senior key accounts manager
in New York, offers clients Dreyfus” half century
of asset management expertise.

Mutual Funds

Through Mellon and its many asset management subsidiaries, individuals,
non-profit institutions and corporate customers can select investments in
virtually every asset class and investment style from a global investment
leader. World-class investment management resources available to customers
include The Dreyfus Corporation, Mellon’s largest asset manager and lead-
ing provider of mutual funds; Founders Asset Management; and Newton Invest-
ment Management.

More than 200 investment products are available to individuals and institutions
through the Mutual Funds sector. A robust investment manufacturing capability
and global distribution network help Mellon meet or exceed customers’ expec-
tations. Dreyfus, Founders and Newton focus on the needs of customers in
markets including the United States, the United Kingdom, continental Europe,
Japan, Latin America, the Middle East, Asia and Australia. Mellon Global Invest-
ments is key to success in markets outside the United States as the international
distributor of Mellon’s asset management services and mutual funds.

An important growth channel for the sector involves the distribution of products
and services through renowned third parties. In 2002, acquisitions and joint

ventures broadened Mellon’s distribution platforms and investment product

selection beyond mutual funds to include an increased emphasis on bolstering
separate account assets.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Customer Profile

Bruce Bursey
Executive Vice President

Director of Investment Consulting Services, UBS

UBS AG is a leading global financial
services firm with 71,000 employees
worldwide, serving affluent individ-
uals, corporations, institutions and
governments. Headquartered in
Switzerland, the bank has significant
operations in all of the world’s major
financial centers.

Mellon knows the results we expect at UBS.
They're committed to delivering solutions that contribute

{0 our success.

One of the ways in which UBS pro-
vides its affluent U.S. investors with
access to a wide range of investment
choices and expertise is through its
relationship with The Dreyfus Corpo-
ration. Dreyfus is one of the leading
asset management companies in the
United States and Mellon’s largest
mutual fund provider.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Through UBS, individual investors can
access Dreyfus’ numerous financial
investment choices, featuring exper-
tise in virtually every asset class and
investment style. For a single fee, indi-
viduals investing through UBS can
take advantage of a broad array of
Dreyfus services and products, includ-
ing mutual funds such as the Dreyfus
Premier Core Equity and Dreyfus
Premier International Value Funds.

UBS’ customers also can gain
comprehensive consulting and port-
folio management services when
their investments are handled as
separate accounts. The investment
managers of Dreyfus are among an
elite group of managers selected by
UBS to offer expertise in support
of these accounts.




ultimately, for our business.

Industry Leadership

Gloria Zaldivar, Senior Director — Portfolio Management

Mellon

Private Wealth Management

With $66 billion in client assets,

Mellon ranks among the top 10 wealth
managers in the United States. Client

satisfaction is the foundation of our
success. We are one of the industry’s
leaders in client retention over time
and through variable market condi-
tions. Mellon’s position as a leader in

We're proud of our client retention rate and our ability to
consistently deliver results that lead to success for our clients and,

client retention among our peers is
confirmed by industry data from a
research program of the Corporate
Executive Board, a membership
organization for senior executives
of leading institutions worldwide.

“Our approach, combining asset man-
agement, wealth management and
banking services, is tailored to meet

12
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the needs of each individual client,”
Gloria Zaldivar said. “This process,
coupled with the quality of our
employees, is the key to helping our
clients achieve their goals through
long-term relationships with Mellon.”

The professionals of the Private
Wealth Management business at
Mellon offer the experience, dedica-
tion and expertise to deliver the
highest level of personalized service
and wealth management advice. Our
employee retention rate, like our
client retention rate, is well above
the industry average as measured
by The Saratoga Institute. A success-
ful client relationship begins with
employee satisfaction, which, in turn,
affects our clients’ satisfaction and
helps us earn their trust.




Private Wealth Management

Mellon’s Private VWealth Management group is a nationally recognized leader in
investment and wealth management for high net worth individuals, families,
family offices, charitable gift programs, endowments and foundations. Mellon
offers a full range of investment alternatives, a disciplined process designed to
outperform benchmarks while controlling risk, and a focus on after-tax returns.

Exceptional service is delivered by seasoned portfolio management profession-
als focused on the goals of each individual client. Portfolio managers employ a
disciplined process for designing, implementing and consistently delivering the
most effective strategy for each client’s circumstances and goals. Expert asset
allocation is fundamental to this process. VWealth management resources include
asset-specific planning, wealth preservation and intergenerational transfer, and
charitable gift planning.

For affluent investors, Mellon offers Investment Advisory Services through
Mellon Private Wealth Advisors. Investment Advisory Services combine the
asset allocation expertise of Private Wealth Management with the professional
advice of an experienced adviser.

Through strategic acquisitions and continued expansion in locations close to
our clients, Mellon is positioned to perform well and continue to grow in the
private wealth management business — a business in which Mellon has more
than 125 years of experience.

Mellon will seek appropriate acquisitions when consistent with Mellon’s strategy

and continue to penetrate the growing wealth market.

Business Sector Highlights

$66 billion in client assets, including
$48 billion under management as of
December 31, 2002

Extensive breadth and depth of invest-
ment and wealth management capabilities
focused on the needs of private investors

Full array of banking services, including
jumbo mortgages

Industry-leading client and employee
retention rates

More than 60 locations in 14 states

Expanded by (8 locations serving affluent
individuals throughout Pennsylvania and
the mid-Atlantic region, and through the
acquisition of Weber, Fulton & Felman,
an Ohio-based asset management firm

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Tailoring solutions for clients every day are

Flarida-based David Breitwieser, senior director,
Portfolic Management; Elyssa Kupferberg, senior
director, Sales; and Sales Analyst Evenz Escarne.




U.S. Government Traders Deborah DeRubeis
and Bill Lyons enable Mellon Global Securities
Lending to help customers maximize returns
on their assets.

Business Sector Highlights

No. | global custodian by North American
respondents*

No. | customer-referral rate (Global
Securities Services)*

No. 3 securities lender (Global Securities
Services)*

* Global Investor, May 2002

Asset Servicing

Chief financial officers, fund managers and treasury officials manage risk and
make critical decisions about their organizations’ processing and performance
measurement requirements. To help them succeed, Mellon begins by listening
carefully to understand each decision-maker’s specific situation and desired
results. Then, with the strength of deep experience and a global presence,
Mellon delivers reliability, innovation and value-added products to make a
difference that’s measurable.

Mellon’s asset servicing businesses target increased productivity and accuracy
for our clients’ organizations. By pursuing this goal, Mellon has achieved top
market positions in asset servicing, with particular strength in performance mea-
surement, investment manager outsourcing, transition management, securities
lending and foreign exchange.

Mellon’s sales organizations team up to offer a complete understanding of Asset
Servicing and our other business sectors. And Mellon sales professionals are sup-
ported by extensive research on markets in which clients operate.

Mellon’s reputation for quality and client service was confirmed again in 2002
with several top rankings by both our clients and the industry. Opportunities
for the future depend on factors such as the continuing trend for clients to out-
source their investment management function and the ongoing privatization of
pension plans in Europe. Mellon is well positioned to seize opportunities in these
areas of potential growth.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Industry Leadership

Darlene Atwater, Service Delivery Specialist

Mellon

Asset Servicing

Mellon Global Securities Services, a
major growth business within the
Corporation’s Asset Servicing sector,
was voted best global custodian over-
all by North American respondents,
best global custodian by North Amer-
ican institutional asset managers and
most improved custodian for two
years running, and was the recipient
of the highest client referral rating:
85 percent of our clients would
recommend Mellon to others.

Mellon Global Securities Services was named the
No. | global custodian by North American respondents.
That achievement was a team effort we continue to

put forth every day.

These are the results of the latest
annual Global Investor Magazine
Global Custody Survey of the world’s
largest custody clients and asset
managers. Global Investor Magazine is
a U.K -based financial publication.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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“Learning that our clients rank us
highly confirms our knowledge of
what they expect from us and makes
our path to future success clear,”
according to Darlene Atwater, ser-
vice delivery specialist. “To benefit
our clients, Mellon offers both the
economies of scale of a large com-
petitor and the tailored client service
of a niche player.”

Strong contributors to the success
of Mellon Global Securities Services’
business are ABN AMRO Mellon
Global Securities Services B.V,, a
joint venture with ABN AMRO;
CIBC Mellon Global Securities Ser-
vices Company, a joint venture
with Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce; and Russell/Mellon
Analytical Services, a joint venture
with the Frank Russell Company.
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Industry Leadership

Julia McCarthy, Relationship Management Group Leader

Mellon

Human Resources Services

Mellon is a Top 5 global provider of
human resources consulting and
administration services with the com-
bined expertise and resources of
Buck Consultants and Mellon HR

We at Mellon are proud of our role as a top-tier player in global

major player in the strategic human
resources outsourcing business.
When complemented by the pro-
cessing expertise of Mellon Investor
Services, the human resources serv-
ices businesses of Mellon represent
integrated solutions for the needs

human resources, a goal we have achieved by relentlessly focusing  of our customers.
on customer satisfaction.

Solutions. In the category of service
to shareholders, Mellon Investor
Services is ranked No. 1.

Mellon first moved into a top leader-
ship position in human resources
consulting and administration services
in January 2002, after acquiring the
Unifi Network business from Price-
waterhouseCoopers for its capabili-
ties in human resources outsourcing
and consulting. The acquisition gave
Mellon the resources to become a

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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“To Mellon customers, we deliver
complete, state-of-the-art one-stop
shopping for the full range of human
resources services,” according to
Julia McCarthy, relationship manage-
ment group leader in Mellon HR
Solutions. “That includes complete
health and welfare, defined benefit,
defined contribution, trust/pension
payroll, human resources/payroll,
performance management, learning
and equity plan administration
services.”




Human Resources Services

Mellon develops value-added solutions for executives who demand best prac-
tices in human resources and shareowner services for their companies — and
their employees and investors. Senior human resources officers, vice presidents
of compensation and benefits, and chief financial officers all find in Mellon a sin-
gle source for consulting, outsourcing and equity plan services.

Buck Consultants is renowned for providing actuarial and strategic services in
support of such plans, as well as advisory and implementation services in the
areas of communications and compensation consulting, human resources trans-
formation and organization effectiveness. Mellon HR Solutions administers
defined contribution, defined benefit, and health and welfare plans using tech-
~ nologies that support solutions for customers. As an experienced provider of
investor services for corporations and shareholders in North America, Mellon
Investor Services delivers results related to all forms of executive and broad-
based equity compensation plans, including options, restricted stock and stock
purchase — in addition to employee financial planning and numerous equity
services targeted at individual investors.

Mellon is well positioned to leverage opportunities in the growing human
resources outsourcing market. The impressive processing experience that
generates Mellon’s market leadership across its businesses is essential to the

Business Sector Highlights

Top 5 global provider of human resources
consulting and administration (Buck Con-
sultants and Mellon HR Solutions)

No. | among large transfer agents in service
to shareholders for three consecutive years,
Group 5 2002 Shareholder Service Bench-
marking Study, October |5, 2002

Prompt response to more than 10 million
participant/investor phone calls and
10 million individual Web sessions annually

outstanding quality of this sector’s services, including process management,
employee service and payments. And Mellon’s focused investments in tech-
nology enable customers to move a greater portion of their human resources
function online, delivering services directly to end-users.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION

17

At a Mellon Investor Services Call Center in

New Jersey, Customer Service Representative
Gregory Still responds to a client’s employee.




At a Telecash Client Support Center in Pitts-
burgh are Kathleen Coyne (right), Telecash/
Enterprise/Data Exchange Operations manager,
and Client Support Administrator Jamie Turney.

Treasury Services

Charged with the responsibility of continually making their companies more
efficient and their customer service more successful, our Treasury Services
clients require strategic solutions.

Mellon’s goal is to meet or exceed the expectations of these chief financial
officers, treasurers and other treasury officers. To help customers achieve results,
Mellon provides superior operating quality, customer service and expertise
together with leading-edge technologies in areas ranging from global cash man-
agement to international products and services.

Mellon’s sales organizations use a consultative sales approach to develop com-
prehensive solutions that contribute to our customers’ success. A complete
understanding of Treasury Services and other Mellon business sectors enables

Business Sector Highlights

No. | in customer satisfaction (Global Cash
Management), Bank Leader survey —
Warabak Research, 2002

Mellon Global Cash Management's
Electronic Services Operations area first
electronic payment service provider in

the United States to receive 1ISO 9001:2000
registration, which involved rigorous codi-
fication of international quality management
standards

Highest rankings in Phoenix-Hecht Large
Corporate Quality Index (Global Cash
Management), March 2002

Mellon’s sales professionals to deliver the products and services that support
our customers’ goals.

In 2002, as in many other years, Mellon earned quality and customer service dis-
tinctions in business areas that comprise the Treasury Services sector. Mellon’s
market penetration in businesses such as global cash management is among the
most impressive in the industry. Continued investment in appropriate technol-
ogy and a relentless focus on customers’ expectations drive success in this area
of Mellon’s business.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Customer Profile

Terry Copeland, Director of Treasury
Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company

Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company
works to provide business and per-
sonal insurance and to bring cus-
tomers the highest caliber of claims
service. Established in 1863, the com-
pany offers state-of-the-art insurance
products and continually explores
new products and possibilities.

Through Mellon Global Cash
Management (GCM), Mellon provides
Fireman’s Fund with sophisticated

Fireman's Fund and Mellon have worked together to implement
new technologies that help us meet the needs of our customers

and our business.

products and services ranging from
retail and wholesale lockbox receiv-
ables solutions to concentration of
funds services and iTelecash;" Mellon
GCM’s powerful Internet-based cash
management tool. Value-added bene-
fits such as new image technologies
allow Fireman’s Fund to respond to a
customer with information about a
specific payment — often in real time.
The relationship began more than

a decade ago.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Numerous Mellon GCM services
help Fireman’s Fund maximize its
cash flow and efficiency. With seven
strategically located lockbox opera-
tions sites, Mellon GCM has one of
the largest bank-owned lockbox net-
works in the United States and is a
major retail lockbox service provider
for Fireman’s Fund. Mellon is also

the customer’s concentration bank,
providing services such as wire trans-
fer to move its cash among banks, as
needed, to manage working capital
effectively.

Mellon GCM’s iTelecash replaced
many of the customer’s paper
processes with electronic ones for
faster, efficient information. With
this Internet-based information
reporting and transaction initiation
service, Fireman’s Fund can monitor
bank accounts, initiate fund transfers
and perform a full range of requests
and transactions online for up-to-
the-minute, reliable information.




Community Affasrs

Through the Mellon Charitable Giving Program, which
includes foundation and corporate support, in-kind gifts,
employee donations and volunteers, Mellon plays a role in
making communities better places to live and work. Mellon
commits money and time to support projects and worthy
charities on both sides of the Atlantic.

In the United Kingdom, Mellon sponsored the Alvin Ailey
American Dance Theater and The Dance Theatre of Har-
lem’s trips to England to bring the arts to hundreds of
school children. The Mellon Dance Project aims to encour-
age new young audiences, provides positive role models
and exposes young people to dance techniques rarely
taught in the United Kingdom. The 2002 project built on
the success of a pilot project, sponsored by Mellon and
run by Sadler’s Wells Dance Theatre. A public grant from
the U.Ks Regional Arts Lottery Programme more than
doubled the funding provided by Mellon in 2002 and led to
the expansion of the Melion Dance Project to even more
schools, significantly increasing the number of children
who could take part in dance workshops with choreogra-
phers from the world-class Dance Theatre of Harlem. This
unique project brings the best in modern performing arts
to young people in deprived areas across London, reach-
ing more than 400 children and young adults in 2002.

At Mellon, we contribute to the growth and strength of
our firm, our industry and the young professionals prepar-
ing to enter it. During the summer of 200! and again in
2002, in association with Howard University, a historically
black private university in Washington, D.C., Buck Con-
sultants placed top university students in summer intern-
ship positions in its offices. When Joe LoCicero, chairman
and CEO of Buck Consultants, asked employees to think

Mellon Europe Chairman Jack Klinck, center, with members of the
Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater.

about other ways they could support the university,
employees contributed to a fund, matched in part by Mel-
lon support, to benefit Howard’s educational program.
Howard students continue to seek internship opportuni-
ties at Buck.

Employees of The Dreyfus Corporation also discovered
the rich rewards of becoming involved. The Long Island
Mentoring Program pairs underprivileged high school
students with professionals in various fields. Since 1999,
Dreyfus’ Uniondale, N.Y., office has invited students to
experience an asset management company while learning
about careers they never may have considered. Students
learn about information systems, human resources and the
stock market.

MELLON FINANCIAL CORPORATION
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Condensea Consoliadated Income Stasemens
Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries) Year ended December 31,
(in millions,except per share amounts) 2002 2001 (a) 2000(a)
Noninterest Revenue Trust and investment fee revenue $ 2,988 $ 2,555 $ 2,261
Cash management revenue 285 239 202
Foreign exchange revenue 146 171 62
Securities trading revenue 37 23 16
Financing-related revenue 147 97 150
Equity investment revenue (28) (380) 78
Other 47 42 33
Total fee and other revenue 3,622 2,747 2,902
Gains on sales of securities 59 — —
Total noninterest revenue 3,681 2,747 2,502
Net Interest Revenue Interest revenue 1,056 1,397 1,402
Interest expense 446 823 852
Net interest revenue 610 574 550
Provision for credit losses 172 4) 8
Net interest revenue after provision for
credit losses 438 578 542
Operating Expense Staff expense 1,865 1541 1,347
Professional, legal and other
purchased services 389 347 253
Net occupancy expense 246 219 185
Equipment expense ) 222 157 134
Business development 131 17 129
Communications expense 110 95 64
Amortization of goodwill — 73 67
Amortization of other intangible assets 15 7 7
Other expense 148 94 75
Total operating expense 3,126 2,650 2261
Income Income from continuing operations
before income taxes 993 675 1,183
Provision for income taxes 326 239 427
Income from continuing operations 667 436 756
Discontinued operations:
Income from operations after tax 3 12 251
Net gain on disposals after tax 12 770 —
Income from discontinued operations {net of
applicable tax expense of $9, $502 and $148) 15 882 251
Net income $ 682 $ 1318 $ 1,007
Earnings Per Share Continuing operations:
Basic $ 153 $ 92 $ 154
Diluted $ 1.52 $ 9 $ 152
Discontinued operations:
Basic $ .03 $ 187 $ S
Diluted $ .03 $ 185 $ 5l
Net income:
Basic $ 156 $ 279 $ 205
Diluted $ 155 $ 276 $ 203

(a) In January 2002, the Corporation began to record customer expense reimbursements as revenue in accordance with a Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) staff’

announcement. The Corporation had historically reported expense reimbursements as a reduction of expenses. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.
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Mellon Financial Corporation (and its subsidiaries)

December 31,
(dollar amounts in miliions) 2002 2001 (2)
Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 2,728 $ 3177
Money market investments 4,160 5,191
Trading account securities 792 638
Securities available for sale 11,054 8,795
Investment securities
(approximate fair value of $548 and $786) 527 768
Loans, net of unearned discount of $37 and $42 8,438 8,540
Reserve for loan losses (127) (96)
Net loans 8,311 8,444
Premises and equipment 704 63l
Goodwill 2,065 1,750
Other intangibles 114 97
Assets of discontinued operations — 1,426
Other assets 5,776 4,646
TJotal assets $36,231 $35,563
Liabilities
Noninterest-bearing deposits in domestic offices $11,074 $ 9,537
Interest-bearing deposits in domestic offices 7,709 7,604
Interest-bearing deposits in foreign offices 3,874 3,574
Total deposits 22,657 20,715
Short-term borrowings 1,569 1,546
Reserve for unfunded commitments 52 42
Other liabilities 3,017 3,569
Notes and debentures
(with original maturities over one year) 4,493 4,045
Trust-preferred securities 1,048 991
Liabilities of discontinued operations — 1173
Total liabilities 32,836 32,081
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock — $.50 par value
Authorized — 800,000,000 shares
Issued — 588,661,920 shares 294 294
Additional paid-in capital 1,886 1,870
Retained earnings 5,514 5,087
Accumulated unrealized gain, net of tax 41 30
Treasury stock of
157,880,343 and 142,153,053 shares, at cost (4,340} (3,799)
Total shareholders’ equity 3,395 3,482
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $36,231 $35563

(@) In January 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Corporation began to disclose gross assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations instead of the net amount previously reported. Also, in the second quarter of 2002, the
Corporation began to record the reserve for unfunded commitments as a liability. Previously, any such reserve was
included in the reserve for loan losses. Prior period amounts have been reclassified.
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TO THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND
SHAREHOLDERS OF
MELLON FINANCIAL
CORPORATION:

We have audited, in accordance
with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of
America, the consolidated balance
sheets of Mellon Financial Cor-
poration and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in
shareholders' equity and cash
flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended Decem-
ber 31,2002 (not presented
herein); and in our report dated
February 14, 2003, we expressed
an unqualified opinion on those

consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the information
set forth in the accompanying
condensed consolidated financial
statements is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements
from which it has been derived.

As discussed in Note 3 to the con-
solidated financial statements (not
presented herein), in 2002 the
Corporation changed its method
of accounting for goodwill and
other intangibles resulting from
business combinations in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142.

KPMe LP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 14, 2003




Asset Management

Global investment management and
wealth management services and prod-
ucts to clients including large corpora-
tions, institutions and affluent individuals.

institutional Asset Management
Leading global investment management
provider of products and services through
individual asset management companies and
joint ventures offering a broad range of equity,
fixed income and liquidity management prod-
ucts, as well as international distribution of
those products.

Mellon institutional Asset Management
(MIAM) is the umbrella organization for all of
Mellon’s institutional asset management busi-
nesses. These firms, listed below, are among
the most highly regarded names in institutional
money management.
www.melloninstitutional.com

The Boston Company Asset
Management LLC manages international
and domestic equity and balanced portfo-
lios for institutional clients using our value-
oriented, research-driven, risk-averse
philosophy across all strategies.
www.thebostoncompany.com

(617)722-7029

Franklin Portfoiic Associates LLC
manages domestic equity portfolios for
institutional customers and third-party
mutual funds that seek to add value con-
sistently through risk-controlled,
benchmark-driven strategies.
www.franklinportfolio.com

(617) 790-6400

Mellon Capital Management
Corporation manages global quantita-
tively based investment strategies for
institutional investors.

www.mem.com

(415) 546-6056

Mellon Equity Associates LLP provides
specialized equity and balanced investment
management services to pension plans, not-
for-profit and public fund markets.
www.mellonequity.com

(412) 234-7500

Mellon Giobal Alternative Investments
LTD provides a range of hedge fund of
funds solutions, focusing on conservative
strategies through a disciplined and low-risk
approach.

www.mgai.co.uk

(+44 20) 7745 4300

Mellon Growth Advisors LLC special-
izes in actively managed growth equity
investing in global markets for institutional
customers.

www.mellongrowth.com

(617) 722-7001

Mellon HBYV Alternative Strategies
LLC provides hedge funds with low
volatility and low correlation to the equity
and bond markets.

(212) 808-3971

Newton investment Management
has a distinctive global thematic approach
to its active style of investing across
multiple asset classes. It manages nearly
£20 billion in assets as of December 31,
2002, for customers, including institutions
and high net worth clients.
www.newton.co.uk

(+44 20) 7332 9000

Pareto Partners, in which Mellon holds
a minority interest, is a global, quantitative
asset manager for institutional customers,
specializing in currency overlay and fixed
income products.

(212) 527-1800

Standish Mellon Asset Management
Company LLC, one of the largest man-
agers of fixed income assets in the United
States, provides global investment manage-
ment services through separate accounts,
as well as mutual funds, to institutional
customers and high net worth individuals.
Includes Certus Asset Advisors Corpora-
tion and Mellon Bond Associates LLP.
www.standishmellon.com

(617) 248-6000

Mellon Gicbal Investments Limited
is the international distributor of the
investment products of the asset manage-
ment subsidiaries of Mellon Financial
Corporation. The company, itself a sub-
sidiary of Mellon Financial Corporation,
focuses on global distribution outside of
North America.
www.mellonglobalinvestments.com

(+44 20) 7745 4300
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Alliances with Non-U.S. Financial

institutions:

Brazil: Mellon Brascan DTVM

Chile: BiCE Dreyfus Administradora de
Fondos Mutuos S.A.; Administradora
de Fondos de Inversion Inverfondos S.A.

Hong Kong: Hamon Investment Group

Japan: Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi Ltd.;
Mellon Shinsei Ltd.

NSP Buck is Australia’s second-largest
employee benefits company with approxi-
mately A$14 billion in assets under
administration or management.
www.nspbuck.com.au

(+61 3) 9224 7000

Mutual Funds

Mutual funds in virtually every asset class
and investment style through muitiple dis-
tribution channels, managed by some of

- the world’s leading mutual fund companies,

including The Dreyfus Corporation and
Founders Asset Management LLC. Mellon
Global Investments also distributes mutual
funds in Europe.

The Dreyfus Corporation, one of
the leading mutual fund companies in
the United States, manages $18| billion
in assets as of December 31,2002, in
more than 190 mutual fund portfolios.
www.dreyfus.com

(212) 922-6000

Founders Asset Management LLC
is a manager of growth-oriented equity
mutual funds and other investment
portfolios.

www.founders.com

1 800 525-2440

Private Wealth Management
Mellon’s Private Wealth Management group
offers investment management, wealth
management and banking services for indivi-
duals, families, family offices, charitable gift
programs, endowments and foundations.
www.mellonprivatewealth.com

| 800 342-9546

Meilon United National Bank serves busi-
nesses as well as attorneys, accountants, real
estate developers and other professionals

in the growing south Florida region through
{5 regional banking offices.
www.mellonunited.com

(305) 358-4333




Corporate and

Institutional Services

Asset servicing, such as global custody;
human resources outsourcing and consult-
ing services and equity servicing; and treas-
ury services such as cash management.

Asset Servicing

Trust and custody and related services, such
as securities lending, investment accounting,
pension services, fund administration, trans-
fer agency, trade processing, performance
measurement, transition management, com-
mission recapture, investment-related foreign
exchange, risk management and fiduciary
monitoring provided in subcustodian relation-
ships with banks and joint relationships on
six continents.

Eagle investment Systems Corp. provides
VWeb-based investment management software
solutions to money managers, plan sponsors,
banks, corporate trusts, insurance companies,
hedge funds and mutua! funds.
www.eagleinysys.com

(860) 561-4602

Melion Global Securities Servicesisa
leading provider of custody services for pen-
sion funds, foundations, investment managers
and insurance companies. Innovative solutions
for the defined benefit/defined contribution
markets. Strong complementary services in
foreign exchange, securities lending and perfor-
mance analytics.

www.gss.mellon.com

| 800 597-1459

ABN AMRO Melion Global Securities
Services B.V., a joint venture formed by
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.,, one of the largest
banking groups in Europe, and Mellon
Financial Corporation, provides global
custody and value-added services to insti-
tutional investors in major and emerging
markets outside of North America, Japan
and Australia.

www.abnamromelion.com

(+3176) 579 9550

CiBC Mellon Global Securities
Services Company, an institutional
trust and custody joint venture between
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
and Mellon, one of Canada’s most sophis-
ticated providers of domestic and global
custody, subcustody services for foreign
financial institutions, securities lending,
multi-currency accounting, performance
measurement, investment analytics, Inter-
net reporting and information delivery,
and foreign exchange services.
www.cibcmellon.com

(416) 643-5000

CIBC Mellon Trust Companny is one of
Canada’s largest corporate trust and trans-
fer agents, providing stock transfer, regis-

trar, debt trusteeship, investor services and
related services, including Internet-based
products, such as employee share purchase
and stock option plans, distribution of issuer
documentation and online proxy voting.
www.cibcmellon.com

(416) 643-5000

Mellon European Fund Services
provides fund accounting, administration,
transfer agency and other outsourcing
services to investment fund managers,
financial institutions and defined contri-
bution pension providers operating in
the United Kingdom and in the offshore
marketplace.

(+441277) 691600 (United Kingdom)
(+353 1) 7905000 (Ireland)

Russell/Mellon Analytical Services,

a joint venture with the Frank Russell
Company. Largest global provider of per-
formance measurement, universe compari-
son and investment analysis services to
nearly 3,000 institutional investors respon-
sible for the management of more than
$3.5 trillion in assets worldwide.
www.russellmellon.com

| 800 944-3038

Human Resources Services

Top 5 global provider of human resources con-
sulting and administration services that uses
technology to administer benefit plans and
other human resources services. Most experi-
enced provider of investor services for North
American corporations and shareholders.
Offers innovative products and services to
2,000 companies and administers more than
22 million shareholder accounts.

Buck Consultants Inc., a leading global
human resources consulting firm, provides a
broad array of services, including retirement,
health and welfare, communications, com-
pensation and complete human resources con-
sulting.

www.buckconsultants.com

1 800 470-2766

Mellon MR Solutions provides flexible
strategic human resources outsourcing solu-
tions for the most complex institutional
retirement plan, benefits, compensation and
other human resources-related programs.
Administers defined contribution, defined
benefit, and health and welfare plans.
www.mellonhrsolutions.com

| 86MELLONHRS

Melion Investor Services meets the equity
servicing needs of companies and their
employees and is an industry leader that pro-
vides shareholder and securities transfer
services, including global shares, stock option
and employee stock purchase plan adminis-
tration, financial planning, securities brokerage,
direct purchase and dividend reinvestment
plan administration, merger and acquisition
services, proxy solicitation, stock watch,
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odd-lot programs, unclaimed property com-
pliance, information agent, demutualization
and consulting services.
www.melloninvestor.com

| 800 777-36%4

Treasury Services

Treasury services, cash management services,
broker/dealer underwriting sales and distribu-
tion, foreign exchange and select credit under-
writing for the treasury departments of large
U.S., Canadian and multinational corporations,
financial institutions and midsize business firms.

AFCQO Credit Corporation, AFCO
Acceptance Corporation (in California)
and CAFO Inc. provide premium financing
for business and commercial insurance through
a network of regional offices in the United
States and Canada.

www.afco.com and www.cafo.com

(412) 234-2472

Melion [*" Business Bank provides full
commercial banking services to businesses,
professionals, entrepreneurs and business
owners through its headquarters office
and five regional offices in the Southern
California region.

www.mfbb.com

(213) 489-1000

Mellon Financial Markets LLC (MFM) is
the full-service broker/dealer subsidiary of
Mellon Financial Corporation. MFM structures,
underwrites, distributes and trades the full
range of fixed income securities for customers
throughout the United States.
www.mellon.com/corporatefinancing/
financialmarkets/

(412) 234-8900

Mellon Global Cash Management is an
industry leader in designing integrated solutions
through a comprehensive line of cash manage-
ment services to meet the specialized treasury
needs of corporations, not-for-profit organiza-
tions and financial institutions.
www.mellon.com/gem

| 800 424-3004

Mellon International supports the sale
of all Mellon-affiliated products to financial
institutions in foreign markets.
www.mellon.com/inst/inst!

(412) 234-4371

Mellon Real Estate Finance provides
short- and intermediate-term financing to
U.S. real estate developers and investors.
(412) 234-7560

Other

Mellon Ventures Inc. and its affiliates make
equity investments in U.S.-operating
companies experiencing rapid growth or
change in ownership.
www.mellonventures.com

(412) 236-3594




MARTIN G. MCGUINN
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mellon Financial Corporation

and Mellon Bank, N.A.

Burton C. Borgelt®
Retired Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Dentsply International Inc.
Manufacturer of dental
products

Carol R. Brown ¢

Former President

The Pittsburgh Cultural Trust
Cultural and economic growth
organization

Jared L. Cohon®

President

Carnegie Melion University
Private coeducational research
university

J. W. Connolly (245
Retired Senior Vice President
H. | Heinz Company

Food manufacturer

Steven G. Elliott("
Senior Vice Chairman
Mellon Financial Corporation

Ira ). Gumberg("-23

President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

J.J. Gumberg Co.

Real estate investment and

development

STEVEN G. ELLIOTT

Senior Vice Chairman

Edward J. McAniff &)
Of Counsel

O'Melveny & Myers
Full-service law firm

Martin G. McGuinn("
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Mellon Financial Corporation

Robert Mehrabian("27
Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer
Teledyne Technologies Incorporated
Advanced industrial
technologies

Seward Prosser Mellon
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Richard K Mellon and Sons
Investments
Richard King Mellon Foundation
Philanthropy

Mark A. Nordenberg(-48
Chancellor

University of Pittsburgh
Major public research
university

David S. Shapira(!-2.37

Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

Giant Eagle Inc.

Retail grocery store chain

William E. Strickland jr.G-©
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Manchester Bidwell Corporation
Education of inner-city
youth and economically dis-
advantaged individuals

Joab L. Thomas® 7

President Emeritus

The Pennsylvania State University
Major public research
university

Wesley W. von Schack (457
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Energy East Corporation
Energy services company

Chairmen Emeriti

J. David Barnes
Frank V. Cahouet
William B. Eagleson Jr.

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Risk Committee

(4) Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee

(5) Human Resources Committee

(6) Community Responsibility
Committee

(7) Technology Committee
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Subsidiary and
Regional Boards

Mellon 5" Business Bank

William S. Anderson
WV. Peter Bohn

Robert W. Kummer Jr.
Jeffery L. Leininger
Joseph P. Sanford

W. Scott Sanford
Thomas F Savage
Klaus M. Schilling

R. Daniel Woerner

Mellon United National Bank

Pedro Jose Greer Jr.
Mark Kaplan

Gerald Katcher
David F. Lamere
David Lawrence Jr.

). David Officer
Aaron S. Podhurst
Merrett R. Stierheim
Craig R. Sutherland
Mario Trueba
Sherwood M. Weiser
Teresa A. Zubizarreta

Mellon West

Anthony K. Anderson
John E. Anderson
Frank V. Cahouet
Albert Carnesale
Richard M. Ferry
Robert W. Kummer jr.
Edward |. McAniff
Robert Mehrabian
Charles D. Miller
Peter W. Mullin

Keith P. Russell
Joseph P. Sanford

W. Scott Sanford
Roland Seidler Jr.
Quinn Stills

R. Daniel Woerner

All listings as of January 31, 2003




Vice Chairman

STEPHEN E. CANTER

DAVID F. LAMERE
Vice Chairman

Vice Chairman

Vice Chairman

JEFFERY L. LEININGER

e

RONALD P. O'"HANLEY

Vice Chairman

JAMES P. PALERMO

ALLAN P. WOODS

Vice Chairman and Chief Information Officer
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Directors and Sensor Managemens Committee

Senior Management
Committee

Executive Management Group
Martin G. McGuinn®

Steven G. Elliott®

Stephen E. Canter

David F Lamere*

Jeffery L. Leininger*

Ronald P. O’Hanley*

James P. Palermo*

Allan P Woods*

Senior Managers
James D. Aramanda
Paul S. Beideman
Michael E. Bleier
Bruno A. Bonacchi
Michael A. Bryson*
John T. Chesko*
Rose M. Cotton
James M. Gockley
John L. Klinck Jr.
Joseph A. LoCicero
Jude C. Metcalfe
Michael G. Millard
J. David Officer
Lisa B. Peters
Janey A. Place
Timothy P. Robison*
Richard A. Rua

W. Scott Sanford
Kevin L. Shearan
Robert W. Stasik
Karen S. Stephens
James S. Wolf

Chief Compliance Officer
John T. Chesko*

Chief Financial Officer
Michael A. Bryson*
Chief Risk Officer
Timothy P. Robison®
Corporate Controfier
Michael K. Hughey*
Treasurer

Leo Y. Au*

Corporate Secretary
Carl Krasik

*Designated as executive officer for Securities and

Exchange Commission reporting purposes.




Corporate Information

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on the 10th floor ~ -

of Two MelloniCenter, 50! Grant Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, at
10 a.m. on Tuesday, April 15, 2003.

Annual Report
The 2002 Anntal Report.consists of the 2002 Summary Annual
Report and thé 2002 Financial Annual Report.

Charitable Contributions
A report on Mellon’s comprehensive community involvement, includ:

ing charitable contributions, is available online at www.mellon.com or -
by calling (412) 234-8680.

Corporate Cbmr’nunications/ Media Relations :
Members of the media should direct inquiries to (412) 234-7157 or :
medla@meﬂon icom.

Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan pro-
vides a way to purchase shares of common stock directly from

the Corporation at the market value for such shares. Nonsharehold--
ers may purchase their first shares of the Corporation’s common
stock through the Plan, and shareholders may increase their share-
holding by reinvesting cash dividends and through optional cash
investments. Pl:an details arein a prospectus, which may be obtained !
from Mellon lrivestor Services by calling | 800 205-7699 or by
e-mailing shrreIatlons@meﬂonmvestor com.

Dividend Payments

Subject to approval of the board of directors, dividends are paid on
Mellon’s commion stock on or about the 15th day of February, May,
August and Novermiber.

Electronic De:posit of Dividends

Registered shareholders may have quarterly dividends paid on
Mellon’s commion stock deposited electronically to their check-

ing or savings account, free of charge. To have your dividends
deposited electronically, please send a written request by e-mail to
shrrelations@melloninvester.com or by mail to Mellon Investor
Services, PO: Box 3315, South Hackensack, NJ 07606. For more infor-
mation, pleaseécall | 800 205-7699.

Elimination of Duplicate Mailings

To eliminate duplicate mailings and help your company reduce
expenses, please submit, with your full name and address the way

it appears on your account, a written request by e-mail to
shrrelations@melloninvestor.com or by mail to Mellon Investor
Services, PO. Box 3315, South Hackensack, NJ 07606. For more infor-
mation, pleasecall | 800 205-7699.

Exchange Listing

: Mellon’s common steck is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the trading symbol MEL. Our transfer agent and registrar is
Mellon Investor-Services; P.O. Box:3315; South.Hackensack, IN) 07606.
For more information, please call {_.800 205-7699 or visit
www.melloninvestor.com.

Form 10-K and Shareholder Publications
For a free copy of the Corporation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K or the quarterly earnings news release on

‘Form 8:K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Com-

i mission, please send a written:request:-by e-mail to
mellon_10-K/8-K@mellon.com or by mail to the Secretary ...
of the Corporation, One Mellon Center, Room 4826,
Pittsburgh, PA 15258-0001.

The 2002 Summary and Financial Annual Reports; as
well as Forms 10-K, 8-K and 10-Q, and quarterly earnings
and other news releases can be viewed and printed at

www.mellon.com.

“Internet Access ..
Mellon: www.mellon.com

Mellon Investor Services: www.melloninvestor.com
Seealso Internet access for Business Groups/Principal Entities,

. Pp. 23-24.

InvestorRelations
Visit www.mellon.com/investorrelations/ or call (412) 234-5601.

Publication Requests/Securities Transfer Agent
To request the Annual Report or quarterly information or to

"address issues regarding stock holdings; certificate replacement/

transfer, dividends and address changes, call | 800 205-7699 or
visit www.melloninvestor.com.

Stock Prices
Current prices for Mellon's common stock can be viewed at
www.mellon.com.

Telecommunications Device for the Deaf (TDD) lines
Mellon Investor Services TDD lines are | 800 231-5469 (within the

‘United States) and (201) 329-8354 (outside the United States).

The contents of the listed Internet sites are not incorporated into this
Annual Report.

Mellon entities are Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action employers.
Mellon is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to every
employee and every applicant for employment, regardless of, but not limited to,
such factors as race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, familial or marital
status, ancestry, citizenship, sexual orientation, veteran status or being a qualified
individual with a disability.
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The difference is measurable.™
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